
ESS 
Electronic Services System – Coordinating Committee Meeting 

Agenda 
Hybrid Meeting and Web Conference 

8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2 
Johnston, Iowa 

August 9, 2022 
10:00 A.M. to 2:00 P.M. 

ESS Coordinating Committee Agenda – Updated August 5, 2022 

 Welcome and Introductions

 May 10, 2022 – ESS Coordinating Committee Meeting Summary – Approval

 Financial Reports
o 2nd Quarter 2022 Financial Reports – Approval
o CY 2021 Audit – Approval
o Treasury Management Account and 990 Return Status

 ILR Budget Review and Action
o Revenue/Expense Trends
o BOA CY 2022 Budget Amendment – Approval
o BOA Reserve Fund Expenditure Authorization

 Contracts and Agreements
o Iowa Department of Revenue E-Submission Contract – Approval
o ESS – ICRA Memorandum of Understanding – Approval
o ESS – Multi-function Printer Lease Authorization – Approval
o ESS – Phone Service Authorization – Approval
o ESS – Office 365 Tenant Migration – Approval

 Governance Update
o Annual Report to Supervisors
o Stakeholder Meetings Update

 Policies and Procedures
o ESS Employee Handbook – Approval
o Policies and Procedures Update - Chapter 8 – Approval
o Processes for Documents Filed in Multiple Counties

 Communications Update
o Deputies Conference
o System Operation Notifications
o Recorders Manual Updates

  Software Development Update 
o Groundwater Hazard Update
o Recorder Decline Action Workflow Changes
o Support Backlog
o E-Submission API Development and Assistance/Portal Infrastructure
o Review of Focus Group Discussions and Preliminary Survey Results

 PRIA Policy Discussion Update 

o Policy Request and Operating Rules

 Adjourn

Next Regular Meeting November 10, 2022 
Deputies Conference – September 22 
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ESS Coordinating Committee  

Meeting Summary  

May 10, 2022 

 

Participants  
Julie Haggerty, Polk County Recorder   David Erickson, Dentons Davis Brown Nancy 
Booten, Lee County Recorder    Natalie Steffener, Des Moines County Recorder 
Eric Sloan, ICIT      Denise Baker, Wright County Recorder  
Jolynn Goodchild, Plymouth County Recorder   Melissa Bahnsen, Cedar County Recorder  
Lindsay Laufersweiler, Webster County Recorder Leah Champion, Iowa Land Records 
 

Other Participants 
Jan Gemar, ILTA      Sheri Jones, Jones County Recorder 
Lisa Long, Iowa Land Records    Kati Ross, Iowa Land Records 
Phil Dunshee, Iowa Land Records     

Welcome  
A meeting of the ESS Coordinating Committee was held via web conference. The meeting was called to 
order by Vice Chair Julie Haggerty and introductions were made.  

Meeting Summary 
The February 10, 2022, meeting summary was reviewed. Nancy Booten made a motion to approve the 
meeting summary as presented. Jolyn Goodchild seconded, and the motion was approved.  

Financial Reports  
1st Quarter 2022 Financial Reports  
The Iowa Land Records team provided the Subcommittee with the first quarter financial reports for 
2022. Natalie Steffener made a motion to approve the financial reports. Nancy Booten seconded, and 
the motion was approved.  

CY 2021 Audit, 990 Return 
 A status report regarding the CY 2021 audit process and the preparation of the 990 return for the 
organization was presented. No substantive issues were apparent during the on-site audit, and the 
report should be completed for review at the August ESS Meeting.  

ILR Budget Review and Action  
Revenue/Expenses Trends  
The Project Manager reviewed the e-submission trends chart, which is consistent with previous 
patterns, but it was mentioned that changes in the marketplace have led to changes in overall recording 
and electronic recording. It is predicted that we will continue to see a decline given current economic 
conditions.  
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BOA CY 2022 Budget Amendment  
The Project Manager presented the Committee with a proposed amendment to the calendar 
year 2022 budget. It was determined that income projections would remain the same through 
the rest of the calendar year. Some projected additional costs associated with cyber insurance, 
additional licensing for VMWare and the PRIZM image viewer, and the potential replacement of 
the office server were included in the budget amendment. These additional costs would be 
partially offset by staff vacancies. Melissa Bahnsen made a motion to approve the 
recommended budget amendment for CY 2022. Denise Baker seconded the motion, and it was 
approved. 
 
BOA Reserve Fund Allocations 
The Committee reviewed a recommendation to allocate $115,546.76 from the operating account to the 
software development and equipment maintenance reserve account. It is expected that these resources 
will continue to be used for a series of one-time software development projects. The allocation of funds 
to this reserve will not hinder operating cashflow, nor will it cause any shortfall in the ordinary course of 
operations. Nancy Booten made a motion to approve the expenditure of reserve funds as presented, 
and Natalie Steffener seconded the motion. The motion was approved. 

BOA Reserve Fund Expenditure Authorization 
The Committee reviewed a recommendation to authorize the expenditure of up to $350,000.00 from 
the Software Development and Equipment Maintenance Reserve during the period of July 1, 2022, 
through November 10, 2022. Uses of the funds include but are not limited to the following. 

• Develop External Submitter REST API 
• Transition Search Functions to New Platform 
• Develop New LRMS Portal REST API 
• Redesign and Develop Search Functions 
• Modify Portal User Registration and Management Processes 
• Modifications to Data Structure and Presentation 
• External Data Integration 

 
Natalie Steffener made a motion to approve the expenditure of reserve funds as presented, and Nancy 
Booten seconded the motion. The motion was approved. 

Work Authorizations 
The Project Manager presented the Subcommittee with the final work authorization with Lean 
Techniques for Phase 1 of the ILR modernization project. The work authorizations were presented to 
ensure that the Committee was fully informed of all development activities performed by the private 
firms. Denise Banker made a motion to accept and approve the work authorizations as presented. 
Lindsay Laufersweiler seconded, and the motion was approved. 
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Contracts & Agreements 

Local Service Provider Maintenance Amendment 2022 
The Project Manager presented a proposed update to the master agreement between the Electronic 
Services System and local service providers. The update would add a reference to the discontinuance 
and deprecation of support for the LCM client for e-submission effective December 31, 2022. Nancy 
Booten approved the local service provider maintenance agreement amendment as presented, and 
Lindsay Laufersweiler seconded. The motion was approved. 

Treasury Management Account Authorization 
The Project Manager provided an update regarding treasury management services. It was reported that 
Bank of America was not able to set up a new account in the name of ESS following the 28E transition. 
In February the ESS Finance Subcommittee discussed options for seeking a treasury management service 
provider, and it was determined that a Request for Information would be an appropriate route to follow. 
At least two qualified institutions in central Iowa were directly invited to respond. The Community 
Bankers’ association was also asked to circulate the RFI, and the RFI was published on the Iowa Land 
Records website.  
 
The Project Manger reported that In February ESS received a notice from one financial institution 
indicating that they would not be able to respond to the RFI. In addition, a response to the RFI was 
received from Bankers Trust. This information was presented to the Finance Subcommittee at their 
regular meeting in March 2022. At that time, it was determined that ESS should continue to use the 
services of Bank of America while other options were researched. The Finance Subcommittee reviewed 
the issue again at their regular meeting in April. The Project Manager reported that no other options 
had been identified. The Finance Subcommittee was asked for authorization to take steps to set up an 
account with Bankers Trust, subject to final approval by the ESS Coordinating Committee in May. The 
Committee was notified that these steps have been taken, and having no other feasible near-term 
options, the Project Manager requested authority to proceed with the final steps to set up the Treasury 
Management account with Bankers Trust and to begin the process of transferring assets and financial 
operations to the new account as soon as practicable. Jolynn Goodchild made a motion to authorize the 
Iowa Land Records team to continue to set up the treasury management account with Bankers Trust in 
the name of ESS and to begin transferring assets. Nancy Booten seconded, and the motion was 
approved. 
 
Governance Update  
Hamilton County Membership 
The Project Manager reported that the Hamilton County Board of Supervisors had signed off on the 28E 
agreement with the Electronic Services System. All 99 counties in Iowa now have signed 28E agreements 
with the Electronic Services System. The Iowa Land Records team will be working to submit the 
document for recording in Hamilton County and will work to file the document with the Iowa Secretary 
of State. The Iowa Land Records team continues to work with two additional counties to record their 
28E agreements with better image quality. Lindsay Laufersweiler made a motion to approve the 28E 
agreement with Hamilton County. Denise Baker seconded, and the motion was approved.  
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Legislative Update  
Ground Water Hazard - The Project Manager provided the Subcommittee with a legislative update. It 
was reported that the Groundwater Hazard Bill had passed both the House and Senate unanimously. 
Governor Reynolds recently signed the bill. A training webinar on the new Groundwater Hazard Process 
is planned prior to July 1, 2022. 

Smart Contracts - The report continued with an update regarding the Smart Contracts legislation. The 
Iowa State Bar Association brought a bill forward to request that the statute adopted in 2021 be moved 
to a new section of the Iowa Code. ESS had suggested that the legislation be adopted to ensure that real 
estate transactions using distributed ledger technology should not bypass the official recording process. 
The bill has passed both the House and Senate. The Governor’s action is pending.  

Communications Update  
Marketing & Communications Director Kati Ross provided an update to the Committee regarding recent 
topics covered with the Communications Subcommittee including rescheduled e-submission seminars 
for the spring and proposed promotional items to be ordered. The Committee was also provided with a 
preview of a draft update to the Recorders Brochure and Directory. In addition, a new version of the 
state map was presented. A new ESS Meeting notice email process was shared with the Committee and 
plans for growing the meeting notice distribution list were discussed. Lastly the Committee reviewed the 
new transfer tax calculator implemented on the ILR landing pages.  

Software Development Update  
E-Submission Image Management  
The Project Manager provided an update on enhancements related to E-Submission Image 
Management. The E-Submission software was being updated to convert stamped documents (images) 
more effectively to black and white in a form suitable for archiving by county systems. Incoming images 
are now programmatically analyzed to check for color or for pages that may be too dark or too light for 
processing. Documents that deviate substantially from the formatting guidelines are not presented to 
recorders. Instead, the documents are returned to a status of "In Progress" with a notice to the 
submitter that a different image should be uploaded. Incoming images will be programmatically 
analyzed to classify images into three categories; those that contain significant color, which will be 
returned to web submitters for re-scanning in black/white; those that contain a minor amount of color 
or shades of gray, which will be converted via a new process; and those that are monochrome images, 
which utilizes the same method as is used by the legacy system. 
 
The Iowa Land Records team tested hundreds of sample documents provided by members of the 
Standards Subcommittee and other county recorders. ILR testing suggests that about 95% of all 
electronically submitted documents are of good quality and produce good, stamped images for 
archiving. About 5% of the time the submitted images have characteristics which produce legible, but 
lower quality images. In these cases, the text and signature can be "pixelated" or distorted. The new 
imaging service should resolve most of these issues. 
 
Pending Payment API Developments  
The Project Manager reported that now that the imaging process is in production the focus has shifted 
to moving the new payment API to staging for testing. Transactions will be tested from start to finish, 
and math will be checked on the back end for admin and reporting functions. It was explained that this 
enhancement to the Payment API is necessary for PCI compliance. Committee members were also 
informed that local service providers would be required to begin using the new E-Submission API by 
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December 2022. Service providers were made aware of this requirement in a recent web conference, 
and the requirement is addressed in the fiscal year 2023 contract renewals. 
 
Pending Payment E-Submission Admin Developments 
The Project Manager explained that another focus of application development is the creation of a new 
administrative interface for Payment and E-Submission functions. It is necessary for these applications 
to be created before the legacy payment and E-Submission applications can be fully retired. 

Other Pending Application Developments  
The Project Manager summarized other pending changes and improvements which are planned 
including further enhancements to the E-Submission recorder and submitter interfaces, and the creation 
of a new API for external submitter organizations. 

Search Engine Development Planning 
The Committee discussed the future design of the Iowa Land Records Portal website. The planning 
discussion covered data structure and transfer, the search engine, data display, redaction, security, user 
management and external integrations. It was noted that the current application is built on technology 
that is no longer supported. Security reviews have focused on the use of the unsupported platform, and 
it must be replaced. User management was also discussed as a security issue. The Subcommittee also 
discussed a possible future data structure and methods for transferring data from the counties to ILR. A 
series of focus groups and surveys will be conducted in the coming months to gather ideas and 
suggestions. 

PRIA Policy Discussion Update  
The Project Manager provided the Committee with a memo from ESS to the PRIA Board of Directors 
regarding PRIA operating rules and the public land registry. The Project Manager provided a high-level 
overview of each of these items and suggested that members of the Subcommittee take a closer look at 
these documents when they have time. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:20 PM. The next regular meeting will be August 9, 2022. 
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Apr - Jun 22

Income
BudgetedIncome

41000 · Event Income
41100 · ILR Conference Registration 400.00

Total 41000 · Event Income 400.00

42000 · POSSERVICEFEE 50,830.78

43000 · SERVICEFEE
43100 · ACH 266,769.00

43200 · CC 25,545.30

43300 · DRAWDOWN 17,418.00

Total 43000 · SERVICEFEE 309,732.30

47000 · Fund 255 Reimbursement 245,323.84

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct.
48100 · Cost Sharing Credit -160,453.01

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. - Other 293,283.64

Total 48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. 132,830.63

Total BudgetedIncome 739,117.55

49000 · RevolvingIncome
49300 · ERECORDING

49100 · AUDITORFEE 120,625.00

49200 · TRANSFERTAX 6,967,101.60

49300 · ERECORDING - Other 2,598,875.00

Total 49300 · ERECORDING 9,686,601.60

49600 · POSPAYMENT 1,693,885.04

Total 49000 · RevolvingIncome 11,380,486.64

Total Income 12,119,604.19

Gross Profit 12,119,604.19

Expense
Budgeted Expenses

60000 · Administration
60100 · Annual Audit 4,000.00

60200 · Accounting Software-Services 443.64

60300 · Bookkeeping-CPA-990 14,700.00

60400 · Project Manager 35,700.00

60500 · Professional Fees
60510 · Legal 6,000.00

60520 · Government Relations 6,000.00

60530 · Human Resources-Oasis 2,274.00

Total 60500 · Professional Fees 14,274.00

60600 · Insurance Expense 3,269.00

60700 · Ess Meetings 1,303.52

60800 · Office Operations
60810 · Office Space Lease 8,850.00

60830 · Offical Publication Expense 26.80

60850 · Teleconference 67.39

60860 · Telephone/Internet 2,100.00

60870 · Office Tech Support 3,360.00

60880 · Printing and Copying (Color-BW) 1,050.00

Total 60800 · Office Operations 15,454.19

Total 60000 · Administration 89,144.35

61000 · Marketing-Communications
61100 · Marketing Director 20,506.62

61200 · Administrative/Marketing Coord 15,359.58

1:53 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Profit & Loss
Accrual Basis April through June 2022
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Apr - Jun 22

61300 · Education and Outreach
61320 · Tradeshows/Exhibits/Sponsorship 215.00

61330 · Seminars & Workshops -56.25

61350 · Conferences & Meetings 1,585.52

61370 · Software & Hosted Services 1,681.10

61390 · Promotional Expenses 2,184.92

Total 61300 · Education and Outreach 5,610.29

Total 61000 · Marketing-Communications 41,476.49

62000 · Customer Support
62100 · Account Manager 22,770.49

Total 62000 · Customer Support 22,770.49

64000 · ILR System Operations
64100 · Development Team

64110 · Technical Lead 34,765.20

64120 · Senior Developer 32,235.54

64130 · Technical Support & Development 25,945.52

Total 64100 · Development Team 92,946.26

64200 · External Development & Services
64210 · FF Redaction Services 19,667.81

64211 · BF Redaction Services 3,708.48

64240 · Data Center & Hosting Services 9,158.70

Total 64200 · External Development & Services 32,534.99

64300 · Software License-Maintenance
64307 · DB2 8,622.24

64308 · VMWare 16,033.98

64310 · Certificates- Digicert -2,848.20

64313 · GEO-IP 305.28

64319 · AWS 1,791.66

64325 · Maytech 293.91

64326 · Atlassian 120.39

64300 · Software License-Maintenance - Other 298.53

Total 64300 · Software License-Maintenance 24,617.79

64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP)
64520 · System Equipment 1,504.15

Total 64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP) 1,504.15

Total 64000 · ILR System Operations 151,603.19

66000 · Payment Expenses
66100 · Bank Account Analysis Fee 2,917.40

66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees
66315 - ProfSolOnlineTransFees 15,794.74

66310 · Vericheck OnlineTransactionFees 8,536.84

66320 · POSTransactionsFees 35,147.63

Total 66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees 59,479.21

Total 66000 · Payment Expenses 62,396.61

Total Budgeted Expenses 367,391.13

Planned Reserve Expenses
Software Development-Consulting 24,300.00

Total Planned Reserve Expenses 24,300.00

61500 · Depreciation Expense 46,202.82

1:53 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Profit & Loss
Accrual Basis April through June 2022
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Apr - Jun 22

70000 · RevolvingExpenses
ESSPayments

70100 · COUNTYDISTRIBUTION 9,686,499.60

70200 · POSDISTRIBUTION 1,646,628.92

Total ESSPayments 11,333,128.52

Total 70000 · RevolvingExpenses 11,333,128.52

Total Expense 11,771,022.47

Net Income 348,581.72

1:53 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Profit & Loss
Accrual Basis April through June 2022
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Apr - Jun 22

Income
BudgetedIncome

41000 · Event Income
41100 · ILR Conference Registration 400.00

Total 41000 · Event Income 400.00

42000 · POSSERVICEFEE 50,830.78

43000 · SERVICEFEE
43100 · ACH 266,769.00

43200 · CC 25,545.30

43300 · DRAWDOWN 17,418.00

Total 43000 · SERVICEFEE 309,732.30

47000 · Fund 255 Reimbursement 245,323.84

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct.
48100 · Cost Sharing Credit -160,453.01

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. - Other 293,283.64

Total 48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. 132,830.63

Total BudgetedIncome 739,117.55

Total Income 739,117.55

Gross Profit 739,117.55

Expense
Budgeted Expenses

60000 · Administration
60100 · Annual Audit 4,000.00

60200 · Accounting Software-Services 443.64

60300 · Bookkeeping-CPA-990 14,700.00

60400 · Project Manager 35,700.00

60500 · Professional Fees
60510 · Legal 6,000.00

60520 · Government Relations 6,000.00

60530 · Human Resources-Oasis 2,274.00

Total 60500 · Professional Fees 14,274.00

60600 · Insurance Expense 3,269.00

60700 · Ess Meetings 1,303.52

60800 · Office Operations
60810 · Office Space Lease 8,850.00

60830 · Offical Publication Expense 26.80

60850 · Teleconference 67.39

60860 · Telephone/Internet 2,100.00

60870 · Office Tech Support 3,360.00

60880 · Printing and Copying (Color-BW) 1,050.00

Total 60800 · Office Operations 15,454.19

Total 60000 · Administration 89,144.35

61000 · Marketing-Communications
61100 · Marketing Director 20,506.62

61200 · Administrative/Marketing Coord 15,359.58

61300 · Education and Outreach
61320 · Tradeshows/Exhibits/Sponsorship 215.00

61330 · Seminars & Workshops -56.25

61350 · Conferences & Meetings 1,585.52

61370 · Software & Hosted Services 1,681.10

61390 · Promotional Expenses 2,184.92

Total 61300 · Education and Outreach 5,610.29

Total 61000 · Marketing-Communications 41,476.49

1:54 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Profit & Loss- Budgeted Only
Accrual Basis April through June 2022
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Apr - Jun 22

62000 · Customer Support
62100 · Account Manager 22,770.49

Total 62000 · Customer Support 22,770.49

64000 · ILR System Operations
64100 · Development Team

64110 · Technical Lead 34,765.20

64120 · Senior Developer 32,235.54

64130 · Technical Support & Development 25,945.52

Total 64100 · Development Team 92,946.26

64200 · External Development & Services
64210 · FF Redaction Services 19,667.81

64211 · BF Redaction Services 3,708.48

64240 · Data Center & Hosting Services 9,158.70

Total 64200 · External Development & Services 32,534.99

64300 · Software License-Maintenance 298.53

64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP)
64520 · System Equipment 1,504.15

Total 64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP) 1,504.15

Total 64000 · ILR System Operations 127,283.93

66000 · Payment Expenses
66100 · Bank Account Analysis Fee 2,917.40

66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees
66310 · Vericheck OnlineTransactionFees 8,536.84

66320 · POSTransactionsFees 35,147.63

Total 66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees 43,684.47

Total 66000 · Payment Expenses 46,601.87

Total Budgeted Expenses 327,277.13

Total Expense 327,277.13

Net Income 411,840.42

1:54 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Profit & Loss- Budgeted Only
Accrual Basis April through June 2022
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Jan - Jun 22

Income
BudgetedIncome

41000 · Event Income
41100 · ILR Conference Registration 400.00

Total 41000 · Event Income 400.00

42000 · POSSERVICEFEE 81,759.71

43000 · SERVICEFEE
43100 · ACH 502,932.00

43200 · CC 49,436.09

43300 · DRAWDOWN 32,565.00

43000 · SERVICEFEE - Other -3.00

Total 43000 · SERVICEFEE 584,930.09

47000 · Fund 255 Reimbursement 520,666.81

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct.
48100 · Cost Sharing Credit -160,453.01

48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. - Other 293,283.64

Total 48200 · Local Serv. Prov. Maint. Acct. 132,830.63

Total BudgetedIncome 1,320,587.24

Total Income 1,320,587.24

Gross Profit 1,320,587.24

Expense
Budgeted Expenses

60000 · Administration
60100 · Annual Audit 4,000.00

60200 · Accounting Software-Services 4,922.25

60300 · Bookkeeping-CPA-990 29,150.00

60400 · Project Manager 71,400.00

60500 · Professional Fees
60510 · Legal 12,000.00

60520 · Government Relations 9,000.00

60530 · Human Resources-Oasis 5,191.80

Total 60500 · Professional Fees 26,191.80

60600 · Insurance Expense 3,269.00

60700 · Ess Meetings 1,966.98

60800 · Office Operations
60810 · Office Space Lease 17,500.00

60830 · Offical Publication Expense 101.80

60850 · Teleconference 364.29

60860 · Telephone/Internet 4,050.00

60870 · Office Tech Support 6,720.00

60880 · Printing and Copying (Color-BW) 2,000.00

60890 · Miscellaneous 64.20

Total 60800 · Office Operations 30,800.29

Total 60000 · Administration 171,700.32

61000 · Marketing-Communications
61100 · Marketing Director 46,769.85

61200 · Administrative/Marketing Coord 37,996.71

12:03 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

08/05/22 Profit & Loss- Budgeted Only
Accrual Basis January through June 2022
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Jan - Jun 22

61300 · Education and Outreach
61310 · ILR Annual Conference 230.00

61320 · Tradeshows/Exhibits/Sponsorship 1,215.00

61330 · Seminars & Workshops 19.41

61340 · Memberships 1,000.00

61350 · Conferences & Meetings 3,300.74

61360 · Campaigns 27.25

61370 · Software & Hosted Services 4,030.98

61390 · Promotional Expenses 2,184.92

Total 61300 · Education and Outreach 12,008.30

Total 61000 · Marketing-Communications 96,774.86

62000 · Customer Support
62100 · Account Manager 45,980.13

Total 62000 · Customer Support 45,980.13

64000 · ILR System Operations
64100 · Development Team

64110 · Technical Lead 70,750.55

64120 · Senior Developer 65,048.69

64130 · Technical Support & Development 52,367.71

Total 64100 · Development Team 188,166.95

64200 · External Development & Services
64210 · FF Redaction Services 38,680.74

64211 · BF Redaction Services 5,201.46

64240 · Data Center & Hosting Services 18,317.40

Total 64200 · External Development & Services 62,199.60

64300 · Software License-Maintenance
64305 · Jetbrains 1,556.00

Total 64300 · Software License-Maintenance 1,556.00

64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP)
64520 · System Equipment 1,504.15

Total 64500 · Computing & Equip (CAP) 1,504.15

Total 64000 · ILR System Operations 253,426.70

65000 · Local Maint. Expense 24.99

66000 · Payment Expenses
66100 · Bank Account Analysis Fee 5,663.43

66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees
66310 · Vericheck OnlineTransactionFees 16,468.33

66320 · POSTransactionsFees 56,069.80

Total 66300 · Gateway Transaction Fees 72,538.13

Total 66000 · Payment Expenses 78,201.56

Total Budgeted Expenses 646,108.56

Total Expense 646,108.56

Net Income 674,478.68

12:03 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

08/05/22 Profit & Loss- Budgeted Only
Accrual Basis January through June 2022
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Jun 30, 22

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
10800 · BOA-Settlement

108100 · Unrestricted Reserve Account 38,399.40

108200 · Software Dev & Equip Maint Rsrv 807,941.48

108300 · Redaction Reserve 38,915.57

108400 · Restricted Operating Reserve 100,000.00

10800 · BOA-Settlement - Other 1,383,917.29

Total 10800 · BOA-Settlement 2,369,173.74

Total Checking/Savings 2,369,173.74

Accounts Receivable
12000 · Accounts Receivable 21,840.26

Total Accounts Receivable 21,840.26

Other Current Assets
13000 · Due from State 103,446.16

14000 · Prepaid Expenses 155,817.97

Total Other Current Assets 259,264.13

Total Current Assets 2,650,278.13

Fixed Assets
17000 · Computer Equipment 718,246.95

17001 · Developed Software 633,302.00

17900 · Asset in Process 200,910.01

18000 · Accumulated Depreciation -979,673.38

Total Fixed Assets 572,785.58

TOTAL ASSETS 3,223,063.71

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

20000 · Accounts Payable -31,195.71

Total Accounts Payable -31,195.71

Credit Cards
21000 · Corp-BOA Visa 2026 16,584.60

Total Credit Cards 16,584.60

Other Current Liabilities
22000 · Accrued Compensation 35,257.21

22500 · Deferred Revenues 138,702.28

24000 · DRAWDOWN 77,376.60

Total Other Current Liabilities 251,336.09

Total Current Liabilities 236,724.98

Total Liabilities 236,724.98

Equity
30000 · Retained Earnings 2,537,231.36

Net Income 449,107.37

Total Equity 2,986,338.73

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 3,223,063.71

1:54 PM Iowa County Recorders Association

07/25/22 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of June 30, 2022
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Jun 30, 22

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
State Treasurer 230,255.81

Total Checking/Savings 230,255.81

Total Current Assets 230,255.81

TOTAL ASSETS 230,255.81

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Equity

Retained Earnings 527,717.15

Net Income -297,461.34

Total Equity 230,255.81

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 230,255.81

12:03 PM Iowa Land Records - Fund 255
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
Electronic Services System Coordinating Committee 
Electronic Services System 
Johnston, Iowa 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Electronic Services System, as of and for the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise Electronic Services System’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Electronic Services System as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and changes in its financial 
position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements 
of the County Electronic Services System 28E Agreement. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report.  We are required to be independent of Electronic Services System and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits.  We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw your attention to Note 1 of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting.  The 
financial statements are prepared to present the operations of the Electronic Services System pursuant to 
the 28E agreement described in Note 1, which is not intended to be a complete presentation of the financial 
statements of Electronic Services System.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the County Electronic Services System 28E 
Agreement, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Electronic Services System’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
  
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Electronic Services System’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about Electronic Services System’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 6 through 8 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during the audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Restriction on Use 
 
This report, a public record by law, is intended solely for the information and use of the Electronic Services 
System Coordinating Committee and management of Electronic Services System.  The report is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 10, 2022 on 
our consideration of Electronic Services System’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Electronic Services System’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Electronic Services System’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                             DENMAN & COMPANY, LLP 
 
West Des Moines, Iowa 
July 10, 2022 
 
 

ESS Committee - Page 20



 
Electronic Services System 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
December 31, 2021 

 
 
Management of Electronic Services System (ESS) provides this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the ESS’s 
annual financial statements.  This narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities is for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.  We encourage readers to consider this information in conjunction with the ESS’s 
financial statements, which follow.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Electronic Services System’s cash balance at December 31, 2021 was $1,563,401, representing an increase of $60,254 
from December 31, 2020.  The cash balance at December 31, 2020 was $1,503,147, representing an increase of 
$608,594 from December 31, 2019.  The increases in cash balance are due primarily to continued growth in income 
from submittal fees.  
 
Recording fee income increased 29.0% or approximately $7,700,000 to $34,249,445 for the year ended December 31, 
2021.  Recording fee income increased 50.6% or approximately $8,900,000 to $26,560,533 for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 
 
Recording distributions increased 29.0% or approximately $7,700,000 to $34,248,021 for the year ended December 31, 
2021.  Recording distributions increased 50.6% or approximately $8,900,000 to $26,560,578 for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. 
 
Variance in the amounts for recording fees and distributions are related to timing of cash flow. 
 
USING THIS REPORT 
 
The report consists of a series of financial statements and other information, as follows: 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis introduces the basic financial statements and provides an analytical overview of 
ESS’s financial activities. 
 
The Special-Purpose Statements of Net Position present information on the ESS’s assets and liabilities, along with the 
composition of its net position. 
 
The Special-Purpose Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position present information on ESS’s 
operating revenues and expenses. 
 
The Special-Purpose Statements of Cash Flows present the change in ESS’s cash during the years.  This information 
can help describe how ESS generated and used cash through its operating and capital and related financing activities. 
 
The Notes to Financial Statements provide additional information essential to a full understanding of the data provided 
in the basic financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Special-Purpose Statements of Net Position 
 
Net position serves as an indicator of ESS’s overall financial position.  ESS’s net position increased $602,700 or 31.1% 
during the year ended December 31, 2021.  The increase is due predominately to continued growth in income from 
submittal fees.  A management objective in calendar year 2020 was to begin a transition to a consolidated budget 
through the treasury management account.  In prior years a separate budget was prepared for the Electronic 
Transaction Fund.  Management believes this new accounting policy will provide improved financial oversight of the 
entire Electronic Services System.  This transition continued in 2021 as funds were consolidated in treasury 
management reserve accounts.  Resources allocated to reserve accounts were used for the purposes of implementing 
one-time projects to improve the system rather than committing increased revenues to higher ongoing expenses.  The 
transition is expected to be completed in calendar year 2022.  A summary of the statements of net position is presented 
below. 
 
                       December 31                        
       2021                2020                2019       
ASSETS 
  Cash $1,563,401 $1,503,147 $   894,553 
  Other current assets 600,517 224,006 194,365 
  Capital assets, less accumulated depreciation    665,191    522,684    458,205 
    Total assets 2,829,109 2,249,837 1,547,123 
 
LIABILITIES 
  Current liabilities    291,877    315,305    369,111 
 
NET POSITION 
  Net investment in capital assets 665,191 522,684 458,205 
  Unrestricted 1,872,041 1,411,848    719,807 
 
    Total net position $2,537,232 $1,934,532 $1,178,012 
 
 
Special-Purpose Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
 
Operating revenues are received from the electronic submission of real estate documents for official recording and 
processing fees from credit card transactions performed at local county recorders’ offices.  
 
Electronic Services System is reimbursed by the local counties for service maintenance associated with the integration 
of county land records management system with the Electronic Services System.  ESS’s operational costs are in part 
reimbursed by the State of Iowa through the Electronic Transaction Fund administered by the Office of the Treasurer of 
State in addition to the operating revenues received through the treasury management account. 
 
Electronic Services System distributes electronic recording fees and taxes to the local counties on a daily basis. 
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A summary of the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position is presented below:  
 
              Year ended December 31               
       2021                2020                 2019        
REVENUES 
  Recording fees $34,249,445 $26,560,333 $17,631,664 
  Point of Sale (POS) payment system 3,276,022 2,390,006 3,048,642 
  Other fees and income 1,424,611 1,302,370 969,213 
  Draws from Electronic Transaction Fund      810,666      985,420      316,944 
    Total revenues 39,760,744 31,238,129 21,966,463 
 
EXPENSES 
  Recording distributions 34,248,021 26,560,578 17,638,213 
  POS payment system distributions 3,195,308 2,316,704 2,969,942 
  Depreciation 214,834 174,057 53,227 
  Salaries and payroll 314,637 384,729 293,140 
  Transaction fees and bank charges 173,529 132,113 139,000 
  Other operating expenses 1,011,715 913,428 658,482 
  Planned reserve expenses               –                –          39,575 
    Total expenses 39,158,044 30,481,609 21,791,579 
 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 602,700 756,520 174,884 
 
NET POSITION, beginning   1,934,532   1,178,012   1,003,128 
 
NET POSITION, ending $  2,537,232 $  1,934,532 $  1,178,012 
 
Total revenues increased by 27.3% or $8,522,615 in 2021, primarily due to increases in recording fee income.  
Expenses increased by 28.5% or $8,676,435 in 2021, primarily due to increases in recording distributions.  Total 
documents processed increased by 13% or 48,359 documents to 416,177 in 2021.  The percent of documents filed 
electronically statewide increased from approximately 52% in 2020 to 56% in 2021.  This increase in electronic filing is 
attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic requiring county recorders to minimize in-person services and to a strong state-
wide real estate market. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS 
 
Changes in the real estate market and the State economy as a whole may result in changes in recording activity and 
revenue.  The COVID-19 pandemic clearly influenced business practices.  The adoption of remote work and “contact-
free” transactions, coupled with ESS efforts to promote electronic submissions resulted in revenue growth.  During the 
second half of calendar year 2021, ESS provided substantial education and outreach efforts for a new streamlined 
interface for electronic submissions which was moved into production in December 2021.  Legislation adopted in 2021 
(House File 837) requires that any fee increase will require legislative approval.  For the immediate future, income will 
be primarily affected by changes in market conditions which may both positively and negatively affect future revenue.  
ESS continually monitors economic and other factors to protect the financial condition of Electronic Services System.   
 
CONTACTING ELECTRONIC SERVICES SYSTEM FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the ESS’s financial and operating activities to all those 
with an interest in its finances.  If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact the Project 
Manager at Electronic Services System, 8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2, Johnston, IA 50131. 
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Electronic Services System 
SPECIAL-PURPOSE STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

 
 
 
 
             December 31          
 ASSETS      2021                  2020     
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
  Cash $1,563,401 $1,503,147 
  Accounts receivable 4,160 78 
  Due from Electronic Transaction Fund 440,539 73,274 
  Prepaid expenses    155,818    150,654 
    Total current assets 2,163,918 1,727,153 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
  Computer equipment 718,247 718,247 
  Developed software 633,302 380,779 
  Software development in progress    200,910      96,092 
 1,552,459 1,195,118 
  Accumulated depreciation   (887,268)   (672,434) 
    Total capital assets    665,191    522,684 
 
      Total assets 2,829,109 2,249,837 
 

LIABILITIES 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
  Accounts payable      41,174      54,594 
  Accrued compensation 35,257 41,015 
  Customer deposits 76,744 81,196 
  Unearned revenues    138,702    138,500 
    Total current liabilities    291,877    315,305 
 

NET POSITION 
 
Net investment in capital assets    665,191    522,684 
Unrestricted 1,872,041 1,411,848 
 
    Net position $2,537,232 $1,934,532 
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Electronic Services System 
SPECIAL-PURPOSE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND 

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
 

 
 
 
  Year ended December 31  
       2021                  2020      
REVENUES 
  Recording fees $34,249,445 $26,560,333 
  Point-of-Sale (POS) payment system 3,276,022 2,390,006 
  Submitting fees 1,283,615 1,139,949 
  Draws from Electronic Transaction Fund 810,666 985,420 
  Local service maintenance fees, (net of discounts $145,248, 2021; $117,558, 2020) 138,376 161,891 
  Miscellaneous income          2,620             530 
    Total revenues 39,760,744 31,238,129 
 
EXPENSES 
  Recording distributions 34,248,021 26,560,578 
  POS payment system distributions 3,195,308 2,316,704 
  Local service maintenance 287,953 278,377 
  Transaction fees and bank charges 173,529 132,113 
  Project management 137,925 135,900 
  Salaries and payroll 314,637 384,729 
  Marketing 177,030 150,071 
  Depreciation 214,834 174,057 
  Office 86,455 77,983 
  Technology 213,926 180,269 
  Professional fees      108,426        90,828 
    Total expenses 39,158,044 30,481,609 
 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 602,700 756,520 
 
NET POSITION, beginning   1,934,532   1,178,012 
 
NET POSITION, ending $  2,537,232 $  1,934,532 
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Electronic Services System 
SPECIAL-PURPOSE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 
 
 
 
  Year ended December 31  
       2021                  2020      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  Cash received from recording fees, submitting fees and POS payment services $38,804,630 $30,139,360 
  Cash received from counties for maintenance fees 134,496 180,694 
  Reimbursements received from Electronic Transaction Fund 443,401 947,248 
  Cash received from other revenue 2,620 530 
  Cash paid to employees for services (320,395) (378,816) 
  Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (1,205,921) (1,164,803) 
  Recording and POS distributions to counties (37,441,236) (28,877,083) 
    Net cash provided by operating activities      417,595      847,130 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITES 
  Purchase of capital assets     (357,341)     (238,536) 
 
NET INCREASE IN CASH 60,254 608,594 
 
CASH 
  Beginning   1,503,147      894,553 
 
  Ending $  1,563,401 $  1,503,147 
 
RECONCILIATION OF CHANGE IN NET POSITION TO 
 NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  Change in net position $     602,700 $     756,520 
  Adjustments to reconcile change in net position to 
   net cash provided by operating activities 
    Depreciation 214,834 174,057 
    Change in assets and liabilities 
      Accounts receivable (4,082) 14,815 
      Due from Electronic Transaction Fund (367,265) (38,172) 
      Prepaid expenses (5,164) (6,284) 
      Accounts payable (13,420) (50,279) 
      Accrued compensation (5,758) 5,913 
      Customer deposits (4,452) 49,072 
      Unearned revenues 202 3,988 
      Other current liabilities                –         (62,500) 
 
        Net cash provided by operating activities $     417,595 $     847,130 
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NOTE 1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Electronic Services System (ESS) was formed as a result of legislation adopted by the Iowa General Assembly.  ESS is 
managed under an agreement (County Electronic Services System 28E Agreement), as executed within the meaning of 
Iowa Code Chapter 28E, between Iowa's ninety-nine counties and Iowa County Recorders Association (ICRA).  ESS 
was formed to facilitate the submitting of real estate and other legal documents electronically to Iowa County Recorders 
for official recording, to provide public access to records through the Internet, and to provide other electronic services.  
In 2021, the Iowa legislature authorized the Electronic Services System to simplify its governance structure and 
contracting authority (House File 527).  Iowa counties unanimously approved an amendment to the 28E agreement in 
December 2021.  The governing board of the Electronic Services System is appointed by the Executive Board of the 
Iowa County Recorders Association (ICRA). 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements include the financial activities administered by the ICRA and the Electronic Services System 
Coordinating Committee.  They include all transactions of the Electronic Services System treasury management 
account and capital asset account.  The treasury management account is used primarily as the central clearinghouse 
for receipt of payments to the ESS system and the distribution of funds to Iowa counties for recording and other 
services.  The treasury management account is also used for certain operating expenses.  The capital asset account 
includes the equipment and software used to host the Electronic Services System web site. 
 
In accordance with State statute, a portion of all transaction fees recorded by Iowa county recorders is to be deposited 
to the State of Iowa’s Electronic Transaction Fund, also known as Fund 255, administered by the Office of the Treasurer 
of State to be used for the payment of claims approved by the Electronic Services System Coordinating Committee.  
The receipts and disbursements of this fund are not included in the financial statements of Electronic Services System, 
in accordance with the reporting requirements of the County Electronic Services System 28E Agreement.  Receipts 
from the Electronic Transaction Fund to Electronic Services System’s treasury management account are recorded as 
draws from Electronic Transaction Fund and are included in revenue. 
 
ESS has elected to apply all applicable Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  The 
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred; regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of special-purpose financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
ESS is a governmental subdivision of the State of Iowa and is exempt from federal and state income taxes. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Computer equipment is stated at cost.  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of the assets which are three to five years.  Software reported on the special-purpose statements of net position has 
been internally developed by ESS and recorded at cost.  Software is amortized over a three year useful life. 
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NOTE 1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Net Position 
 
The Special-Purpose Statements of Net Position present ESS’s assets and liabilities, with the difference reported as net 
position.  Net position is reported in three categories: 
 
 Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by 

outstanding balances for bonds, notes and other debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of 
those assets. 

 
 Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed or imposed 

by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  Electronic Services System had no restricted net 
position at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
 Unrestricted net position consists of net position not meeting the definition of the two preceding categories.  

Unrestricted net position often has constraints on resources imposed by management which can be removed or 
modified. 

 
Customer Deposits 
 
Electronic Services System allows customers to hold funds on account with ESS for future electronic submittals.  These 
funds are recorded as a liability on the Special-Purpose Statements of Net Position until an electronic submission is 
initiated by the customer, at which time it is recorded to revenue. 
 
Unearned Revenues 
 
Electronic Services System is reimbursed for costs associated with local service maintenance contracts by local county 
recorders offices.  These local service maintenance contracts are paid for in advance by ESS, resulting in prepaid 
expenditures for services not yet performed at the end of the reporting period.  In order to match the period of 
recognition for both revenues and expenses associated with these service contracts, ESS has recorded as a liability the 
payments made by county recorders associated with services which have not yet been performed as of the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
 
NOTE 2  CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK 
 
Electronic Services System maintains a checking account at a commercial bank.  Cash in this account at times 
exceeded the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000. 
 
 
NOTE 3  RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
ESS has a retirement plan covering employees who have met certain eligibility requirements.  Contributions to the plan 
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $5,500 and $8,656, respectively. 
 
 
NOTE 4  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
ESS has evaluated subsequent events through July 10, 2022, the date which the financial statements were available to 
be issued.  There were no subsequent events which required accrual or disclosure. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
 
 
Electronic Services System Coordinating Committee 
Electronic Services System 
Johnston, Iowa 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Electronic Services 
System, which comprise the special-purpose statement of net position as of December 31, 2021, and 
the related special-purpose statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated July 10, 2022. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Electronic Services 
System’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Electronic 
Services System’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Electronic Services System’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
 

ESS Committee - Page 29



 
 
 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Electronic Services System’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the financial statement.  However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Electronic Services System’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Electronic Services 
System’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 
 
 
                                                                                        DENMAN & COMPANY, LLP 
 
West Des Moines, Iowa 
July 10, 2022 
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Electronic Services System Coordinating Committee 
Electronic Services System 
Johnston, Iowa 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Electronic Services System (the Organization) for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated July 10, 2022.  Professional standards require that we 
provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our 
audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated April 18, 2022.  Professional standards 
also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant accounting 
policies used by Electronic Services System are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No new accounting 
policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the year.  We noted no 
transactions entered into by the Organization during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and 
because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most 
sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were management’s estimate of depreciation expense which is 
based on the estimated useful lives of assets using the straight-line method and management’s estimate of accrued 
compensation.  We evaluated the accounting estimates used and found them reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement 
users.  We evaluated the disclosures and found them reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  
Management has corrected all such misstatements. 
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Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a disagreement on a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements 
or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation 
letter dated July 10, 2022. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters, 
similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations.  If a consultation involves application of an 
accounting principle to the Organization's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion 
that may be expressed on those financial statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to 
check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, 
with management each year prior to retention as the Organization's auditors.  However, these discussions occurred 
in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which is required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of 
inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Electronic Services System Coordinating 
Committee and management of Electronic Services System, and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
                                                                                                 DENMAN & COMPANY, LLP 
 
West Des Moines, Iowa 
July 10, 2022 
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BUDGETED INCOME AND EXPENSES

CY 2022

Proposed Amendment

January February March April May June July August September October November December Actual
Adopted - May 
Amendment Difference

Income 

BudgetedIncome

Bad Payment Fee 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Misc. Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 200.00 200.00 0.00

Event Income ILR Conferences Registration 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 400.00 1000.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6400.00 6400.00 0.00

Sponsorships 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

POSSERVICEFEE 10032.42 8279.90 12616.62 16221.99 18867.83 15740.96 8007.70 7500.00 7500.00 7500.00 7500.00 7500.00 127267.42 107094.11 20173.31

ERECORDING SERVICEFEE

ACH

CC

DRAWDOWN

Total SERVICEFEE 91949.17 79748.66 103499.96 98861.26 102246.90 108624.14 86808.00 85000.00 85000.00 85000.00 85000.00 85000.00 1096738.09 1094065.05 2673.04

Expense Reimbursement ‐ 255 103446.16 80863.17 91033.64 110939.17 83232.90 51151.77 50372.28 55000.00 55000.00 55000.00 55000.00 55000.00 846039.09 854515.04 ‐8475.95

Local Service Provider Maint. Cost Sharing Credit 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 ‐160453.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 ‐160453.01 ‐165000.00 4546.99

Local Maintenance Share 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 293283.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 293283.64 297045.00 ‐3761.36

Total BudgetedIncome 205427.75 168891.73 207150.22 226022.42 337178.26 175916.87 146187.98 147500.00 152500.00 147500.00 147500.00 147700.00 2209475.23 2194319.20 15156.03

Expense

Budgeted Expenses

Administration

Annual Audits 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4000.00 0.00 850.00 3500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 8350.00 8350.00 0.00

Accounting Software‐Services 4182.85 147.88 147.88 147.88 147.88 147.88 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 5822.25 5826.49 ‐4.24

Bookkeeping‐CPA‐990 4650.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 4900.00 58550.00 58550.00 0.00

Professional Fees

Legal Fees 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 24000.00 24000.00 0.00

Government Relations 1000.00 0.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 2000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 3000.00 18000.00 18000.00 0.00

Human Resources‐Oasis 1280.00 780.00 857.80 758.40 757.80 757.80 1199.85 980.00 980.00 980.00 980.00 1470.00 11781.65 12496.20 ‐714.55

Project Manager 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 11900.00 142800.00 142800.00 0.00

Insurance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3629.00 26604.52 35,703.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 65937.02 55000.00 10937.02

ESS Meetings 0.00 263.44 400.02 522.03 380.64 400.85 9.16 0.00 1400.00 0.00 0.00 1400.00 4776.14 5385.49 ‐609.35

Office Operations

Office Space Lease 2750.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 2950.00 35200.00 35200.00 0.00

Office Supplies 0.00 250.97 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 76.24 0.00 75.00 0.00 0.00 75.00 477.21 475.97 1.24

Official Publication Expense 16.30 38.20 20.50 0.00 26.80 0.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 371.80 435.00 ‐63.20

Postage 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 58.00 0.00 0.00 58.00 116.00 174.00 ‐58.00

Teleconference 126.59 119.05 51.26 11.10 69.25 11.26 250.00 250.00 250.00 250.00 250.00 250.00 1888.51 2308.00 ‐419.49

Telephone/Internet 550.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 700.00 8250.00 8250.00 0.00

Office Tech Support 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 1120.00 13440.00 13440.00 0.00

Printing and Copying (Color‐BW) 250.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 350.00 4100.00 4100.00 0.00

Miscellaneous Expenses 64.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 68.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 175.00 307.70 304.20 3.50

Total Administration

Marketing‐Communications

Marketing Director 12576.79 6850.86 6835.58 6835.47 6835.57 6835.58 7009.80 7211.32 7211.32 7211.32 7211.32 12816.98 95441.91 98000.58 ‐2558.67

Administrative/Marketing Support 10749.89 5888.22 5999.02 5838.01 4844.29 4677.28 ‐141.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 37855.68 84619.48 ‐46763.80

Computing Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2661.07 400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3061.07 6200.00 ‐3138.93

Education & Outreach

ILR Conferences 0.00 0.00 0.00 230.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6430.00 6400.00 30.00

Tradeshows/Exhibits/Sponsorship 0.00 1000.00 0.00 215.00 0.00 0.00 600.00 0.00 0.00 250.00 0.00 0.00 2065.00 2965.00 ‐900.00

Seminars & Workshops 45.66 0.00 30.00 0.00 0.00 ‐56.25 0.00 250.00 750.00 250.00 0.00 1150.00 2419.41 3975.66 ‐1556.25

Memberships 0.00 800.00 200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 575.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 4000.00 5625.00 5575.00 50.00

Conferences and Meetings 596.40 0.00 1348.82 422.52 399.00 534.00 300.00 500.00 2765.00 0.00 1350.00 2500.00 10715.74 9662.74 1053.00

Campaigns 0.00 0.00 27.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 750.00 0.00 1400.00 2177.25 3427.25 ‐1250.00

Software, Equipment and Hosted  638.35 559.66 1151.87 559.66 559.66 561.78 610.00 561.78 561.78 561.78 3700.00 4020.00 14046.32 13569.54 476.78

Marketing Supplies 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 74.66 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 174.66 150.00 24.66

Promotional Expenses 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2184.92 162.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1500.00 3847.82 2500.00 1347.82

Proposed Amendment ‐ August 9, 2022
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BUDGETED INCOME AND EXPENSES

CY 2022

Proposed Amendment

January February March April May June July August September October November December Actual
Adopted - May 
Amendment Difference

Total Marketing‐Communications

Customer Support Account Manager 7508.30 7976.32 7725.02 7477.68 7648.90 7643.91 7772.40 7549.42 7549.42 7549.42 7549.42 15500.00 99450.19 100832.58 ‐1382.39

Coordinator 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1464.69 2955.68 2955.68 2955.68 2955.68 4433.52 17720.93 19047.78 ‐1326.85

Computing Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5322.00 800.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6122.00 3500.00 2622.00

Professional Development 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Customer Support

Policy Coordination

Policy Coordinator 6.37 413.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4129.22 8114.70 8114.70 8114.70 8114.70 14172.05 51180.07 73452.30 ‐22272.23

Computing Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2661.00 400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3061.00 3000.00 61.00

Professional Development 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total Policy Coordination

ILR System Operations

Development Team

Technical Lead 12021.89 11979.88 11983.58 11687.92 11538.64 11538.64 14297.60 12111.71 12111.71 12111.71 12111.71 22000.00 155494.99 158087.33 ‐2592.34

Senior Developer 10938.49 10935.48 10939.18 10939.66 10730.70 10565.18 12483.13 10276.68 10790.51 10790.51 10790.51 20500.00 140680.04 141783.27 ‐1103.22

Technical Support & Developmen 8832.78 8793.55 8795.86 8795.76 8795.87 8353.89 9327.93 8277.70 9105.47 9105.47 9105.47 18000.00 115289.75 116909.67 ‐1619.92

Developer 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Professional Development 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3300.00 0.00 3300.00 3300.00 0.00

External Development & Services

FF Redaction Services 7957.05 5919.33 5136.55 6727.88 6370.83 6569.10 7148.25 9000.00 9000.00 9000.00 9000.00 9000.00 90828.99 97740.81 ‐6911.82

BF Redaction Services 1492.98 0.00 0.00 2624.05 634.80 449.63 2601.40 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 12802.86 12117.03 685.83

Software Development Services 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Technical Consulting 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6000.00 7400.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 13400.00 0.00 13400.00

Data Center & Hosting Services 3052.90 3052.90 3052.90 3052.90 3052.90 3052.90 3052.90 3100.00 3100.00 3100.00 3100.00 3100.00 36870.30 37011.60 ‐141.30

Domain Registration 0.00 0.00 30.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 29.76 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 60.06 65.30 ‐5.24

Software‐License‐Maintenance

JetBrains 0.00 0.00 1556.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1556.00 1556.00 0.00

Browser Stack 372.36 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 372.36 372.36 0.00

Accusoft‐PRIZM 0.00 0.00 9901.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9901.00 19802.00 19802.00 0.00

DB2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 8622.24 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 8622.24 8622.24 0.00

VMWare 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16033.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16033.98 17000.00 ‐966.02

Nessus 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3200.00 3200.00 0.00

Certificates ‐ Digicert 0.00 198.00 4248.40 ‐2848.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6000.00 0.00 7598.20 7598.20 0.00

Duo‐Security 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 500.00 0.00

GEO‐IP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 305.28 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 305.28 350.00 ‐44.72

City‐State‐Zip 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 214.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 214.00 250.00 ‐36.00

Alien Vault 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 3500.00 1500.00

Cisco URL/Malware 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

SUSE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

FTP  195.94 97.97 97.97 97.97 97.97 97.97 1106.96 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1792.75 1289.85 502.90

JIRA 46.55 43.34 40.13 40.13 40.13 40.13 40.13 41.00 41.00 41.00 41.00 41.00 495.54 490.15 5.39

AWS 626.98 606.50 620.30 585.69 598.57 607.40 597.79 608.25 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 8851.48 12039.47 ‐3187.99

Server Support 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

VPN (Anyconnect) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Slack 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 22.04 640.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 662.04 600.00 62.04

SmartNet ‐ firewall 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4000.00 4000.00 0.00 4000.00

Zoom 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 84.53 84.53 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1500.00 1669.06 0.00 1669.06

Computing and Equipment (Cap.)

Developer Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 500.00 0.00

System Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 1504.15 0.00 0.00 1847.11 0.00 0.00 0.00 5000.00 6000.00 14351.26 8504.15 5847.11

Local CC Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total ILR System Operations

Proposed Amendment ‐ August 9, 2022
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BUDGETED INCOME AND EXPENSES

CY 2022

Proposed Amendment

January February March April May June July August September October November December Actual
Adopted - May 
Amendment Difference

Local Maint. Expense 0.00 24.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 290334.57 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 290359.56 297069.99 ‐6710.43

Payment Expenses

Bank Account Analysis Fee 895.82 922.22 927.99 948.57 929.74 1039.09 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 1000.00 11663.43 11694.60 ‐31.17

Bank Service Charges 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 90.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 90.00 90.00 0.00

Gateway Transaction Fees

OnlineTransactionFees ‐ PS 10566.11 3922.86 3467.17 5936.81 4723.20 5134.81 5500.00 5500.00 5500.00 5500.00 5500.00 5500.00 66750.96 67892.95 ‐1141.99

OnlineTransactionFees ‐ Verichec 2950.03 2554.46 2427.00 2868.07 2780.61 2888.16 2850.00 2850.00 2850.00 2850.00 2850.00 2850.00 33568.33 32399.56 1168.77

POSTransactionsFees 7137.60 7431.59 6352.98 9698.10 12034.10 13415.43 9400.00 9400.00 9400.00 9400.00 9400.00 9400.00 112469.80 82620.27 29849.53

Total Gateway Transaction Fees

Total Payment Expenses

Total Budgeted Expenses 129099.18 105491.30 120292.33 111597.21 134574.07 121604.15 448599.42 162096.40 143174.59 123886.59 136424.81 207877.55 1944717.60 1976930.06 ‐32212.47

Net Budgeted Income 76328.57 63400.43 86857.89 114425.21 202604.19 54312.72 ‐302411.44 ‐14596.40 9325.41 23613.41 11075.19 ‐60177.55 264757.63 217389.14 47368.50

1
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BOA CY 2022 Budget Amendment  
The Project Manager presented the Committee with a proposed amendment to the calendar 
year 2022 budget. It was determined that income projections would remain the same through 
the rest of the calendar year. Some projected additional costs associated with cyber insurance, 
additional licensing for VMWare and the PRIZM image viewer, and the potential replacement of 
the office server were included in the budget amendment. These additional costs would be 
partially offset by staff vacancies. Melissa Bahnsen made a motion to approve the 
recommended budget amendment for CY 2022. Denise Baker seconded the motion, and it was 
approved. 
 
BOA Reserve Fund Allocations 
The Committee reviewed a recommendation to allocate $115,546.76 from the operating account to the 
software development and equipment maintenance reserve account. It is expected that these resources 
will continue to be used for a series of one-time software development projects. The allocation of funds 
to this reserve will not hinder operating cashflow, nor will it cause any shortfall in the ordinary course of 
operations. Nancy Booten made a motion to approve the expenditure of reserve funds as presented, 
and Natalie Steffener seconded the motion. The motion was approved. 

BOA Reserve Fund Expenditure Authorization 
The Committee reviewed a recommendation to authorize the expenditure of up to $350,000.00 from 
the Software Development and Equipment Maintenance Reserve during the period of July 1, 2022, 
through November 10, 2022. Uses of the funds include but are not limited to the following. 

• Develop External Submitter REST API 
• Transition Search Functions to New Platform 
• Develop New LRMS Portal REST API 
• Redesign and Develop Search Functions 
• Modify Portal User Registration and Management Processes 
• Modifications to Data Structure and Presentation 
• External Data Integration 

 
Natalie Steffener made a motion to approve the expenditure of reserve funds as presented, and Nancy 
Booten seconded the motion. The motion was approved. 

Work Authorizations 
The Project Manager presented the Subcommittee with the final work authorization with Lean 
Techniques for Phase 1 of the ILR modernization project. The work authorizations were presented to 
ensure that the Committee was fully informed of all development activities performed by the private 
firms. Denise Banker made a motion to accept and approve the work authorizations as presented. 
Lindsay Laufersweiler seconded, and the motion was approved. 
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CONTRACT FOR E-RECORDING DOCUMENTS WITH COUNTY OFFICIALS BETWEEN 
THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND THE ELECTRONIC SERVICES SYSTEM 

 
ARTICLE I 
PARTIES 

1.1 The parties to this Contract are the Iowa Department of Revenue (IDR) and the Electronic Services 
System, DBA Iowa Land Records, 8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2, Johnston, IA 50131 ("CLRIS"). 
The parties may be referred to individually as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties”. 

 

ARTICLE II 
PURPOSE & DEFINITIONS 

2.1 Purpose. The purpose of this contract is to define the roles and responsibilities by which CLRIS 
will provide to IDR e-Recording services. The e-Recording services are developed pursuant to the 
work as specified in Exhibit A - will be made available in all CLRIS Counties that participate in the 
CLRIS e-Submission service (e-Recording). 

2.2 Definitions. 
2.2.1 “API” means application program interface: a set of routines, protocols, and tools for 

building software applications. 
2.2.2 “CLRIS County” means any county in which CLRIS provides land records management 

services. 
2.2.3 “CLRIS” means the Electronic Services System (ESS) for the purposes of this Contract. 

CLRIS is sometimes used to reference the land records management system owned and 
operated by the ESS. CLRIS is also known as the County Land Record Information 
System, Iowa Land Records, and CLRIS may also be used as a reference for other trade 
names. 

2.2.4 “Confidential Information” means, subject to any applicable State and federal laws and 
regulations, including but not limited to Iowa Code chapter 22, any confidential or 
proprietary information or trade secrets disclosed by either Party (a "Disclosing Party") to 
the other Party (a "Receiving Party") that, at the time of disclosure, is designated as 
confidential (or like designation), is disclosed in circumstances of confidence, or would be 
understood by the Parties, exercising reasonable business judgment, to be confidential. All 
data provided to CLRIS by IDR is confidential tax information until it is filed with the 
County Recorder. Confidential Information does not include any information that: 
2.2.4.1 Was rightfully in the possession of the Receiving Party from a source other than 

the Disclosing Party prior to the time of disclosure of the information by the 
Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party; 

2.2.4.2 Was known to the Receiving Party prior to the disclosure of the information by the 
Disclosing Party; 

2.2.4.3 Was disclosed to the Receiving Party without restriction by an independent Third 
Party having a legal right to disclose the information; 

2.2.4.4 Becomes public knowledge, other than through an act or failure to act of the 
Disclosing Party; 

2.2.4.5 Is publicly available or in the public domain at or prior to the time such information 
was disclosed by the Disclosing Party; 
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2.2.4.6 Is independently developed by the Receiving Party without any reliance on 
Confidential Information disclosed by the Disclosing Party. 

2.2.5 “County Operating Hours” means the hours of normal operation of the land records 
recording office of the applicable County during which documents are accepted for 
recording. 

2.2.6 “e-Recording” means the act or practice of electronically submitting and receiving land 
record documents for recording with a County. 

2.2.7 “Service Fee” means the fee paid by IDR to CLRIS for access to the CLRIS system. 
2.2.8 “Submitters” means the submitters of documents to Counties for e-Recording, including 

various personnel of IDR. 
2.2.9 “Terms of Use” means the Terms of Use published by CLRIS concerning access to and 

utilization of the CLRIS e-Submission service (e-Recording). 
2.2.10 “Third Party” means a person or entity including, but not limited to any form of business 

organization, such as a corporation, partnership, limited liability corporation, association, 
etc., other than CLRIS or IDR. 

 

ARTICLE III 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

3.1 Account Managers. Upon the effective date of this Contract, the Parties will each assign account 
managers to coordinate and administer the terms and conditions of this Contract and to serve as 
primary points of contact for communications. 

3.2 Project Planning. The Parties will establish appropriate project plans, as needed, for the planning 
and execution of their respective duties under this Contract, as specified in Exhibit A. 

3.3 County Land Records Management Systems. The service providers for any local land records 
management systems in the various Counties ("LRMS Vendors") will be included as appropriate in 
any planning, project management, or implementation activities under this Contract. 

3.4 Periodic Meetings. The Parties will convene periodic telephonic or web conference meetings (or 
meetings in person, if the Parties agree) to review progress against project plan milestones, to 
review each Party’s compliance with the terms and conditions of this Contract, and to evaluate the 
ongoing effectiveness of the operational provisions of this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE IV 
SYSTEMS INTEGRATION 

4.1 Project Architecture. IDR agrees to implement the API published by CLRIS, to conform to the 
applicable ESS Policies and Procedures Manual, and to architect the integration required to 
establish e-Recording document workflow from IDR and Submitters to CLRIS. CLRIS will provide 
a technical description of the API to IDR for its use in creating software to effectively submit 
documents for e-Recording. CLRIS will provide technical support and a functional test 
environment to assist IDR in its implementation of the APL 

4.2 County Interface. CLRIS will provide an interface with the recording software of the LRMS 
Vendor in each CLRIS County through which IDR may submit documents to be recorded. 

4.3 Software Changes and Support. CLRIS will test any and all upgrades or revisions to its software 
to assure continuing operability with IDR’s electronic submission systems and will provide 
reasonable advance notice to IDR in order to allow for coordination prior to implementation of any 
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upgrade or revision. CLRIS will provide support as needed to IDR personnel to assure continuing 
operability of IDR’s electronic submission systems. 

4.4 Responsibility for Costs and Expenses. Each Party will be responsible for any and all costs of 
developing, programming, marketing, promoting, and providing its respective responsibilities under 
this Contract. Except as otherwise provided herein, neither Party will be responsible or liable for 
any costs or expenses of the other Party incurred in connection with this Contract. 

4.5 Product/System Roadmap. Each Party agrees to provide the other Party with a product/system 
road map that enables CLRIS and IDR to anticipate revisions to their respective software and to 
plan related integration updates. 

 

ARTICLE V 
CUSTOMER SUPPORT 

5.1 Development Support. The Parties agree to support each other’s development activities. 
5.2 Service Level Contract. IDR and CLRIS each agree to use its best efforts to maintain its systems 

and services in full effective operation for each County during 99.9% of the respective County 
Operating Hours, except for downtimes mutually agreed upon by CLRIS, the county, and IDR, and 
downtimes arising from any Internet downtime or outages or from causes beyond the control of the 
Parties. CLRIS will use its best efforts to obtain a contract from the LRMS Vendors to provide the 
same level of service described in this section in each of their customer counties. IDR and CLRIS 
will each make every effort to schedule system downtime outside of County Operating Hours; 
however, in the event either Party is required to schedule downtime during County Operating 
Hours, the Party will collaborate with the Counties and with the other Party to notify administrators, 
users, and system technicians for work planning purposes. 

5.3 Service Disruption and Recovery. The Parties agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
immediately identify and work to resolve disruptions in activities related to this Contract. 

5.4 Incident Response and Escalation. 
5.4.1 The Parties agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to respond immediately to technical 

support incidents initiated by the other Party or by the county. The Parties further agree to use 
commercially reasonable efforts to address any interruption to service. 

5.4.2 The Parties agree to respond to maintenance, technical support, change requests, and/or 
inquiries during normal business hours. The Parties will determine and assign the level of 
severity for the problem based upon the definitions provided below. Depending upon the 
severity of the problem, the resolution objectives shall be as follows: 

Level of Severity 

Response Time 
(Acknowledgement 

of Request) 

Resolution Time 
(Fix or Workaround 

Provided) 
Severity 1 
Defined as an urgent situation which renders business-
critical components(s) of the software inoperable or 
causes the software to fail catastrophically. 

1 hour 8 hours 

Severity 2 
Defined as a major software system component(s) that 
has failure precluding its successful operation or causes 
degradation. 

1 hour 1 business day 

Severity 3 
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Defined as a minor problem that exists with the system 
but the majority of the functions are still usable and 
some circumvention may be required to provide service. 

1 hour 2 business day 

Severity 4 
A minor problem, request or question that does not 
affect the system’s function (Examples: Question on 
procedures, Change Requests, Documentation, 
Training, Consumable Requests, or any questions or 
issues pertaining to the Development/ Test 
Environments)  

1 hour 5 business days 

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
POLICIES & FEES 

6.1 Terms of Use and Privacy Policies. IDR agrees to abide by the Terms of Use and Privacy Policies 
established and published by CLRIS when accessing the Iowa Land Records site as prescribed in this 
Contract. CLRIS agrees to abide by the Confidentiality, Security Policy and Procedures Requirements 
established by IDR and found in Appendix A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract or 
any other agreement, the terms of this Contract control and have priority over any provision of the 
Terms of Use, the Privacy Policy, or any other published business requirement. 

6.2 Recording Fees. IDR shall ensure payment of all applicable recording fees required by a County. 
6.3 Service Fees.  

6.3.1 IDR shall ensure payment of all applicable CLRIS Service Fees required for connection 
with the API and for the processing of all recording transactions, and distributions to each 
County. 

6.3.2 The Service Fee shall be $3.00 per recorded document for the life of the contract, including 
extensions. 

6.3.3 CLRIS will provide IDR with access to a monthly accounting of documents recorded and 
the payments made from the drawdown account established in Exhibit A. Additional 
activity information is available via reports provided by CLRIS.  

 

ARTICLE VII 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

7.1 IDR and CLRIS enter into this Contract to enable the electronic submission of documents for e-
Recording with county officials. It is understood that information, data, and document images 
electronically submitted to CLRIS will become a public record as defined in Iowa Code Section 22.1 
when the information, data, and document images are officially Recorded by a County Recorder. 

7.2 Each Party may have access to certain Confidential Information of the other Party, and the Parties 
desire to restrict the further disclosure and use of such information. 
7.2.1 Receiving Party will hold the Confidential Information in strict confidence and will not 

directly or indirectly use the Confidential Information or disclose the Confidential 
Information to any Third Party except in compliance with this Contract. Receiving Party will 
not disclose Confidential Information to any person or entity other than its officers and 
employees with a "need to know" (and who must be directly involved and need access to the 
Confidential Information) in connection with this Contract and who are (i) bound by a duty of 
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confidentiality with respect to the Confidential Information under terms and conditions no 
less restrictive than those contained herein, and (ii) instructed and agree not to disclose the 
Confidential Information and not to use the Confidential Information for any purpose, except 
as set forth herein. Receiving Party will maintain reasonable procedures to prevent the 
accidental or unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information and will exert at 
least the same degree of care as it uses to protect its own confidential or proprietary 
information. Receiving Party will immediately notify the Disclosing Party in the event of any 
unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information. Any reproduction of Confidential 
Information will contain any and all confidential or proprietary notices or legends which 
appear on the original. Upon termination of this Contract, Receiving Party will promptly 
return to the Disclosing Party all documents or other tangible materials containing 
Confidential Information and all copies thereof. 

7.2.2 If personally identifiable information as defined in Iowa Code section 331.606A or 
confidential tax information as defined in Iowa Code sections 422.20 or 422.72 is included 
with any data or document images submitted to CLRIS by IDR, and if the personally 
identifiable information or confidential tax information comes into the hands of any Third 
Party prior to filing with the County Recorder, CLRIS will immediately notify IDR. Such 
confidential tax information shall be protected as outlined in Exhibit B. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 
DURATION & TERMINATION 

8.1 Duration. The term of this Contract is for three years. The initial term of the Contract is from 
September 1, 2022 through August 31, 2025. The Agreement may be extended for three additional 
one-year terms subject to the mutual agreement of the Parties. The Parties will provide each other 
with notice concerning the intent to extend, or to not extend the Agreement. The notice will be 
provided not less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the Agreement. 

8.2 Termination. 
8.2.1 Termination for Cause 

8.2.1.1 IDR or CLRIS may terminate this Contract upon written notice for the breach by 
either Party for any material term, condition, or provision of this Contract, if such 
breach is not cured within the time period specified in the notice of breach or any 
subsequent notice or correspondence delivered by the terminating Party to breaching 
Party. All notices require less than a 5-day response. 

8.2.1.2 In addition, CLRIS or IDR may terminate this Contract effective with a 30-day notice 
and without penalty for any of the following reasons: 
8.2.1.2.1 IDR or CLRIS furnished any statement, representation, warranty, or 

certification in connection with this Contract that is false, deceptive, or 
materially incorrect or incomplete; or 

8.2.1.2.2 IDR or CLRIS terminates or suspends its business; or 
8.2.1.2.3 IDR or CLRIS has engaged in conduct that has or may expose CLRIS or 

IDR to liability, as determined in sole discretion of CLRIS or IDR. 
8.2.1.3 If cure is feasible and an opportunity to cure is provided, the notice shall specify the 

exact date by which the condition must be cured. Following expiration of the 
opportunity to cure or notice from CLRIS or IDR, CLRIS or IDR may seek any 
available contractual, legal or equitable remedy. 

ESS Committee - Page 44



Page 6 of 17 
 

8.2.2 Termination Due to Lack of Funds or Change in Law 
8.2.2.1 Notwithstanding anything in this Contract to the contrary, and subject to the 

limitations, conditions, and procedures set forth below, either Party shall have the 
right to terminate this Contract without penalty and without any advance notice as a 
result of any of the following: 
8.2.2.1.1 The legislature, or governor, or other applicable governing body fail, in the 

sole opinion of each Party, to appropriate funds sufficient to allow that 
respective Party to either meet its obligations under this Contract or to 
operate as required and to fulfill its obligations under this Contract; or 

8.2.2.1.2 If funds are de-appropriated, reduced, not allocated, or receipt of funds is 
delayed, or if any funds or revenues needed by a Party to make any 
payment hereunder, in the sole discretion of that Party are insufficient or 
unavailable for any other reason; or 

8.2.2.1.3 If a Party’s authorization to conduct its business or engage in activities or 
operations related to the subject matter of this Contract is withdrawn or 
materially altered or modified; or 

8.2.2.1.4 If a Party’s duties or programs are substantially modified or materially 
altered; or 

8.2.2.1.5 If there is a decision of any court, administrative law judge, or arbitration 
panel or any law, rule, regulation, or order is enacted, promulgated or 
issued that materially or adversely affects either Party’s ability to fulfill 
any of its obligations under this Contract or the operation of the CLRIS 
portal or e-Submission service. 

8.2.2.2 The terminating Party shall provide other Party with written notice of termination 
pursuant to this section. 

8.2.3 Termination for Convenience. Either party may terminate this Agreement for any other 
reason, without penalty or incurring further obligation, upon 30 days written notice. 

8.3 IDR’s Termination Duties 
8.3.1 IDR, upon receipt of notice of termination for cause or convenience, shall: 

8.3.1.1 Immediately cease using and return to CLRIS any property including, without 
limitation materials, whether tangible or intangible, provided by CLRIS to IDR. 

8.3.1.2 Cooperate in good faith with CLRIS and its employees, agents, and contractors 
during the transition period between the notification of termination and the 
completion of any pending transactions or e-recording activities. 

8.3.1.3 Make any payments due to CLRIS for any pending transactions ore-recording 
activities. 

 

ARTICLE IX 
CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

9.1 Proprietary Rights. The Parties will each retain ownership or control of their respective software 
and systems. The software created by CLRIS to receive documents electronically from IDR 
pursuant to this Contract will remain the property of CLRIS. The software created or licensed by 
IDR pursuant to this Contract to gather and submit documents electronically, and to make 
submissions for receipt through the CLRIS software or services will remain under the control of 
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IDR. Any software developed by either Party to effectuate the interface jointly designed by the 
Parties pursuant to this Contract shall belong to the Party who developed the software. 

9.2 Limitation of Liability. To the extent allowed by law, in no event shall IDR or CLRIS be liable for 
indirect, special, incidental or consequential damages, or lost profits, even if advised of the 
possibility of such damages. 

9.3 No Warranty. Except as set forth in Section 3.2, the Parties do not warrant that the operation of 
e-Recording will be uninterrupted, secure, or error-free. THE PARTIES MAKE NO WARRANTY 
OF ANY KIND WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED (EITHER IN FACT OR BY OPERATION 
OF LAW) WITH RESPECT TO e-RECORDING CAPABILITIES, INCLUDING THE 
WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY, NONINFRINGEMENT OR 
FITNESS FORA PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 

9.4 Compliance with the Law and Regulations. 
9.4.1 The Parties and their employees, agents, officers, directors, contractors, and subcontractors 

shall comply with all applicable federal, state, foreign, and local laws, rules, ordinances, 
codes, regulations and orders when performing within the scope of this Contract. Parties shall 
make the provisions of this section a part of its contracts with any subcontractors providing 
goods or services related to performance of this Contract. 

9.4.2 Either Party may consider the failure of the other Party to comply with any law or regulation 
as a material breach of this Contract. 

9.5 Amendments. This Contract may be amended in writing from time to time by mutual consent of 
the Parties. Both Parties must execute all amendments to this Contract. 

9.6 Third Party Beneficiaries. There are no Third Party beneficiaries to this Contract. This Contract is 
intended only to benefit CLRIS and IDR. 

9.7 Choice of Law and Forum. 
9.7.1 The laws of the State of Iowa shall govern and determine all matters arising out of or in 

connection with this Contract. 
9.7.2 Any and all litigation or actions commenced in connection with this Contract, including after 

expiration or termination of this Contract, shall be brought in Des Moines, Iowa, in Polk 
County District Court for the State of Iowa, if jurisdiction is proper. However, if jurisdiction 
is not proper in the Iowa District Court, Polk County, but is proper only in a United States 
District Court, the matter shall be commenced in the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of Iowa. 

9.7.3 This provision shall not be construed as waiving any immunity to suit or liability, in state or 
federal court which may be available to CLRIS or IDR. 

9.8 Assignment and Delegation. This Contract may not be assigned, transferred, or conveyed in whole 
or in part without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

9.9 Entire Contract. This Contract represents the entire Contract between the Parties concerning the 
subject matter hereof, and neither Party is relying on any representation that may have been made 
which is not included in this Contract. Both CLRIS and IDR acknowledge that it has thoroughly 
read this Contract and all related schedules, exhibits, and other documents and has had the 
opportunity to receive competent advice and counsel necessary for it to form a complete 
understanding of all rights and obligations herein and to accept same freely and without coercion of 
any kind. 

9.10 Obligation Beyond Contract Term. This Contract shall remain in full force and effect to the end 
of the specified term or until terminated or canceled pursuant to this Contract. The obligations of 
the Parties under this Contract which by their nature would continue beyond the termination of this 
Contract, including, by way of illustration and not by limitation, those obligations set forth in 
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Sections 9.1, 7, 9.2, 9.3, 9.7, 9.11, and 9.17 and Appendix A shall survive termination of this 
Contract. 

9.11 Waiver. Except as specifically provided for in a waiver signed by duly authorized representatives 
of CLRIS and IDR, failure by either Party at any time to require performance by the other Party or 
to claim a breach of any provision of the Contract shall not be construed as affecting any 
subsequent breach or the right to require performance with respect thereto or to claim a breach with 
respect thereto. No term or condition of this Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or 
deleted except by an instrument, in writing, signed by the Parties hereto. 

9.12 Notices.  
9.12.1 Notices under this Contract shall be in writing and delivered to the representative of the 

Party to receive notice (identified below) at the address of the Party to receive notice as it 
appears below or as otherwise provided for by proper notice here under. The effective date 
for any notice under this Contract shall be the date of delivery of such notice (not the date 
of mailing) which may be effected by certified U.S. Mail return receipt requested with 
postage prepaid thereon or by recognized overnight delivery service, such as Federal 
Express or UPS: 

CLRIS  IDR 
Phil Dunshee Leann Boswell 
Project Manager Public Service Manager 
CLRIS  Iowa Department of Revenue 
8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2 
Johnston, IA 50131 

Hoover Building 
1305 E. Walnut 
Des Moines, IA 50319 

(515) 491-8939 (515) 725-0229 
phil@CLRIS.com leann.boswell@iowa.gov 

9.12.2 Any notice or communication sent by U.S. Mail under this Contract shall be deemed 
given upon receipt as evidenced by the U.S. Postal Service return receipt card, or if sent 
by overnight delivery service, upon receipt as evidenced by the signature attained by the 
carrier. 

9.12.3 From time to time, the Parties may change the name and address of a Party designated to 
receive notice. Such change of the designated person shall be in writing to the other Party 
and as provided herein. 

9.13 Cumulative Rights. The Contract provides the exclusive remedies for either Party. 
9.14 Severability. If any provision of this Contract is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to 

be invalid or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any 
other part or provision of this Contract. 

9.15 Authorization. CLRIS and IDR represent and warrant that it has the right, power, and authority to 
enter into and perform its obligations under this Contract and that it has taken all requisite action 
(corporate, statutory, or otherwise) in regard to the approval, execution, delivery, and performance 
of this Contract, and this Contract constitutes a legal, valid, and binding obligation of CLRIS and 
IDR, enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

9.16 Successors in Interest. All the terms, provisions, and conditions of the Contract shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties’ hereto and their respective successors, assigns, and 
legal representatives. 

9.17 Record Retention and Access. CLRIS and IDR shall maintain books, records, and documents 
which sufficiently and properly document and calculate all transactions throughout the term of this 
Contract for a period of at least three (3) years following the date of the transactions. CLRIS and 
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IDR shall not impose a charge or seek payment for any fee, charge, or expense associated with any 
audit or examination of CLRIS ‘ or IDR’s books and records. CLRIS and IDR shall require its 
subcontractors to agree to the same provisions of this section. 

9.18 Headings or Captions. The section headings or captions are for identification purposes only and 
do not limit or construe the contents of the sections. 

9.19 Multiple Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in two or more counterparts, any one of 
which shall be an original without reference to the others. 

9.20 Not a Joint Venture. Nothing in this Contract shall be construed as creating or constituting the 
relationship of the partnership, joint venture, (or other association of any kind or agent/principal 
relationship) between the Parties hereto. Each Party shall be deemed an independent contractor 
contracting for services and acting toward the mutual benefits expected to be derived from the 
Contract. No Party, unless otherwise specifically provided for herein, has the authority to enter into 
any Contract or create an obligation or liability on behalf of, in the name of, or binding upon, 
another Party to this Contract. 

9.21 Additional Provisions. The Parties agree that Exhibit A, Exhibit B, and Exhibit C are attached 
hereto and referred to herein by the Parties, and the same shall be deemed incorporated herein by 
reference. Should a conflict arise between the terms of this Contract, Exhibit A, Exhibit B, and 
Exhibit C, the order of preference shall be (i) Exhibit B, (ii) Exhibit C, (iii) this Contract and (iv) 
Exhibit A. 

9.22 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. The Parties agree that they will, from time to 
time, execute, acknowledge, and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged, and delivered, 
such supplements hereto and such further instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying 
out the expressed intention of this Contract. Notwithstanding this Section 9.22, this section shall not 
require any party to amend or otherwise alter this Contract. 

9.23 Obligations of Joint Entities. If CLRIS is a joint entity, consisting of more than one individual, 
partnership, corporation, or other business organization, all such entities shall be jointly and 
severally liable for carrying out the activities and obligations of this agreement, and for any default 
of such activities and obligations. 

9.24 Force Majeure. 
9.24.1 Neither Party shall be in default under this Contract if performance is prevented, delayed, 

or made impossible to the extent that such prevention, delay, or impossibility is caused by a 
“force majeure.” The term “force majeure” as used in this Contract includes an event that 
no human foresight could anticipate or which if anticipated, is incapable of being avoided. 
Circumstances must be abnormal and unforeseeable, so that the consequence could not 
have been avoided through the exercise of all due care, such as acts of God, war, civil 
disturbance, and other similar catastrophic events or causes. The delay or impossibility of 
performance must be beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Parties. 

9.24.2 If a “force majeure” delays or prevents a Party’s performance, the Party shall immediately 
use its best efforts to directly provide alternate, and, to the extent possible, comparable 
performance.  

9.24.3 The Party seeking to exercise this provision and not perform or delay performance pursuant 
to a “force majeure” shall immediately notify the other Party of the occurrence and reason 
for the delay. The Parties shall make every effort to minimize the time of nonperformance 
and the scope of work not being performed due to the unforeseen events. Any deadlines 
will be extended only for a period of time equal to the time lost due to any delay so caused, 
or as otherwise agreed upon by the Parties.  
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9.25 Material Breaches. The references in this Contract to specific material breaches of this Contract 
shall not be construed as implying that other breaches of this Contract are not material. 

9.26 Title to Property. Title to all property, including, without limitation, CLRIS Property, furnished by 
CLRIS or IDR Property, furnished by IDR to facilitate the performance of this Contract shall 
remain the sole property of the originating Party. All such property shall only be used by the other 
Party for purposes of fulfilling its obligations under this Contract and shall be returned to the other 
Party upon the earliest of completion, termination, or cancellation of this Contract or at the request 
of the other Party. 

9.27 Exclusivity. This Contract is not an exclusive dealing contract. During the term of this Contract, 
CLRIS or IDR may make similar arrangements with other parties or establish contracts with other 
entities. 

9.28 Interpretation. This Contract will be deemed to have been prepared jointly. "Including" means 
"including without limitation." 

 

ARTICLE X 
EXECUTION 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth above and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy and legal sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties have entered into the above Contract and have caused their duly authorized 
representatives to execute this Contract. 
 
Electronic Services System  Iowa Department of Revenue 
     

 
 

Signature Date  Signature Date 
Name:   Name:  
Title:   Title:  
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Exhibit A: Statement of Work 
 

I. Activities of IDR. IDR agrees to perform the following activities and functions: 
a. Integrate with CLRIS to enable IDR to submit documents for recording in all CLRIS 

participating counties. IDR shall conform to the CLRIS API and associated business rules 
established by CLRIS. (See: External Submission API Version 1.9). 

b. Parse separate data elements when transferring information to CLRIS through the CLRIS 
API, e.g. first name, middle name, and last name. 

c. Provide primary training and technical support services to IDR employees or contractors 
who will facilitate or oversee the submission of documents for recording in participating 
counties. It is the responsibility of IDR to ensure that employees and contractors 
understand the operation of the CLRIS API, the e-Submission service, and recording 
rules in Iowa. 

d. When developing modifications to IDR’s integration with the CLRIS API and e-
Submission service, IDR shall coordinate with CLRIS and provide information about the 
planned product/system road map. IDR shall provide CLRIS with advanced notice of any 
planned testing, including appropriate test files. Application testing shall be performed to 
ensure that each function works properly prior to moving into production. Test Files will 
contain the required submission elements via a web service request which will include a 
required XML file and an accompanying Embedded File (TIFF). Modifications to IDR’s 
integration with the CLRIS API and e-Submission service shall not be implemented in 
the CLRIS production environment without the prior approval of CLRIS. 

e. Provide to CLRIS an Account Manager for any development activity, and to serve as a 
point of contact for CLRIS concerning any business or technical issues. 

f. Establish a payment account and fund it adequately to ensure funds are available to pay 
for all recording and service fees. 

g. Monitor system messages, including error messages, decline type messages, or other Edit 
Codes returned by CLRIS to IDR systems. System messages shall be evaluated to 
determine whether changes need to be made to IDR’s integration with CLRIS, or to 
determine whether supplemental training is required by IDR for customers or other third-
party organizations served by IDR. 

h. To the extent practicable, IDR shall ensure that when declined or rejected documents are 
resubmitted for review by a County, the resubmission documents shall be returned within 
the same package or group which was originally submitted. If IDR engages in the 
submission of documents for recording on behalf of its customers or other third-party 
organizations, then IDR shall perform the following activities and functions: 

i. Provide training and technical support services to IDR customers who submit 
documents for recording. Training for customers shall include all requirements 
for recording, including common issues which may result in the rejection of a 
document(s) by Iowa County Recorders. 

ii. Provide primary customer support services to IDR customers. IDR will be 
responsible for the relationship with all IDR customers. 

II. Activities of CLRIS. CLRIS agrees to perform the following activities and functions: 
a. Provide system documentation, record formats, sample reports and other data needed by 

IDR to develop and maintain the integration with the CLRIS API and requirements. 
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b. Provide a test environment and the technical support needed to assist with testing each 
aspect of the application. When notified in advance, CLRIS will provide technical 
assistance with testing activities and provide a point of contact to handle questions and 
issues. CLRIS will acknowledge receipt of questions or issues received from IDR within 
one business day, via email. CLRIS will respond to questions and issues in a reasonable 
and timely fashion, via email or other appropriate communication channel. 

c. Provide for both a batch method and a browser user interface method for the electronic 
submission of documents. 

d. Provide access to IDR files containing images of filed documents along with the 
corresponding data. Images will be presented in TIFF format. Document images access 
through the Iowa Land Records website at iowalandrecords.org/portal will be presented 
in PDF format. 

e. Provide a help desk, contact names, and phone numbers, and hours of service along with 
an escalation policy should issues not be timely resolved. Whenever practicable, CLRIS 
shall strive to resolve any CLRIS system issue within 24 hours. If any issue is not 
resolved within this time frame, the issue shall be escalated to the CLRIS Project 
Manager. 

f. Provide access to methods of payment to be used by IDR to pay for all recording and 
service fees. CLRIS will forward all recording fees to the appropriate counties. 

g. Provide access to reports enabling IDR to reconcile payments with recorded documents. 
h. Notify IDR in advance of any scheduled maintenance down times, and notify IDR of any 

unscheduled CLRIS system outages, or any service interruption at the county level. 
i. Establish and adopt procedures and operating policies in order to facilitate consistent and 

timely service in all participating counties. 
III. Collaborative Activities of IDR and CLRIS. 

a. IDR and CLRIS will work cooperatively to ensure that documents are successfully 
recorded and proper payment is made, and to ensure compliance with the CLRIS Terms 
of Use and Privacy Policy as well as other published business requirements. 

b. Prior to the official recording of information, data or document images, CLRIS will treat 
the information as confidential as specified in Exhibit B. 
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Exhibit B – IDR Confidentiality 

I. Access to Confidential Information. The contractor’s officers, employees, agents, and 
subcontractors may have access to state tax information, including returns and return information 
maintained by the Iowa Department of Revenue (IDR). Access is granted only to the extent 
necessary to carry out the contractor’s responsibilities under the contract.  

II. Performance. In performance of this contract, the contractor agrees to comply with and assume 
responsibility for compliance by officers or employees with the following requirements: 

1. All work will be performed under the supervision of the contractor. 
2. The contractor shall presume all information received from IDR pursuant to this contract 

is confidential under Iowa Code sections 422.20 and 422.72, unless otherwise designated 
by IDR. 

3. The contractor and contractor’s officers or employees to be authorized access to state tax 
information must meet background check requirements defined in Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS) Publication 1075. The contractor will maintain a list of officers or 
employees with authorized access to state tax information. Such list will be provided to 
IDR. 

4. The contractor will employ a formal sanction process for officers or employees failing to 
comply with established information security policies and procedures for handling state 
tax information. The contractor will notify IDR of any sanctions issued under this process 
within 72 hours of issuance. 

5. State tax information, in hardcopy or electronic format, shall be used only for the purpose 
of carrying out the provisions of this contract. State tax information, in any format, shall 
be treated as confidential and shall not be divulged or made known in any manner to any 
person except as may be necessary in the performance of this contract. Inspection or 
disclosure of state tax information to anyone other than the contractor or the contractor’s 
officers or employees authorized is prohibited. 

6. State tax information will be accounted for upon receipt and properly stored before, 
during, and after processing. In addition, any related output and products require the same 
level of protection as required for the source material. 

7. No state tax information may be accessed by contractor or contractor’s officers, 
employees, agents, or subcontractors located offshore or via any information systems 
located offshore. 

8. The contractor will certify that state tax information processed during the performance of 
this contract will be completely purged from all physical and electronic data storage with 
no output to be retained by the contractor at the time the work is completed. If immediate 
purging of physical and electronic data storage is not possible, the contractor will certify 
that any state tax information in physical or electronic storage will remain safeguarded to 
prevent unauthorized disclosures. 

9. Any spoilage or any intermediate hard copy printout that may result during the 
processing of state tax information will be given to IDR. When this is not possible, the 
contractor will be responsible for the destruction of the spoilage or any intermediate hard 
copy printouts and will provide IDR with a statement containing the date of destruction, 
description of material destroyed, and the destruction method. 

10. All computer systems receiving, processing, storing, or transmitting state tax information 
must meet the requirements in IRS Publication 1075. To meet functional and assurance 
requirements, the security features of the environment must provide for the managerial, 
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operational, and technical controls. All security features must be available and activated 
to protect against unauthorized use of and access to state tax information. 

11. No work involving state tax information furnished under this contract will be 
subcontracted without the prior written approval of IDR. 

12. Any state tax information supplied by IDR to the contractor or contractor’s officers, 
employees, agents, or subcontractors or created by the contractor or contractor’s officers, 
employees, agents, or subcontractors in the course of the performance of its duties under 
this contract shall be considered the property of IDR. 

13. Contractor will ensure that the terms of state tax information safeguards described herein 
are included, without modification, in any approved subcontract for work involving state 
tax information. 

14. To the extent the terms, provisions, duties, requirements, and obligations of this contract 
apply to performing services with state tax information, the contractor shall assume 
toward the subcontractor all obligations, duties, and responsibilities that IDR under this 
contract assumes toward the contractor, and the subcontractor shall assume toward the 
contractor all the same obligations, duties and responsibilities which the contractor 
assumes toward IDR under this contract. 

15. In addition to the subcontractor’s obligations and duties under an approved subcontract, 
the terms and conditions of this contract apply to the subcontractor, and the subcontractor 
is bound and obligated to the contractor hereunder by the same terms and conditions by 
which the contractor is bound and obligated to IDR under this contract. 

16. In the event that a subpoena or other legal process is served upon the contractor for 
records containing state tax information, the contractor shall promptly notify IDR and 
cooperate with IDR in any lawful effort to protect the state tax information. 

17. The contractor shall immediately report to IDR any unauthorized disclosure or security 
breach of state tax information or any security incident. A security incident is a discovery 
of a data breach, loss of device, compromise of system or web site. A security incident 
includes, but is not limited to the following events: 

i. Loss of hardware or paper documents containing state tax information; 
ii. Evidence of tampering with state tax information; 

iii. Denial of service attack on the contractor; 
iv. Web site defacement; 
v. Unauthorized access or repeated attempts at unauthorized access (from either 

internal or external sources); 
vi. Social engineering incidents; 

vii. Virus attacks which adversely affect servers or multiple workstations; 
viii. Other incidents that could undermine confidence and trust in state tax 

information 
18. The contractor shall provide to IDR a written description of its policies and procedures to 

safeguard state tax information upon request. Policies of confidentiality shall address, as 
appropriate, state tax information conveyed in verbal, written, and electronic formats. 

19. The contractor shall complete, upon request, a security risk assessment questionnaire 
annually, or provide a third-party report, as part of a certification process with IDR. 

20. The use of personally owned computers for accessing state tax information is strictly 
prohibited. 

21. If there is a breach by the contractor of any “personal information” as that term is defined 
and governed by Iowa Code chapter 715C, the contractor shall be responsible for 
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complying with any applicable provisions of Iowa Code chapter 715C, including but not 
limited to any applicable consumer notification requirements. 

22. For purposes of this contract, the term “contractor” includes any officer or employee of 
the contractor with access to or who uses state tax information, and the term 
“subcontractor” includes any officer or employee of the subcontractor with access to or 
who uses state tax information. 

23. The contractor’s confidentiality obligations under this section shall survive the 
termination of this contract. 

24. IDR will have the right to void the contract if the contractor fails to meet the terms of 
state tax information safeguards described herein. 

III. Criminal/Civil Sanctions 
1. Each officer or employee of a contractor to whom state tax information is or may be 

disclosed shall be notified in writing that state tax information disclosed to such officer or 
employee can be used only for a purpose and to the extent authorized herein, that further 
disclosure of any state tax information for a purpose not authorized herein, and that 
access/inspection of state tax information without an official need-to-know for a purpose 
not authorized herein constitutes a serious misdemeanor punishable upon conviction by a 
fine of as much as $2,560 or imprisonment for as long as one year, or both, together with 
the costs of prosecution. 

2. Granting a contractor access to state tax information must be preceded by certifying that 
each officer or employee understands IDR’s security policy and procedures for 
safeguarding state tax information. A contractor and each officer or employee must 
maintain their authorization to access state tax information through annual recertification 
of their understanding of IDR’s security policy and procedures for safeguarding state tax 
information. The initial certification and recertifications must be documented and placed 
in IDR’s files for review. As part of the certification and at least annually afterwards, a 
contractor and each officer or employee must be advised of the provisions of IRC 
sections 7213, 7213A, and 7431, as well as Iowa Code sections 422.20 and 422.72. The 
training on IDR’s security policy and procedures provided before the initial certification 
and annually thereafter must also cover the incident response policy and procedure for 
reporting unauthorized disclosures and data breaches. The contractor may utilize IDR’s 
security training. If the contractor has their own security training in lieu of IDR’s security 
training, the contractor must receive written approval from IDR that the training meets 
IDR and IRS standards. For the initial certification and the annual recertifications, the 
contractor and each officer or employee must sign, either with ink or electronic signature, 
a confidentiality statement certifying their understanding of the security requirements. 

IV. Inspection. IDR, with 24-hour notice, shall have the right to send its inspectors into the offices 
and plants of the contractor to inspect facilities and operations performing any work with state tax 
information under this contract for compliance with requirements defined in IRS Publication 
1075. IDR’s right of inspection shall include the use of manual and/or automated scanning tools 
to perform compliance and vulnerability assessments of information technology (IT) assets that 
access, store, process or transmit state tax information. Based on the inspection, corrective actions 
may be required in cases where the contractor is found to be noncompliant with state tax 
information safeguard requirements. 
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Exhibit C – IDR Confidentiality Acknowledgement Form 

Acknowledgment of Statement of Confidentiality 
 

Authorization to access confidential information is limited to accounts or returns to which you are 
assigned for business purposes. Do not access, research, review, or change your own records. Do not 
access, research, review, or change the records of a relative, friend, neighbor, co-worker, celebrity, well-
known taxpayer, or any other taxpayer, unless authorized to do so as part of your official duties. 
Disclosing or accessing confidential information, even your own, without authorization may result in 
immediate termination of employment as outlined in the Iowa Department of Revenue (IDR) 
Confidentiality Policy and Procedures. 

 
Confidential Information: All information should be treated as confidential, unless specifically authorized 
by statute, rule, or regulation. Confidential information consists of both state and federal tax information, 
including personal data and personal information that is created, collected, handled, stored, processed, 
disseminated, and disposed of by IDR (hereinafter, collectively “confidential information”). 
  
Policy Statement: Employees are strictly prohibited from accessing or disclosing any confidential 
information without a legitimate business purpose. Employees are expressly prohibited from accessing their 
own confidential information. Records of family members, relatives, friends, neighbors, ex-spouses, 
acquaintances, or any other person for whom a reasonable person would believe there is a conflict of interest 
or where a personal relationship or an outside business relationship could raise questions about impartiality 
in handling of a related tax matter should not be accessed unless there is a business purpose. This includes 
any information accessed or disclosed while performing official duties, including training, demonstration, 
or troubleshooting need. 
  
If an employee has a business purpose to access records that could cause potential conflict of interest, they 
should notify their supervisor prior to accessing the record. 
  
Scope: This policy applies, but is not limited to, the proper use and disclosure of confidential information. 
The appropriate use of the agency records is the responsibility of all IDR resource users, including full-
time, part-time, and temporary employees; contractors; vendors; and other non-employees, who have access 
to IDR resources or are in a position to impact the security or integrity of information assets of the 
Department. 
 
Penalties & Enforcement: Employees may be monitored for compliance with this policy. Non-compliance 
may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. Criminal and/or civil action against users 
may be appropriate where laws are violated.  
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Release of Federal Tax Information 
Pursuant to the agreement between the State of Iowa and the IRS, I realize that information provided to the 
IDR by the Department of Treasury is confidential in nature. I am also aware that the following is 
punishable: 
1) The willful inspection (browsing) of information without authorization, or 
2) The willful release of such information to persons other than that intended by Iowa Department of 
Revenue policy and procedures. 
 
Federal Penalties for unauthorized disclosure/inspection of confidential information include: 
● Internal Revenue Code section 7213 – Felony, up to $5,000 fine, imprisonment up to five years, cost 

of prosecution. 
● Internal Revenue Code section 7213A – Misdemeanor, up to $1,000 fine, imprisonment up to one year, 

cost of prosecution. 
● Internal Revenue Code section 7431 - Damages may include $1,000 per act, actual damages, punitive 

damages, cost of legal action, attorney fees. 
  

Release of State Tax Information 
Pursuant to the Code of Iowa, I understand the willful or reckless release of confidential information in 
a manner inconsistent with Iowa law is punishable as set forth below. I also understand that the willful 
inspection (browsing) of tax records is a violation of Iowa law. 
  

State Penalties for willful browsing and unauthorized disclosure of confidential information include: 
● Iowa Code sections 422.20 and 422.72 – Serious misdemeanor, up to $2,560 fine, imprisonment up to 

one year, loss of job, potential of personal liability in a lawsuit brought by the affected taxpayer. 
 

I acknowledge that I am expected to: 
● Be knowledgeable on the above policies and penalties; 
● Speak with my supervisor if I have questions or need clarification; and 
● Notify my supervisor immediately if I become aware of a possible compromise of confidential 

information. 

              

Print Name   Signature   Date   IDR Division / Company Name 

 
Contact IDRDisclosure@iowa.gov for information or assistance with this form. 
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MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

This Memorandum of Understanding (this "MOU") is made and entered into as of August 9, 
2022, by the Iowa County Recorders Association ("ICRA") and the Electronic Services System 
("ESS"). ICRA and ESS are collectively referred to as the "Parties." 

BACKGROUND 
The Electronic Services System (ESS) is a 28E organization in the State of Iowa organized to 
administer the Iowa Land Records system (ILR or CLRIS) and other electronic services for 
county government and related organizations. The Iowa County Recorders Association (ICRA) 
is a private not-for-profit association serving county recorders who are independently elected 
county officials. Iowa County Recorders have historically played a leadership role in the creation 
and operation of ESS and the Iowa Land Records system. The mission and goals of county 
recorders and ESS are similar, and their interests are often compatible. This compatibility 
affords opportunities for functional collaboration and resource sharing. 

ESS and ICRA have identified potential areas of collaboration and resource sharing and have 
expressed a desire to further define their mutual goals and expectations as well as any terms or 
limitations of any cooperative activities. Specifically, the respective organizations have a mutual 
interest in building their capacity to engage in policy development, coordination and advocacy, 
to engage in communications with recorders, other county officials, stakeholders and policy 
makers, and to organize and conduct various, meeting, conferences and events. 

Because ESS and ICRA are separate organizations with different sources of funding and 
different obligations and responsibilities regarding the expenditure of those resources, it is 
therefore prudent and necessary to set out a description of the respective duties and 
responsibilities of each organization concerning any collaborative activities or shared resources. 

UNDERSTANDING 

A. Human Resources.

1. ESS will employ professional staff to perform duties in the following areas
a. policy development, coordination and advocacy
b. communications and marketing
c. event planning and meeting coordination

2. The employed staff will be principally working in service to ESS
3. Subject to the mutual agreement of ESS, ICRA leadership and ESS

management, ESS staff may be assigned to perform duties in service to ICRA;
such services shall not conflict with the goals, mission, and priorities of ESS

4. ICRA shall reimburse ESS for the services provided by ESS staff; reimbursement
shall be based on the actual hourly cost of the personnel assigned to any ICRA
task or function

5. The basis for the actual hourly cost shall be the actual cost of compensation
(gross wages), employer paid benefits, and administrative costs (FICA,
FUTA, SUTA, Workers Compensation, and HR administrative fee)
associated with each participating ESS staff
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MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

 

member, excluding overhead such as office space, utilities, equipment and 
supporting technology services 

6. Monthly, ESS shall invoice ICRA for any services rendered, and such invoices 
shall itemize information about the tasks performed and the time invested in 
services to ICRA 

7. The work of ESS staff shall be under the direction of the ESS Project 
Manager/Administrator. However, ICRA leadership including the President and 
the Legislative Co-Chairs may directly coordinate tasks in service to ICRA with 
the assigned ESS staff whenever appropriate. If there is ever any circumstance in 
which there is an apparent conflict with the goals, mission and priorities of ESS, 
such conflict shall be resolved by the ESS Project Manager/Administrator in 
cooperation with the ESS Coordinating Committee Chair and the ICRA President. 

8. ICRA and ESS leadership shall, not less than annually, review the 
collaborative arrangements and adjust or change the agreement as necessary. 

 
B. Term. The initial term of this agreement shall be retroactively effective beginning July 

10, 2022, ESS and shall end December 31, 2022. Thereafter, the term of this Agreement 
shall be automatically extended for subsequent one-year periods unless ICRA or ESS is 
provided with a notice of intent by the other party to not extend the Agreement. Such notice 
shall be provided no less than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of each one-year term. 

 
C. Termination. This Memorandum of Understanding may be terminated by either party at 

any time for any reason. 
 

D. Scope of Work. Specific tasks and functions assigned to ESS staff under this MOU are 
specified in Attachment A. The Scope of Work may be amended as necessary subject to 
the mutual agreement of the parties. 

 
E. ESS staff will log any activities associated with this MOU in the team time reporting 

system (JIRA). 
 

F. Budget and Time Allocation. A budget for each of the primary functions defined in the 
Scope of Work (generally to cover policy, communications, and event planning 
activities) is specified in Attachment B. 

 
The Parties hereto have caused this MOU to be executed as of the date set forth below. 

 
APPROVED BY: Electronic Services System 

 
 
By: Nancy Booten 
Date:  August 9, 2022 
Title:  Chair 

APPROVED BY: ICRA 
 

By: Sheri Jones 
Date:  August 9, 2022 
Title:  President 
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Attachment A – Scope of Work 
 

 

Policy Development, Coordination and Advocacy Functions 
 

 Assist ICRA Leadership and ICRA Legislative Liaisons with the following tasks 
o Research and develop policy proposals and initiatives requiring legislative action 
o Research and develop policy proposals and initiatives requiring administrative 

action by a state or federal agency or by other government entities 
o Coordinate policy input from ICRA members for consideration in the 

Association’s legislative agenda and/or the ISAC legislative agenda 
o Prepare materials and content which may be used to communicate about policy 

proposals and initiatives 
 Working in collaboration with the ICRA Legislative Liaisons, register as a lobbyist on 

behalf of ICRA and assist with maintaining a professional presence with state legislators, 
state officials, and other policy makers, and acting as an advocate for ICRA legislative 
and administrative positions. 

 Assisting with the coordination, development and maintenance of content for the ICRA 
“Recorders Manual” 

 
Communications and Marketing Functions 
 

 Assist ICRA Leadership and ICRA volunteers with efforts to communicate and educate 
citizens and public officials about the important functions performed by county 
recorders. These efforts may include the following 

o Maintaining and publishing a recorders’ directory 
o Maintaining and publishing a map identifying the recorders in each county 
o Maintaining and publishing a brochure about county recorders 
o Assisting with communication efforts with respect to policy initiatives and state 

and local policy makers 
 
 
 
 
 
Event Planning and Meeting Coordination 
 

 Assist ICRA Leadership with the planning and execution of association events including 
annual and summer conferences. These efforts may include the following 

o Assisting with the development of the program and content for ICRA events 
o Assisting with the planning and administration of ICRA events including 

arrangements with meeting venues and other service providers 
o Assisting with the use of technology for virtual or “hybrid” presentations 

 Assist with ICRA regional efforts to coordinate events with key stakeholders, including 
but not limited to events operating under the PRIA Local program 
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Attachment B – Budget 
 

 

Policy Development, Coordination and Advocacy Functions 
 

Activity ESS Team Member Estimated 
Hours 

Estimated 
Budget 

ICRA Policy Research, 
Development, Planning 

Census Lo-liyong 
200 

$9,000.00 

Capitol Presence Census Lo-liyong 300.00 $13,500.00 
Stakeholder 
Communications 

Census Lo-liyong 
Kati Ross 75.00 

$3,375.00 

Recorders Manual 
Census Lo-liyong 
Kati Ross 100 

$4,500.00 

  Total 675  $30,375.00 
 
 
Communications and Marketing Functions 
 

Activity ESS Team Member Estimated 
Hours 

Estimated 
Budget 

Directory Maintenance and 
Publication (Online and 
Print) 

Kati Ross 

40.00 

$1,800.00 

Recorders' Brochure 
Creation, Maintenance 
(Excludes Printing Costs) 

Kati Ross 

20.00 

$900.00 

Map Creation, Update 
Printing costs tbd 

Kati Ross 
20.00 

$900.00 

Other (assisting with other 
communications)  

Kati Ross 
Corrie Strasser 0.00 

$0.00 

  Total 80.00  $3,600.00 
 
 
 
 
Event Planning and Meeting Coordination 
 

Activity ESS Team Member Estimated 
Hours 

Estimated 
Budget 

Assist ICRA with planning 
and execution of 3 
conferences 

Kati Ross 
Lisa Long 
Corrie Strasser 40.00 

$1,800.00 

Assist ICRA with up to 3 
regional stakeholder (PRIA 
local) meetings 

Kati Ross 
Lisa Long 
Corrie Strasser 40.00 

$1,800.00 

  Total 80.00  $3,600.00 
 

Total Estimated Hours: 835 
Total Estimated Cost: $37,575.00 
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Quotation ID:
Date/Time: 

Page 1 of 280047862
08/05/2022 11:50:58 AM

Quotation
Prepared Exclusively for: 

Electronic Services System
Phil Dunshee

8711 Windsor Pkwy

Johnston, IA 50131-2296

Prepared by:

Jerome Gribben
NAMED ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE
Office:  (641) 529-2094

jgribben@kmbs.konicaminolta.us

Offer Expires: 09/03/2022

Product: Device & Software
Installation Location - 1: Electronic Services System,  8711 Windsor Pkwy,  Johnston, IA 50131-2296
Delivery Contact: 

Qty Product Description Product Configuration

1 Bizhub C250i Bizhub C250i - Color A3 Mfp/28 Ppm, Tn-328y Yellow Toner, Tn-328m Magenta 
Toner, Tn-328c Cyan Toner, Tn-328k Black Toner, Mfp Delivery Charge - Level One, 
Basic Network Service - Bns04, Kmpf Lease Return 1st Unit, Df-714 Dual Scan Auto 
Document Fder, Pc-216 Cabinet, Fs-533 Inner Finisher, Recycled Power Filter 
120v/15a, Bizhub Secure Platinum For Onerate

Maintenance Services 

        TMMaintenance Plan: One Rate Term:  48 Months

Entitlements:  Toner, Digital Connected Support , Staples, No In Term Annual Escalation

Installation Location - 1:  Electronic Services System,  8711 Windsor Pkwy,  Johnston, IA 50131-2296

Qty
Bill 
Plan TypeDevice

Pages 
Included

Values shown per device 

Bizhub C250i 1 One Rate Unlimited
        TM                                               

Existing Financial Considerations

Buyout/Upgrade – Direct Settlement (included in projected payment)

Funding Source Account Number Type
Konica Minolta Premier Finance 25546796 Upgrade to Return
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Quotation ID:
Date/Time: 

Page 2 of 280047862
08/05/2022 11:50:58 AM

Quotation Summary & Acceptance 

Transaction Type : Lease - Fair Market Value Purchase Option Term: 48 Months

Projected Monthly Obligation(s): Amount 
 $335.02 Device/Software/Maintenance Services:

Total(Excluding applicable taxes)  $335.02 

Please contact Jerome Gribben,  (641) 529-2094, to accept this quotation and have an Order/Lease Agreement delivered for 
signature.

Note: 36 Month Lease Would be $391.85 per month
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Service Order :  Hosted VOIP Proposal

Electronic Service System 8/4/2022

Customer Approval:

Signature Printed Name Date

Avid Approval:

Signature Printed Name Date

Customer selects services listed on this page

$50.00 1 $50.00Account Administration See Details Below

$17.50 5 $87.50Per-user Charge Full Users with Voicemail

$10.00 5 $50.00Mitel 6867i rental

Unit Price TotalQuantityItem Memo

Full User Includes MAX UC Mobile App & Softphone

PreTax Monthly Charges Total $187.50

Unit Price TotalQuantityItem Memo

One-Time Charges Total $0.00

Services listed above provided under 3-year agreement beginning on the installation date.

Please Note: This proposal is valid for 30 days. 50% of one-time charges due upon signing and the rest at installation.

Monthly Recurring Charges

One-Time Charges

Estimated Taxes $6.26
Monthly Charges Total $193.76

Estimated Taxes $0.00
One-Time Charges Total $0.00

Account Administration includes equipment onsite, installation, DID's/porting current phone #'s, auto attendant,
music/message on hold, webportal access, training, one touch customer service Avid Button 24/7/365, 1,500
minutes of domestic long distance per month (overage long distance billed at $.025 a minute), unlimited local
calling area minutes per month, includes a power supply for each phone if needed

Promo

This Service Order executed under and incorporates terms of the Master Service Agreement (MSA) as if MSA fully set forth herein.

8711 Windsor Parkway
Johnston IA 50131

Service Location

Laren Landgren (816) 994-7072 llandgren@avidphone.comQuestions on this proposal? Contact:
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Enterprise Iowa 

Statement of Work 
 O365 Tenant Migration 

Thursday, July 28, 2022 

Proposal Ref: 11659262 

Prepared by: 
Cecille Rice, Customer Success Manager 
Kent Moen, Systems Architect 

All Covered 
Roseville MN 
763-300-9109

Pricing is valid for 15 days from date of this document 
Confidential.  Not to be distributed to third parties  

ESS Committee - Page 65



Overview 
The purpose of this Statement of Work is to outline the path that will enable All Covered, a 
division of Konica Minolta Business Solutions U.S.A., Inc., to deliver a professional services 
engagement for Enterprise Iowa (“Client”). 

This Statement of Work is based on an initial scope of work but is not a detailed project 
plan. A project plan will be created and managed by the technical resources assigned to the 
project once the Statement of Work has been approved. 

Background 
AC will move 2 current Microsoft domains from acenterpriseiowa.microsoft.com and their 
users over to  ElectronicServicesSystem.onmicrosoft.com. 

There are also some files on the local fileserver that will be migrated over to their Sharepoint 
site. 

Assumptions 
Standard project deployment assumptions: 

• The Project will include, but not be limited to the following: 
          - Definition of project/estimated costs 
          - Project prerequisites, should they apply 
          - Project implementation 
          - Project management/documentation 
          - Procurement of required materials 

• During the procurement process, All Covered can assist by expediting the delivery of 
equipment and standardizing billing for all costs associated with this project.  All 
procurement pricing included in this Statement of Work is estimated. Once the Statement of 
Work is signed a final quote will be generated with the most current procurement pricing. 

• Client understands that service interruptions may occur throughout the course of the 
project. All Covered will make reasonable efforts to forewarn personnel so they may 
prepare. 

• Access to the physical space, server and services will be made available during normal 
business hours. 

• Access to all employees and their equipment affected by the Project will be made 
available during normal business hours. 

• After Hours work will be performed both on-site as well as via Remote Access 
depending upon the advantage and/or necessity of being on-site versus remote.  The 
specifics of which item(s) should be done on-site versus remotely will be finalized prior to the 
project kickoff. 

• All Covered is not responsible for the following: 
          - Removing boxes or shipping materials 
          - Disposing of or transporting IT equipment 
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• Any items not specifically addressed by this Statement of Work will be addressed by a 
mutually agreed change order.  

Assumptions Specific to this Project 
• Services are quoted using All Covered approved designs, and assumes that customer is 

utilizing recommended hardware, software and configuration best practices to support new 
and existing systems. Unknown, unapproved or unsupported hardware and software will be 
serviced with a best-effort approach, and any additional time and/or materials needed to 
provide a complete solution will be quoted in project Change Order.  

• All systems within the scope of this engagement must be in proper working order. Steps 
taken to remediate systems not in a ‘healthy’ state will be considered outside the scope of 
the engagement. 

• Any system(s) being affected by the project have adequate backup and restoration 
capabilities and the appropriate precautions have been taken. 

• All necessary security clearance, access, parking, passwords, and technical resources 
are provided without delay during the Engagement. 

• Access to power and physical facilities, wiring, cable space, cabinet, and shelf or rack 
space are available for all equipment within the scope of this project. 

• Client is responsible for providing a single point of contact for project coordination with 
All Covered. 

• Client is responsible for providing timely clarification and resolution regarding the 
integrity of data/information supplied to All Covered. 

• If the information presented to All Covered is found to be inaccurate, we reserve the right 
to initiate a change order to account for the extra services not incorporated into the 
proposal. 

• Client already has the necessary MS licenses. 
• Only mailboxes will be migrated from the old tenant. 
• All Hardware and Software are under vendor support. 
• Anything not specifically mentioned is out of the scope of this project.  

Project Deliverables 
The desired goals of this project are: 

• Procurement of items listed within Cost estimate section enabling successful completion 
of scope provided by this Statement of Work. 

• AC will move the the following domains: 
•    - iowalandrecords.org 
•    - clris.com 
• from acenterpriseiowa.onmicrosoft.com over to 

ElectronicServicesSystem.onmicrosoft.com. 
• 9 users will be migrated from the above 2 domains over to the ElectronicServicesSystem 

domain. 
• The documents that reside on the server going to Sharepoint will be handled as a phase 

2 project by the AC  AppDev team.  
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Pre-Project Tasks 
Project Planning, Procurement, Ensure equipment arrival, Initial project kick-off  

Project Tasks 
  
[Planning] 
     Review the current Microsoft 365 tenant information as necessary 
     Collect public domain, DNS and MX information 
     Verify with client the mailboxes to be migrated along with the features and functions 
required within Microsoft 365 
     Develop Project Plan 
     Develop Timeline Plan 
  
[Initial Prep] 
     Deploy and configure the Migration Toolkits 
Reconfigure O365 Tenant as required / Resolve any tenant/domain issues 
  
[Migration] 
     Office 365 Email Migration (estimated 9) 
  
[Go Live] 
     Finalize migration 
     Remove Domain from source tenant 
     Add Domain to new tenant 
     Modify Public DNS 
Stop and start mailflow at Proofpoint after cutover 
     Test and verify mail flow 
Re-configure MFD for scan to email 
[Day One Support] 
     Insure all users can send and receive email (maximum 4 hours) 
  
Post Project Support 
Project Management  
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Cost Breakdown  

Service                                                                                                              Price 
Project Services                                                                                              $5,445 
      Fixed Fee Project 
Hardware / Software                                                                                        $135 
      See Appendix A for Hardware / Software quotes 
Total Project Cost                                                                                            $5,580 

All prices are exclusive of any applicable sales or use taxes, and shipping costs.  

All Fixed-Fee Projects with labor fees exceeding $10,000:  These require a 50% deposit for 
the labor portion.  Project work will not commence until the deposit is received.  Also, a 
progress billing of 25% of the labor amount will be due when the project moves into the 

testing phase.  The remaining 25% of the labor amount will be billed on project completion.  
Any Procurement items will be billed on shipment. 

 

Financing Options 
36 Months:   $191       48 Months:    $151      60 Months:   $126  

This is an estimated monthly payment for financing project services and all related 
hardware/software. Not all customers will qualify and in some cases projects with greater than 50% 

labor or hardware/software may not qualify for full financing.  Please contact your sales 
representative for additional information. 

 

Order Summary & Acceptance  

Effective Date: The date on which the services described in this Statement of Work are set 
up and first delivered to you.  

Your signature below constitutes your acceptance of this Statement of Work, including our 
standard terms and conditions available online at the URL link(s) provided below or in hard 
copy upon request, which you have reviewed and accepted and which are incorporated into 
this Statement of Work. 
 

All Covered Professional Services Terms:  
https://services.allcovered.com/EhHPja_PS_Terms_v1.0.3 

 
This Statement of Work is not binding upon us until signed by a Konica Minolta branch 
manager, vice president, or executive officer. 
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Pricing valid for 15 days from the date of this document, pending credit approval. 
Confidential - not to be distributed to third parties. 

 
_____________________________________________________________________  

Client: Enterprise Iowa 
Signature: 
{{_es_signer1_signature                                                              }}  

Name:  {{_es_signer1_fullname                                                              }} 
Title:     {{_es_signer1_title                                                                    }} 
Date Signed:    {{_es_signer1_date                                                }} 
_____________________________________________________________________  

All Covered, a division of Konica Minolta Business Solutions U.S.A., Inc. 
Signature: 
{{_es_signer2_signature                                                                                    }}  

Name: {{_es_signer2_fullname                                                     }} 
Title:   {{_es_signer2_title                                                               }} 
Date Signed:   {{_es_signer2_date                                                    }} 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

 
Appendix A 
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Iowa Land Records (ILR) Consultation Report 

The Iowa Land Records held consultation meetings with stakeholders (policy) and focus groups (industry 

specific end users). The purpose of the meeting was to give stakeholders and users an opportunity to 

comment about the proposed enhancements to the Iowa Land Records portal. The process involved 

hosting two meetings with stakeholders and five meetings with portal focus group users.  

The stakeholder meetings were held on July 20th and 28th,2022. The focus group meetings were held on 

July 26th, 27th and 28th 2022. The focus groups were divided into the following industry groups:  

Bankers/Mortgage Companies and Credit Unions; Real Estate Attorneys & Paralegals; Land Title 

Professionals; Surveyors and Realtors.   

Presentation 

The Project Manager, Phil Dunshee presented two presentations, the first for the stakeholders titled 

“ILR Stakeholder” and the focus group presentation titled “ILR Registered User”. The two presentations 

are attached. 

Introduction 

The presentation started with a brief history of the Iowa Land Records, its legislative requirements, and 

the land records user portal. The ILR portal has remained the same since going live in 2005. It was 

explained that the ILR team is in a process of updating the portal, this will lead to the next phase of E‐

submission and portal search software. This presentation aimed to reach a consensus on the User 

Interface, Search Functions and Workflow.  

Search Workflows 

The planned updates on the search interface will impact search criteria, document view limits and the 

image viewer. The current search allows for multi‐county and individual county search; it also has a 

document limit of 120 document views per day. The different industry professionals reviewed the 

search parameters and provided feedback on whether to keep or remove certain parameters. A 

proposed update will include an image viewer, users will be able to view images and then select to 

download and print as opposed to automatic downloads. 

The stakeholders and the focus groups were also introduced to existing features in the portal which 

were not frequently used such as searching by clicking on the map, the ability to save your search 

parameters and using Search Tips.  

DRAFT
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Comments Received 

Based on the comments, the different parties welcomed the inclusion of an image viewer as 

opposed to automatic downloads. Most users requested that the Basic Search and Advance 

Search remained as they catered the different level of users. Focus group members from the 

legal and banking profession proposed a simplified version of the search parameters because 

they do not always have all the details of the property. 

  

Industry professionals required a simplified search that would recognize a name or the property 

address. A search workflow that allows for searching Section, Township and Range will simplify 

the process and the ability to search using property address. Other users requested if it would 

be possible to search partials. The industry professionals preferred using a map to select 

counties instead of the multi‐county search tab, but they also proposed a tab that included a list 

of favorite counties (maximum 5 counties). The focus groups want an option to click on 

associated documents too. 

 

The main challenges identified related to the lack of results when using similar search 

parameters across the 99 counties. The stakeholders and focus group users were concerned 

with the lack of normalization from the counties, they welcomed utilizing the [Search Tips] for 

now.  The search engine does not recognize names due to misspelling; this can be resolved by 

using a wildcard in the search terms. 

  

Frequent users of the [Advanced Search] identified a glitch in the system, a first search for 

records does not provide images but a second search of the same record yields image results. 

This could be due to a workflow, ILR will investigate it further. 

 

Next Steps for ILR and Developers Team 

 

1. Propose the inclusion of a favorites tab for counties 

2. Continue conversation with county recorders regarding record normalization 

3. Redefine search parameters 

4. Proceed with the image viewer option 

 

User Management  

 

The current user registration allows anyone to register and as part of the original legislation, the service 

is free to the public. The only current verification process is through supplying a verified e‐mail address. 

This does not verify the individual and has resulted in various users creating fake accounts and 

downloading more records than the 120 daily record limits. Some entities create fake accounts to access 

large amount of data for financial purposes. ILR has also encountered users accessing the system from 

foreign IP address, which is prohibited. This illegal access results in valuable time spent by the 

developers blocking these accounts.  Iowa Land Records is considering a verification system that can 

control the different user profiles by requiring users to input a payment method as a form of 
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authentication. It is also possible the current e‐submission users would automatically be ported over to 

the portal system and that other users would need to re‐register or apply to become a user of the portal 

service.  

ILR is also considering controlling the maximum number of records that can be accessed in a day. Focus 

group attendees were asked to comment on the number of documents they need to access in one day 

and asked if the current limit of 120 was sufficient for their line of work. ILR has suggested an 

amendment to the Iowa Code 331.605B legislation that would give ILR authorization to establish the 

“Terms of Use”. 

 

  Comments Received             

 

The comments received was positive, all groups agreed that setting up a verification method 

was important for security of the system. User accounts can be setup based on a specific entity / 

organization and the entity would verify its portal users. ILR would setup users based on specific 

hierarchy of access. This hierarchy will also determine the number of records that can be 

downloaded per day. The stakeholders and user groups were all in consensus with the 

suggested amendments for the “Terms of Use.” 

 

Next Steps for ILR and Developers Team 

 

1. Draft amendments to the “Terms of Use”  

2. Develop a hierarchy of organizations with access to a specified number of documents per day. 

3. Further discussions on utilization of Credit Card as a verification method or coordinating with 

public agency that verifies users. 

4. User accounts will be setup based on an organization; each agency will be responsible for its 

users. 

 

 

Data Transfer 

 

The data transfer presentation was exclusive to the stakeholders. ILR collaborates with various partners, 

both public government agencies (DNR and IRS) and legitimate third‐party agencies who access records 

regularly. These agencies may benefit from batch transfer or API access. In 2005, legislators prohibited 

ILR from “batch transfer” of records but can be revisited to control users and monitor legitimate access. 

ILR is also aware that the different associations are concerned that it will be used by competitors to 

setup their own agencies.  

 

  Comments Received 

The stakeholders approved batch transfer using an API to give access to legitimate public 

agencies (DNR and Department of Revenue). A major concern about other agencies getting 

access to the batch data, whether there be specified guardrails used to verify the agencies. The 

stakeholders also agreed with providing aggregated data, a fee will be charged, and this can be 

split between the counties and ILR. 
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Next Steps for ILR and Developers Team 

 

1. Draft amendments to include batch transfer and API access to legitimate public agencies 

2. Commence further discussions on guardrails to verify agencies. 

3. Commence further discussion on a chargeable rate for aggregate data sharing include legislative 

requirement. 

 

Smart Contracts 

In 2022, House File 2443 Smart Contracts was passed in the Iowa Legislation. This legislation sets ground 

rules regarding smart contracts and distributed ledger technology. The Bill requires that all real estate 

transactions in the blockchain are recorded by a county recorder. It was explained to stakeholders that 

more work will be done in the next 5 ‐ 6 month focused on the policies required to guide smart 

contracts in real estate. 

  Comments 

Most stakeholders were concerned about the knowledge sharing gap regarding smart contracts. 

The major concerns raised were on the process of conducting property transfer on the 

blockchain; the role of recorders in smart contracts; the role of various organizations such as the 

Iowa Land Title Association. To move this process forward, a brief will be developed by ILR on 

smart contracts in real estate and a working group will be setup comprising of the different 

stakeholders to develop a framework on smart contracts. The working group will include 

members of the Bar association, mortgage lenders and abstractors and city attorneys. 

Stakeholders also suggested that the working group could also learn from the states that are 

using smart contracts such as Indiana, Florida.   

Next Steps for ILR and Developers Team 

 

1. Set up a working group to study real estate smart contracts.  

2. ILR compile introductory study material on the real estate smart contracts for recorders and 

stakeholders. 

 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the stakeholders and focus group user engagement process was successful. Both parties 

provided valuable feedback that will be included in the portal updates. A survey was shared with both 

users and E‐submitters to acquire general feedback from a wider audience. The results will be available 

in the next few months. Iowa Land Records will start working on the next steps and provide regular 

feedback. 
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Iowa Land 
Records Portal
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IOWA LAND RECORDS FAST FACTS

Records
• Electronic Documents from all 99 counties
• Currently more than 22 million records
• Grows by 600,000+ each year
• “Back File” Scanning is a county function
• Accessible recording dates vary by county

 Pocahontas – 2011
 Linn – 1976
 Polk – 1992

• Index Data is not “normalized”

Users
• Overall - 20,000 +
• Average Active Users Per Month – 7,500

Annual Searches – 4+ million

Redaction
• All records posted online are reviewed for PII
• Identified PII is redacted through a centralized 

process following consistent rules
• ILR provides redaction services to all counties
• ILR implements the Back the Blue redaction 

program for recorders
• Counties are required to transfer unaltered 

document images to ILR – no local redaction

User Access
• Structured for Professional Users
• Policy of 120 record accessed per day per user
• Searches from foreign IP addresses blocked
• Users who exceed limits or circumvent policies are 

blacklisted and IP addresses are blocked
• Batch Transfers are legally prohibited
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IOWA LAND RECORDS DATABASE WORKFLOW

Paper Documents

• Recorder records, indexes, scans and 
archives

• Records are transferred to ILR
• ILR processes for PII and redacts as needed
• Records are posted for public online access

Later …
Recorders may edit the indexes
Recorders may restamp within 5 business days
Recorders may request image replacement
Recorders/users may request redaction

Electronic Documents

• ILR presents electronic documents to recorder 
for review

• When approved, county downloads the 
electronic documents

• Recorder records, indexes, and archives
• Records are transferred to ILR
• ILR processes for PII and redacts as needed
• Records are posted for public online access

Later …
Recorders may edit the indexes
Recorders may restamp within 5 business days
Recorders may request image replacement
Recorders/users may request redaction
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IOWA LAND RECORDS “PORTAL”

• The Future Design of this part of the Iowa Land Records website will be significantly affected 
by decisions already made.
 Information about recorders, including an online  county recorder directory, training 

resources, and information about the Electronic Services System are now published on 
an updated set of “landing pages”

 Branding will conform with the new logo, etc.
 The result will be the creation of the new “Land Records Search” application including 

the search engine, search tools and user management
 The application will operate on a modern, more secure platform 
 The “portal” as we have known it – will be no more …
 The User Interface, Search Functions and Workflow are being addressed in a series of 

user/customer focus groups
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Iowa Land 
Records Site
User Management
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KEY 
STAKEHOLDER 
TOPICS

 Search Workflows

 User Registration and Management

 Data Transfer and External Integrations

 Smart Contracts

ESS Committee - Page 84



SEARCH 
WORKFLOWS

• The interface encourages complex searches; examples include:
 Multi-county, No date range limits, Multiple Criteria, Confusing Filters (e.g. “Show One 

Result Per Land Record”)
 Broad Searches Often Result in: “Your search has exceeded the maximum number of results that can be returned. 

Please refine your search parameters and resubmit your search.”

• “Simple” searches might produce better results
 Name, Property, Reference Number, Date Range, Document Type

• Other Options Being Considered
 Changing the limit on document views, and programmatically enforcing the limits
 Prohibiting or limiting multi-county searches
 Establishing constraints on allowed date ranges
 Changing the Image Viewer Platform from PDF to Prizm
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Search 
Engine 
Utilization
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TECHNICAL CHALLENGES
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USER 
MANAGEMENT

• Current Registration Process: Open
 Users Self Register, No validation of identity
 Acceptance of Terms of Use and Privacy Policy required
 Acceptance of PII policies required
 reCAPTCHA used to prevent automated logins

• ILR continually encounters users who attempt to circumvent the rules

• It is now common for ILR to block IP addresses and to blacklist users

• Options Being Considered
 Changing to “closed” registration
 Basing registration on organizational identity
 Verify authenticity by requiring the registration of a payment method
 Providing E-Submission users with “automatic” access
 Permitting individual citizen access by application/verification of identity 
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The system 
has simple 
Terms and 
Conditions.
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The user registration 
allows any individual 
to register but doesn’t 
have a system that 
validates the 
individual's identity.
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USER 
REGISTRATION 
CHALLENGES

User registration does not 
have a validation process.

Some organizations create 
false multiple users to 
download multiple records

IT support spends more 
time blocking users 
violating terms of use.
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USER MANAGEMENT
Current Terms of Use

 Individual users are prohibited from viewing or downloading more than 120 documents per day
 Users are prohibited from setting up a fictitious identity or impersonation to circumvent the published Terms of Use
 Users are prohibited from setting up accounts and their associated IP addresses to circumvent the daily document details and/or document image 

limitations
 Users are prohibited from setting up accounts and their associated IP addresses to circumvent the foreign access prohibition (accessing the Iowa 

Land Records website from an IP address outside of the United States is prohibited unless special permission is granted)
 Users are prohibited from setting up accounts and their associated IP addresses to circumvent policies prohibiting illegal or unauthorized uses 

Possible Iowa Code Amendment

Section 331.605B, Code 2022, is amended by adding the following new subsection: NEW SUBSECTION. 3.  The governing board of the county land record 
information system may establish appropriate Terms of Use for the operation of the system and associated applications, websites, data and images. The 
Terms shall include provisions to ensure that the system is maintained as a source of information and services for real estate professionals in the conduct of 
their professional responsibilities. The Terms of Use may provide reasonable limitations on usage, and requirements relating to the authentication of users, 
the prohibition of illegal or unauthorized uses, and the prohibition of foreign access from an IP address located outside of the United States. 
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DATA 
TRANSFER

 In the beginning, the individual search limits were intended to control usage 
and avoid heavy activity that might adversely affect the majority of users

 For those seeking access to bulk data, transfer was planned to be through 
an Application Programming Interface (API)

 A bulk access fee was proposed, with income to be shared with the source 
counties

 In 2005, ILR was legislatively prohibited from “batch” transfer
 Counties continue to be permitted to engage in “batch” transfer
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DATA 
TRANSFER

• Can This Policy Be Revisited?

• Options To Consider
 Permit Batch or API Transfers to Other Public Agencies

 Example: Declaration of Value to Department of Revenue
 Example: Groundwater Hazard Statements to Department of Natural Resources

 Permit Batch or API Transfers to Approved and Legitimate Third-Party Organizations
 Example: Current, Iowa-based abstract and title companies (designated by ITG?)
 Example: Reputable research and service organizations such as CoreLogic LexisNexis

 Validate API Access for Individual Record Searches Approved and Legitimate Third-Party 
Organizations
 Example: Beacon and Schneider Corporation (host of numerous county assessor databases)
 Example: Fidlar Tapestry system (https://www.fidlar.com/tapestry.aspx) [potential access fee]

 Permit Aggregation of Data Anonymously 
 Example: Profile of market activity in a geographic area [potential service fee]
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EXTERNAL 
INTEGRATION

 Iowa Land Records currently has a simple integration with the Beacon assessor 
information system

 How valuable would it be for Iowa Land Records to establish deeper integrations with
other land records data systems?
 Better Access to Auditor/Assessor/GIS Data?
 Commercial Real Estate Data Systems?

As noted in the ILR 2022 report to the legislature, the technology exists to do this. The 
creation of these integrations requires planning, collaboration, programming, 
coordination and customer support and greater financial resources. 
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SMART 
CONTRACTS

House File 2443
554E.4 Conveyance of real estate interest evidenced by electronic record
Any transaction subject to this chapter that is intended to be evidenced by an instrument affecting real estate as 
defined in section 558.1 and is intended to provide constructive notice pursuant to section 558.11, or by any 
instrument that is otherwise required by law to be recorded by the office of the county recorder, shall be evidenced 
by a document that complies with the provisions of chapter 558, in a format suitable for recording and conforming 
with the document standards as established by the electronic services system.

Current ESS Policy
An Electronic Document which includes the necessary and required information to record a transaction, and which 
conforms to document formatting requirements in the same manner as is required of a scanned Traditional Paper 
Document or as a rendered Electronic Document, shall be submitted for recording as a representation of a Smart 
Contract. An Electronic Document which represents a Smart Contract and conforms to the requirements of Iowa law 
shall be accepted for recording.

As provided in Section 331.601A, subsection 3 which provides a definition for an Electronic Document, “Persons 
who submit electronic documents for recording are responsible for ensuring that the electronic documents comply 
with all requirements for recording.” This responsibility includes the assurance that any Electronic Document which 
is representative of a Smart Contract is legally and properly executed.
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OTHER 
TOPICS

 What did we miss? 
 What do you hear from your team members?
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NEXT 
STEPS

 Summary of Stakeholder Discussion
 Provide responses to unresolved questions
 Follow Up Discussions
 Keep informed of software development decisions and progress
 Possible fall stakeholder meeting?

 Prepare legislative proposals, if any, for review and feedback – Sept./Oct.
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WE WOULD LIKE TO HEAR FROM YOU! 
PLEASE COMPLETE THE ASSOCIATED SURVEY TO 
PROVIDE US WITH FEEDBACK.
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Summary of Changes 

1. Global update of references from Aureon or Oasis to Paychex 

2. Updated support addresses, phone numbers or emails to be the current Paychex information 

3. Added information about employment authorization verification processes –  page 10 

4. Added references to ESS as a public entity subject to Iowa Code 21 and 22 ‐  page 10 

5. Added reference to ESS security ‐   page 10 

6. Clarified policy about acting as a spokesperson for ESS ‐  page 12 

7. Added a reference to the ESS Coordinating Committee regarding Whistleblowers ‐  page 15 

8. Added a reference to Home Email Addresses to the Personal Information section ‐  page 16 

9. Added information about the ESS benefit open enrollment period ‐  page 16 

10. Added a reference for teleconferencing services to the Personal Call policy ‐  page 18 

11. Clarified that meal and rest periods may be adjusted for early arrival or departures ‐  page 21 

12. Clarified expectations on notice for TO requests ‐  page 21 

13. Clarified that text or instant message is appropriate for schedule change notices ‐  page 22 

14. Clarified that PTO should be used for personal appointments ‐   page 22 

15. Clarified procedures in cases of inclement weather ‐  page 22 

16. Clarified procedures and expectations for remote work ‐  page 23 

17. Added information about expectations for team collaboration ‐  page 23 

18. Added information about expectations for logging work activities ‐   page 23 

19. Added information about performance reviews ‐  page 25 

20. Clarified procedures for expense reimbursement ‐  page 25 

21. Change mileage reimbursement to match IRS allowances ‐  page 25 

22. Added information about the use of ESS credit cards ‐  page 25 

23. Added information describing the use of floating holidays ‐  page 28 

24. Added information about holidays for regular part‐time employees ‐  page 28 

25. Clarified that phones issued by ESS should not be used for non‐business purposes ‐  page 33 

26. Added information about information technology support services ‐  page 33 

27. Added information about policies for adding software to ESS devices ‐  page 34 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

Electronic Services System (“ESS” or the "Company") is pleased to have you as one of our 
employees.  We believe that you will find your employment with us to be both rewarding and 
challenging. 
   
This Employee Policy Handbook sets forth the policies applicable to all full-time and part-time 
employees.  It contains the major policies and procedures.   The terms of individual written 
employment contracts supersede the policies contained herein to the extent the written contract is 
inconsistent with this handbook. 
  
We ask you to read and familiarize yourself with the policies in this Employee Policy Handbook. 
  
This handbook supersedes all previously issued handbooks and any inconsistent policy 
statements or memoranda made in the past.  With or without prior notice, the Company reserves 
the right to revise, modify, delete or add to any and all policies, procedures, work rules or benefits 
stated in this handbook or in any other related document.  However, any such changes must be in 
writing and must be signed by the ESS Administrator. 
 
Any written changes to this handbook will be distributed to all employees, so that they will be 
aware of the new policies or procedures.  No oral statements or representations can in any way 
change or alter the provisions of this handbook. 
 
This handbook set forth the entire agreement between you and the Company as to the duration of 
employment and the circumstances under which employment may be terminated.  Nothing in this 
handbook or in any other personnel document, including benefit plan descriptions, creates or is 
intended to create a promise or representation of continued employment for any employee. 
 
If you have any questions concerning the contents of this handbook, please consult your 
supervisor or contact Paychex (Paychex) through the My Employee Portal 
https://portal.Paychexassistant.com  
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EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
ESS and Paychex   

Whether you are a new or long-term employee, you are an important part of our present and 
future.  Our success depends to a large extent on our ability to attract and retain dedicated and 
highly motivated employees.  We want your employment with our organization to be rewarding and 
challenging. 
 
We also want to provide you with attractive benefit programs.  To do this, we have elected to utilize 
the services of Paychex.  Paychex specializes in providing complete employee administrative 
services for companies such as ours.  Paychex is a business referred to as a Professional 
Employer Organization or PEO, which serves as our off-site personnel/human resources 
department, and they are responsible for many areas of your employment.  In order for Paychex to 
be able to administer benefit plans, process payroll, and file payroll taxes it is necessary for 
Paychex to become your administrative employer.  Paychex and ESS are considered co-
employers for certain purposes and share some employment responsibilities. 
 
Primarily, Paychex will be responsible for the payroll check processing, withholding and 
employment taxes, payroll deductions, workers’ compensation insurance, employee group benefit 
plans, and 401(k) retirement plan administration.  We will be responsible for your day-to-day work 
activities, supervision, scheduling of work, the management of your work facility, and safety 
programs.  Some employment activities, policies, and practices are shared by both Paychex and 
us. 
 
Throughout this handbook, reference will be made to Paychex whenever the responsibility falls in 
an area for which Paychex is accountable, such as employment taxes or benefit programs.  
Remember, it is your supervisor who selected you for your job and directs your work activities. 

 

Equal Employment Opportunity 

The Company is an equal opportunity employer and makes decisions related to compensation and 
all terms, conditions or privileges of employment.  Company policy prohibits unlawful discrimination 
based on race, color, creed, sex (including pregnancy), religion, marital status, age, national origin 
or ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, gender identity, 
sexual orientation, military status, or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, state, or 
local laws.  All such discrimination is unlawful and prohibited by the Company. 
 
As used in this policy, genetic information means an individual’s family medical history, the results 
of an individual’s or family member’s genetic tests, the fact that an individual or an individual’s 
family member sought or received genetic services, and genetic information of a fetus carried by 
an individual or an individual’s family member or an embryo lawfully held by an individual or family 
member receiving assistive reproductive services.   
 

Individuals with Disabilities  

To be a covered employer under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), a company must have 
15 or more employees. At the time this handbook is distributed, ESS has less than 15 employees, 
and is not covered by the provisions of the ADA. The Company will not discriminate against 
qualified applicants and employees in accordance with the provisions of applicable state or local 
regulations, and should we become covered under the ADA in the future will comply with all 
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applicable regulations. Please direct questions about the current status of our coverage to your 
supervisor or Paychex. 
 
The Company will strive to provide reasonable accommodations to a qualified individual with a 
disability, as defined by applicable regulations, who has made the Company aware of their 
disability, provided that such accommodation does not constitute an undue hardship on the 
Company. 
 

Anti-Harassment  

The Company is committed to providing a work environment that encourages mutual respect and is 
free of unlawful harassment, discrimination and bias.  The Company’s anti-harassment policy 
applies to all persons involved in the operation of the Company and prohibits unlawful harassment 
by any employee of the Company, including supervisors and co-workers.  The law also prohibits 
unlawful harassment by any employee towards customers, vendors, contractors and persons 
working or visiting on the Company’s premises and third parties are prohibited from unlawfully 
harassing an employee. 

 
Prohibited unlawful harassment includes, but is not limited to, the following: any harassment or use 
by anyone in its employ of any derogatory epithet (whether verbal, written or gestural) based on 
race, color, creed, sex (including pregnancy), religion, marital status, age, national origin or 
ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, gender identity, 
sexual orientation, military status, or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, state or 
local laws; or sexual harassment, defined as: 
 
 unwanted sexual advances, or visual, verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature; or 
 any form of sexually offensive behavior including gender-based harassment of a person of 

the same sex as the harasser when; 
 
1. submission to the conduct is made explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an 

individual's employment,  
2. submission to or rejection of the conduct by an individual is used for employment 

decisions affecting an individual, or  
3. such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with the employee's 

work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment. 
 

Any employee violating this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment. 

 
If you believe that this anti-harassment policy is being violated, either with respect to yourself or 
with respect to another employee, you are strongly encouraged to report that belief immediately, 
either:   

 to the ESS Administrator, or 
 to the Employee Service Center, a toll free telephone number answered by HR 

Professionals at Paychex; the number is (800) 822-8704 
 
DO NOT TOLERATE THE SITUATION, AND DO NOT ASSUME THAT THE COMPANY IS 
AWARE OF AN INCIDENT.  REPORT ALL INCIDENTS OF DISCRIMINATION AND 
HARASSMENT.  Individuals should not feel obligated to file their complaints with their immediate 
supervisor first before bringing the matter to the attention of one of the other Company designated 
representatives identified above. 
 
Upon notice of an employee's concern about being harassed, the Company will act to stop any 
further harassment and to correct any effect of the harassment and will: 
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1. Inform the complainant of his or her rights and of any obligation to secure those rights; 
2. Promptly investigate the complaint.  The investigation will be immediate, thorough, 

objective and complete.  We will make diligent efforts to interview all persons with 
information on the matter.   

3. Take prompt and effective action to remedy/correct harassment. 
4. Respond in a timely manner to any complaint of harassment describing the disposition 

of the complaint and any action taken in resolution of the complaint.   
 

Retaliation Is Strictly Prohibited 
 

In addition to prohibiting discrimination and harassment in the workplace, state and federal law 
also prohibits retaliation.  One type of retaliation occurs when the Company takes adverse action 
against an employee who complains about harassment or discrimination if such action may likely 
discourage a reasonable employee from making or supporting a claim of harassment or 
discrimination.   Harassment and discrimination may be based on a protected status as outlined in 
the Company Equal Employment Opportunity policy as well as protected activities such as 
testifying at or providing information related to a labor investigation, filing or having filed a workers’ 
compensation claim, or whistleblower status.  Examples of adverse action may include, depending 
on the circumstances, demotion, failure to promote, termination, change of work hours or change 
of job duties.  Another type of retaliation occurs when co-workers ostracize, employ derogatory 
epithets (verbal, written or gestural) against or otherwise harass an employee because he or she 
has complained about discrimination or harassment. 

 
It is illegal to retaliate against an employee because he or she complained about harassment or 
discrimination, even if no harassment or discrimination ever happened.  Company policy 
STRICTLY PROHIBITS any form of retaliation against an employee because he or she 
complained about harassment or discrimination.  If you feel you have been retaliated against 
based on a complaint, please notify the ESS Administrator immediately. 
 

Employment At-Will 

Employment with the Company is on an “at will” basis.  Employment at-will may be terminated at 
the will of either the Company or the employee.  Employment may be terminated with or without 
cause, and with or without notice, at any time by you or the Company.  Terms and conditions of 
employment with the Company may be modified at the sole discretion of the Company with or 
without cause and with or without notice. 
 
No one other than the ESS Administrator has the authority to create an employment relationship 
other than on an “at will” basis and may only do so in writing. 
  
No implied contract concerning any employment-based decision or terms and conditions of 
employment can be established by any other statement, conduct, policy or practice.  Examples of 
the types of terms and conditions of employment that are within the sole discretion of the Company 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

Promotion; demotion; transfers; hiring and discharge decisions; compensation; benefits; 
qualifications; discipline; layoff or recall; rules; hours and schedules; work assignments; job 
duties and responsibilities; production standards; subcontracting; reduction, cessation or 
expansion of operations; sale, relocation, merger or consolidation of operations; 
determinations concerning the use of equipment, methods or facilities; or any other terms 
and conditions that the Company may determine to be necessary for the safe, efficient and 
economic operation of its business. 
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Employment Authorization Verification 

New hires will be required to complete Section 1 of federal Form I-9 and must present acceptable 
documents authorized by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services proving identity and 
employment authorization. If you are currently employed and have not complied with this 
requirement or if your status has changed, inform your supervisor. 
 
If you are authorized to work in this country for a limited period, you will be required to submit proof 
of renewed employment eligibility prior to expiration of that period to remain employed by the 
Company. 

 

Confidentiality and Trade Secret Information 

The Electronic Services System is a public entity established under Chapter 28E of the Iowa Code. 
As such ESS is subject to the requirements of Iowa law concerning open meetings (Iowa Code 
Chapter 21) and open records (Iowa Code Chapter 22). As such, most information about the 
operations of ESS are a matter of public record and not considered to be confidential. However, 
Iowa law does provide some exceptions including Data Processing Software (Iowa Code Section 
22.3A, and Confidential Records (Iowa Code Section 22.7) 
 
As a condition of initial and continued employment with the Company, all current and former 
employees are expected to conduct themselves in a manner which protects and preserves the 
Company’s proprietary, confidential and trade secret information.  "Trade secret" means 
information, including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, device, method, technique, or 
process, that: 

 Derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally 
known to the public or to other persons who can obtain economic value from its 
disclosure or use; and 

 Is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its 
secrecy. 

 
The following are examples of trade secret information that must be maintained confidentially by 
employees and former employees. 
 

1. Computer software and programs, proprietary information and other data relating to 
aspects of the Company finances or unique operations which cannot be obtained from 
sources other than the Company. 

2. Information about the procedures, methods, and means for maintaining the security of 
ESS computer and software systems. 

3. Names and addresses and any related information pertaining to the Company’s customers 
that is not generally known in the public domain. 

4. Confidential employee information. 
5. All Information protected by the Uniform Trade Secrets Act and any state version thereof. 
6. Other confidential information as allowed under Iowa law. 

 
Employees are not prohibited by this policy from engaging in activities for their mutual aid and 
protection.  Employees have the right, without violating this policy, to discuss among themselves 
issues relevant to their pay, benefits and working conditions or otherwise legally engage in 
concerted activity. 
 
Questions about whether any information is Confidential or a Trade Secret should be directed to 
the ESS Administrator. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

Our employees are expected to devote their best efforts and attention to the full-time performance 
of their jobs.  Employees are expected to use good judgment, to adhere to high ethical standards, 
and to avoid situations that create an actual or potential conflict between the employee's personal 
interests and the interests of the Company. 
 
A conflict of interest exists when an employee’s loyalties or actions are divided between the 
Company’s interests and those of another, such as a competitor, supplier, or customer.  Both a 
conflict of interest and the appearance of a conflict of interest should be avoided.  It is not a conflict 
of interest to engage in protected concerted activity which includes joining with other employees for 
your mutual aid and protection.  An employee who is unsure as to whether a certain transaction, 
activity, or relationship constitutes a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest 
should discuss the situation with his or her immediate supervisor for clarification. 
 
This policy does not attempt to describe all possible conflicts of interest that could develop.  Some 
of the more common conflicts from which employees should refrain, include the following: 
 

1. Accepting personal gifts or entertainment from competitors, customers, suppliers or 
potential suppliers. 

2. Accepting compensation in any form for public speaking, conducting workshops, 
honoraria, published works, or similar activities for topics related to Company activities, 
expertise gained in the course of employment with the Company, or for activities the 
Company would normally be engaged to perform without advance disclosure and 
authorization from Company officials. 

3. Working for a competitor, supplier or customer while employed by the Company. 
4. Engaging in self-employment in competition with the Company. 
5. Disclosing Company trade secrets or confidential proprietary information for personal gain 

to the Company’s detriment. 
6. Having a direct or indirect financial interest in or relationship with a competitor, customer or 

supplier, except that ownership of less than 1% of the publicly traded stock of a corporation 
will not be considered a conflict. 

7. Using Company assets, including computers, or labor for personal use.  When an 
employee’s interest is adverse to the Company’s, the employee will not be authorized to 
use Company computers or other Company assets that can be used for the employee’s 
personal gain. 

8. Acquiring any interest in property or assets of any kind for the purpose of selling or leasing 
it to the Company. 

9. Committing the Company to give its financial or other support to any outside activity or 
organization except within the ordinary course and scope of employment. 

10. Developing a personal relationship with a subordinate employee of the Company that 
might interfere with the exercise of impartial judgment in decisions affecting the Company 
or any employees of the Company. 

 
If an employee or someone with whom the employee has a close personal relationship (a family 
member or companion) has a personal, financial or employment relationship with a competitor, 
supplier or customer, the employee must disclose this fact in writing. If an actual conflict of interest 
is determined to exist, the Company may respond to this perceived conflict as the Company deems 
is appropriate based upon the circumstances. 
 
Employees may pursue and participate in employment or other business activities outside of 
normal working hours provided such arrangement neither creates a conflict of interest nor detracts 
from performance and/or effectiveness while working for the Company, and provided the employee 
does not offer or provide such services to the Company.  Any employee who has other 
employment must disclose such employment to his or her supervisor so that an evaluation can be 
made as to whether a conflict of interest exists.  The failure to adhere to this guideline, including the 

ESS Committee - Page 112



 

Revised August 2022  ESS Employee Handbook 12 
 

failure to disclose any potential conflicts or to seek an exception, will result in disciplinary action up 
to and including termination. 
 

Work Product 

Any work product such as inventions, discoveries, improvements, documents, materials, programs 
or processes created by the employee while in the employment of the Company, which fall within 
or are in any way related to the existing or contemplated scope of the business of the Company, 
shall be considered the property of the Company.   
 
 
 

Public Statements and Appearances 
 

All inquiries from the press shall be referred to the ESS Administrator or other designated 
individual specifically assigned to respond to these inquiries.  No employee may speak to the press 
or any outside third party, and no employee shall act as the spokesperson for the agency without 
the prior approval from the ESS Administrator.  Any employee appearing as a guest speaker or 
program participant representing the Company either in person, via phone or via the internet, must 
obtain prior approval from the ESS Administrator and may be required to wear clothing with the 
Company logo. 
 

Business Conduct Policy 

A key element to our continued success is each employee's commitment to be guided by certain 
standards and principles in performing his or her job.  It is important that employees be guided by 
the following: 
 
1. Adherence to all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
2. Protection of our corporate reputation and assets. 
3. Responsible action that avoids conflicts of interest and other situations potentially harmful to 

the Company. 
4. Being ethical and honest, including providing truthful information in response to any 

management inquiry or investigation. 
 
The Company considers work rules, guidelines, and work performance important responsibilities.  
They are essential to the proper management of our business and ensure that employees work 
together effectively.  When these rules and guidelines are not followed, or an employee's work 
performance is below Company standards, written disciplinary warnings may be issued. 
 
VIOLATIONS OF COMPANY RULES AND GUIDELINES, OR THE EMPLOYEE'S FAILURE TO 
IMPROVE WORK PERFORMANCE MAY RESULT IN DISCIPLINARY ACTION, UP TO AND 
INCLUDING TERMINATION.  THE COMPANY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE 
EMPLOYMENT WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE AND WITH OR WITHOUT NOTICE. 
 
Prohibited Conduct 

1. Possession or use of alcohol or an illegal or controlled substance or being under the 
influence of alcohol or an illegal or controlled substance while on the job. 

2. Making false statements or omitting pertinent information on Company applications, 
records of employment, forms or reports, or in the course of participation in Company 
investigations or in responding to management inquiries.  
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3. Insubordination:  Refusal to obey work orders of supervisors, refusal to perform job 
assignments or the use of abusive or threatening language toward a supervisor or 
member of management. 

4. Committing any act of violence, threats or intimidation, fighting or using abusive or 
profane language on Company premises. 

5. Theft, unauthorized removal, or willful damage of property belonging to the Company, 
Company employees or customers.  Theft of Company resources. 

6. Disregard of safety rules and practices and security regulations including horseplay, 
wrestling, dangerous practical jokes, or throwing objects. 

7. Unauthorized operation of machinery and equipment, or operation of any machinery or 
equipment that you are not trained and authorized to operate. 

8. Unauthorized entry or exit from Company property at any location at any time. Leaving 
the workplace without properly notifying your supervisor. 

9. Substandard or unsatisfactory work performance. 

10. Repeated absences or tardiness, including unreported absences. 

11. Gambling, in any form, on Company premises. 

12. Distribution of non-Company written materials during working time; distribution of non-
business or non-Company literature in working areas; littering; solicitation of or by 
employees during working time in the workplace.  "Working time," as used in this rule, 
does not include designated breaks, meal periods and before or after work. 

13. Any and all forms of solicitation during working times. “Working times” does not include 
designated breaks, meal periods and before or after work. Employees are further 
prohibited from solicitation on Company property in work areas where other employees 
are actively working.  Employees may engage in solicitation only during non-working 
time in non-working areas such as break rooms, sidewalks and parking lots. 

14. Sleeping or deliberately loafing during working hours. 

15. Disclosure of proprietary or confidential Company or customer information. 

16. Smoking in non-designated areas. 

17. Failure to fully cooperate with any Company investigation as required by management. 

18. Any other conduct that is prohibited by law.  There is no substitute for good judgment 
and common sense. 

This is not meant to be a total list of all work rules, but rather is illustrative of the type of conduct 
that will not be tolerated by the Company.  This statement of prohibited conduct does not alter 
the Company’s policy of at-will employment.  
  

Corrective Action Process 

Our corrective action policy applies to any and all employee conduct which the Company, in its 
sole discretion, determines must be addressed by discipline. Of course, no discipline policy can be 
expected to address each and every situation requiring corrective action that may arise in the 
workplace. Therefore, the Company takes a comprehensive approach regarding discipline and will 
attempt to consider all relevant factors before making decisions regarding discipline.  
 
Most often, employee conduct that warrants discipline results from unacceptable behavior, poor 
performance or violation of the Company’s policies, practices or procedures. However, discipline 
may be issued for conduct that falls outside of those identified areas. Equally important, the 
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Company need not resort to progressive discipline, but may take whatever action it deems 
necessary to address the issue at hand. This may mean that more or less severe discipline is 
imposed in a given situation.  
 
When a member of management determines that an employee should be counseled for their 
behavior or performance, the normal process may include some or all of the following steps: 
 
 

 Verbal warning 
 Written warning 
 Performance Improvement Plan 
 Suspension 
 Termination  

 
The steps taken and the time allowed for resolution are dependent upon the nature and severity of 
the problem. Any of these steps may be skipped or repeated in accordance with the severity of the 
performance or behavior being addressed. Acts such as fraud, theft, dishonesty, insubordination, 
disorderly conduct, violence or threats, unlawful acts, violations of our Business Conduct Policy, 
and disclosing trade secret or proprietary information are examples of conduct that may result in 
immediate termination. 
 

Whistleblower Policy 

A whistleblower as defined by this policy is an employee of the Company who reports an activity 
that he/she considers to be illegal or dishonest to one or more of the parties specified in this Policy. 
The whistleblower is not responsible for investigating the activity or for determining fault or 
corrective measures; appropriate management officials are charged with these responsibilities. 
 
Examples of illegal or dishonest activities are violations of federal, state, or local laws; billing for 
services not performed or for goods not delivered; and other fraudulent financial reporting.  
 
If an employee has knowledge of or a concern of illegal or dishonest fraudulent activity, the 
employee is to contact his/her immediate supervisor, the ESS Administrator, a Human Resource 
Specialist at Paychex, or the Employee Service Center. The Employee Service Center is a toll free 
telephone number answered by HR Professionals at Paychex; the number is (800) 822-8704. The 
employee must exercise sound judgment to avoid baseless allegations.  
 
Whistleblower protections are provided in two important areas -- confidentiality and protection 
against retaliation. When possible, the confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained. 
However, the identity of a Whistleblower may have to be disclosed to conduct a thorough 
investigation, to comply with the law and to provide accused individuals their legal rights of 
defense. The Company will not retaliate against a whistleblower. This includes, but is not limited to, 
protection from retaliation in the form of an adverse employment action such as termination, 
compensation decreases, or poor work assignments and threats of physical harm. Any 
whistleblower who believes he/she is being retaliated against must contact one of the above-
identified individuals or the Employee Service Center immediately. The right of a whistleblower for 
protection against retaliation does not include immunity for any personal wrongdoing that is alleged 
and investigated. An employee who intentionally files a false report of wrongdoing will be subject to 
discipline up to and including termination. 
 
The Company will fully investigate all complaints/reports of suspected unethical or fraudulent 
activities.  All reports of illegal and dishonest activities will be promptly submitted to the ESS 
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Administrator, the ESS Coordinating Committee, or other appropriate party, depending on the 
nature of the complaint, who will be responsible for investigating and coordinating corrective action. 
 

Use of Alcohol, Illegal Drugs or Controlled Substances 

The use or possession of alcohol, illegal drugs or controlled substances on the job constitutes a 
potential danger to the welfare and safety of employees and exposes the Company to the risks of 
property loss or damage, or injury to other persons.  The Company has a vital interest in 
maintaining safe and efficient working conditions for its employees and ensuring that all Company 
vehicles are properly maintained and operated in a safe manner. 
 
The use of prescription drugs and/or over-the-counter drugs may affect an employee's job 
performance and seriously impair the employee's value to the Company.  Any employee who is 
using prescription and/or over-the-counter drugs that may impair the employee's ability to safely 
perform the job, or affect the safety or well-being of others, should not report for work during the 
time he or she is using the medication.  You may be required to provide a doctor’s note validating 
your need for time off due to the use of medication which interferes with your ability to safely 
perform your duties.  You should use any accrued PTO during this time period.  If you do not have 
accrued leave, you should discuss your need for time off with your supervisor or the ESS 
Administrator to determine if an accommodation may be made. 
 
Company rules and standards of conduct apply to all employees either on Company property 
(owned or leased) or during the workday (including meals and rest periods).  The following are 
strictly prohibited by the Company: 
 

1. Possession or use of alcohol, or being under the influence of alcohol while on the job, 
except in cases when approved alcohol consumption occurs at a Company or business 
social event. 

2. Driving a Company vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance.  
3. Distribution, sale or purchase of an illegal or controlled substance while on the job. 
4. Possession or use of an illegal or controlled substance or being under the influence of an 

illegal or controlled substance while on the job. 
5. Being under the influence of a controlled or prescription drug while at work if it in any way 

negatively affects the employee's ability to perform his or her job in a safe and efficient 
manner. 

 
Employees are encouraged to take advantage of all assistance and resources made available by 
the Company through our Employee Assistance Program, which provides free, confidential 
resources and counseling for substance abuse as well as other personal matters. 
 
As a condition of employment, an employee must notify the organization of any drug and or alcohol 
related conviction no later than two days after the conviction.   
 
Violation of the above rules and standards of conduct will not be tolerated and will result in 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. 

 

Consumption of Alcohol at Company Sponsored or Business Events 

An employee attending a Company-sponsored or business event in social capacity is permitted to 
drink alcoholic beverages which are served at the event. However, alcohol should be consumed in 
moderation, and becoming intoxicated or drinking to the point where professional behavior 
becomes compromised is not permitted. Employees who are working at an event to serve guests 
or performing other event-related duties may only drink alcoholic beverages if advance permission 
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has been given by the ESS Administrator. Operating a vehicle while legally intoxicated is illegal 
and always prohibited by the Company. You are encouraged to make arrangements for safe 
transportation if you feel that you are not able to operate a vehicle within the requirements of the 
law. Violations of this policy will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 
 

Smoking and Tobacco Use 

Smoking, tobacco use, or devices including electronic or vapor delivery devices and other related 
products are prohibited in all areas of our facility including the exterior areas of Windsor Office 
Centre 1 and the parking lot. You should, at all times, exercise extreme care and caution regarding 
the fire hazards associated with smoking. We ask that you keep your smoking to a minimum and 
be considerate of your fellow employees, by smoking during designated break times.  
 
The Company will comply with the Iowa Smokefree Air Act and expects that employees also 
comply with these regulations. A copy of the law is available to employees upon request or at 
https://smokefreeair.iowa.gov. 
 

Personal Information  

Paychex is responsible for maintaining your personnel record.  Company policy requires all 
employees’ personnel files to be maintained confidentially and stored in a secure location.  This is 
the Company practice and only those with a business “need to know” will be permitted to view an 
employee’s file, except where required by law.   
 
Updating Your Personal Information 
Should your personal information change, please update your information using the online My 
Employee Portal which can be accessed through the Paychex website at 
(https://portal.Paychexassistant.com).  Should the change be one you are not able to make online, 
please contact your supervisor or the Employee Service Center 
(800) 822-8704. The Company and Paychex should always have the following current information 
on file for all employees: 
 

 Legal Name 
 Home Address and Phone Number 
 Home Email Address 
 Emergency Contact 

 
Changes to benefits must be made at annual enrollment or within 30 days of a qualifying event 
such as marriage, birth, divorce, or loss of other coverage. Login to My Benefits Connect at 
https://phr-ep.Paychexassistant.com/obbe/#/obbe/benefitEnrollment to make qualifying event 
changes to your benefit plans. Note: this site may not be accessible outside of the open enrollment 
period. Contact the Employee Service Center for assistance outside of the designated open 
enrollment period. 
 
Open Enrollment for ESS occurs at the beginning of September for a benefit effective date of 
October 1st.  
 
Retirement plan contribution changes can be made at any time at www.slavic401k.com.  
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References and Employment Verifications 

The Company has adopted this policy regarding the providing of references or verifications of 
employment for past or present employees to protect both employees and The Company from 
allegations of defamation and possible litigation. 
 
Employees may not provide professional references for employment, for past or present 
employees unless specific written permission has been given to do so by the ESS 
Administrator. This includes writing letters of reference, making recommendations on social 
networking sites (such as LinkedIn), and responding to inquiries from outside parties by phone or 
in writing. If an employee is asked to provide a reference for a past or present employee, they 
should refer the party seeking the reference to the ESS Administrator, who has the authority to 
provide references. The Company will normally respond to only written inquiries when specific 
information is requested. However, the Company reserves the right to release any accurate and 
truthful information it deems appropriate at its discretion without authorization. 
 
Any requests made to an employee of the Company for a verification of employment or personal 
information of a past or current employee, such as address or telephone number should be 
referred to the ESS Administrator.  
 
Letters of Reference 
Employees are not permitted to write professional letters of reference for present or former 
employees without written permission from the ESS Administrator.  Any employee writing a 
personal letter of reference or recommendation on behalf of a present or former Company 
employee may not reference the Company or the employee’s work record without specific 
permission from the ESS Administrator. 
 

Professional Appearance 

All personnel are required to dress professionally and appropriately during regular business hours 
or while working at the office.  Good judgment and taste are always required.  Each employee is a 
representative of the Company in the eyes of our clients and the public, so it is important that each 
employee report to work properly groomed and wearing appropriate dress In addition, items of 
clothing that display sexual or other potentially offensive statements, logos or designs are 
prohibited.  Employees who report to work inappropriately dressed may be asked to leave and 
return in acceptable attire.   
 

Dress Code 

Specific questions about the Company Dress Code should be directed to your supervisor and if 
questions remain the ESS Administrator will make the final determination. 
 
Clothing considered unprofessional includes, but not limited to: 
 

 Clothing that reveals front or back cleavage, stomach or back or underwear is not 
appropriate for a place of business. 

 See-through garments, halter tops, bare midriff/back tops, tank tops with spaghetti 
straps/muscle shirts, low-cut blouses, and low-cut pants (tank tops can be worn 
under garments that provide more coverage and see-through garments can be 
worn over garments, which provide coverage). 

 Scrubs, pajamas 
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 Pool/beach attire including beach sandals, slippers and casual thongs/foam flip-
flops 

 Cut offs, short shorts 

 Jeans with holes 

 Items that are worn, ripped, frayed, torn or unkempt 

 Items advertising alcoholic beverages, drugs, drug paraphernalia, gang attire, or 
tobacco products 

 Items containing obscene, profane, discriminatory, provocative or inflammatory 
words or pictures 

 
Body Modification Not Covered by Clothing: 
Body modification/art shall not be visible.   Body modification includes but is not limited to piercing, 
stretching, dental ornamentation, tattooing, branding, and ear/tongue shaping.  Tattoos and other 
body art not covered by clothing must otherwise be professionally covered.  Body piercing jewelry 
will only be worn on the ear.  Multiple earrings that are disruptive to the work environment are 
inappropriate, or cause safety concerns are not allowed.  Tongue rings, ear gauging, and other 
visible body piercings are not allowed. 
 
Violations will be addressed as insubordination with disciplinary action, up to and including 
termination.  Reasonable accommodation will be made for employee’s religious beliefs if possible, 
consistent with the business necessity to present a professional appearance. The ESS 
Administrator must give approval for accommodations.  Additional requirements may be applied to 
specific work areas due to the condition of the worker, the setting, and employees are required to 
wear safety equipment as appropriate. 
 

Equipment, Tools and Uniforms  

You are responsible for the safekeeping and maintenance of equipment, tools and uniforms that 
are furnished to you for your use on the job. If you leave the employment of the Company or are 
transferred to another department, you must return all equipment, tools or uniforms that were 
loaned to you. Unauthorized retention of Company property or failure to return Company property 
is considered theft.  Any lost equipment or equipment damaged beyond normal wear and tear is 
your responsibility and replacement or payment is expected. 
 

Personal Telephone Calls  

The Company recognizes that employees will need to make personal telephone calls from time to 
time.  Please keep in mind that Company phone lines are generally intended for business use.  
Personal calls should be limited in frequency and duration.  No long-distance, or toll calls are to be 
made without advance supervisor approval and the cost of such calls must be reimbursed upon 
completion.  No use of the Company teleconferencing service is permitted without advance 
supervisor approval and the cost of such calls must be reimbursed upon completion. Abuse of 
personal telephone privileges will lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 

Cell Phones 

Personal cellular phones may be carried on your person.  However, receiving and placing personal 
cell phone calls should be limited in frequency and duration and generally reserved for 
emergencies and unusual circumstances.  Please inform your friends and families of this policy.  If 

ESS Committee - Page 119



 

Revised August 2022  ESS Employee Handbook 19 
 

the Company finds that excessive personal calls are interfering with Company work, a requirement 
that all cell phones be turned off during business hours will be implemented.  Personal cellular 
phones should be set on “silent” or “vibrate” modes during work hours especially when meetings 
are in progress.  Sending or receiving of personal text messages should be limited in frequency 
and duration except during your lunch or break. 
 
Employees are prohibited from using cell phones (even with a hands-free device) while operating a 
Company, personal or rented vehicle for Company business, regardless of whether the employee 
is on Company time or personal time.   Employees are also prohibited from using a cell phone or 
hands-free device at all times when driving a Company vehicle, owned or rented.  Exception:  In an 
emergency situation, an employee may use a cellular phone while in a vehicle for the purpose of 
dialing 911 or another number to reach an emergency services provider (police, fire, ambulance).  
However, such telephone calls must be made while the vehicle is not moving.  The above 
prohibitions against the use of cell phones also apply to sending, composing or reading text 
messages on devices of any type. 
 
Employees who make or receive an excessive amount of personal cell phone calls or text 
messages or who are otherwise in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to 
and including termination.   

 

Personal Relationships in the Workplace  

The employment of relatives, married couples or persons involved in a romantic relationship may 
cause conflicts, raise issues of favoritism and damage employee morale.  
 
A “relative” is any person who is related to another employee by blood or marriage.  A relative is 
also any person who is related to another employee by law, for example, by adoption, guardianship 
or as registered domestic partners.   
 
A “romantic relationship” is one that could be reasonably expected to become a close consensual 
or sexual relationship regardless of the gender or sexual orientation of the employees involved. 
“Dating” is included in the definition of “romantic relationship.” 
 
A supervisor may not oversee a related employee. An employee in a “romantic relationship” may 
not be supervised by the romantic partner.  A supervisor involved in a “romantic relationship” with 
another employee or applicant must immediately disclose the relationship to the ESS 
Administrator.  A supervisor who is related to another employee or applicant must immediately 
disclose the relationship to the ESS Administrator.  A supervisor who fails to follow this policy of 
disclosure can be disciplined or terminated.   
 
Related or romantically involved employees who are employed in supervisor/subordinate positions 
have ten (10) working days to decide which employee will transfer to an available position or 
resign.   
 
Related or romantically involved employees in any position, who the Company determines have 
raised a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest, shall have ten working days to decide 
which employee will transfer to an available position or resign.  
 
If the employees involved are unable to agree which employee will resign or transfer, the Company 
will transfer, or when no position is available, terminate, one of the employees involved.  
 
The Company shall decide whether a transferring employee is qualified for the new position.    
 
Employees in a romantic relationship shall refrain from displays of affection or excessive 
conversation during work hours, at Company functions or on Company property. 
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This policy is designed to provide safeguards so that the workplace is not compromised by 
interpersonal relationships. This policy does not prohibit and will not be enforced in any manner 
which could interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees from engaging in concerted activities 
including the right to discuss terms and conditions of employment. 
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PAYROLL AND WORK HOURS  
Employment Status 

Full-time employees are those employees who generally work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 
All full-time employees shall be eligible to receive all of the benefits set forth by the Company which 
may change from time to time. 
 
Part-time employees are those employees who work less than thirty (30) hours per week.  Part-
time employees are not eligible to participate in any insurance plans adopted by the Company, nor 
any other fringe benefit programs unless they specifically apply to part-time employees, or where 
mandated by law. 

 
Temporary employees are those employees hired for a particular task.  Irrespective of the amount 
of time necessary to complete that task, such employees shall not by the passage of time be 
converted to full-time employees.  Temporary employees shall not be eligible to participate in any 
insurance plans adopted by the Company, nor any other fringe benefit programs, except where 
mandated by applicable law. 

Work Hours, Rest and Meal Periods 

All employees are expected to work their regularly scheduled work hours, and deviations from 
normal hours should be approved in advance.  Generally, full-time employees work an eight-hour 
shift with a 30 minute or 60 minute meal period.  Ten minute paid rest periods are provided for 
every four hours of work or major portion thereof; generally mid-morning and mid-afternoon.  Your 
supervisor will designate your normal work hours and schedule your meal and rest periods as 
necessary.  Variations in normal work hours may be considered subject to the written approval of 
the ESS Administrator. Meal periods are unpaid and not counted as part of the eight hour work 
shift.  Meal and rest periods may be used to substitute for late arrival or early departure provided 
that other staff are available to maintain office operations and subject to the approval of the ESS 
Administrator.  
 
Non-exempt employees are not permitted to perform any type of work during unpaid lunch breaks 
or rest periods. 
 

Attendance, Absence and Punctuality Standards 

Prior to taking a leave of absence for purposes of vacation, military leave, bereavement leave, jury 
duty, personal leave, or other planned absence, an Employee Leave Request should be submitted 
to your immediate supervisor for approval at least two weeks prior to the scheduled leave date, 
unless the request is due to an unexpected emergency or event.  The nature of an emergency, 
without any specific medical information if applicable, should then be shared with the supervisor. 
Generally, it is expected that planned absences such as a vacation or typical PTO requests will be 
brought forward during regularly scheduled team meetings for the purposes of sharing calendars 
and ensuring that operational coverage is in place.  
 
As a general job requirement, all employees are expected to work on a regular and consistent 
basis to complete their regularly scheduled hours per week.  Excessive absenteeism or tardiness 
may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  Disciplinary action taken due to 
absenteeism will be considered following a review of the employee's absences, reasons for such 
absences, and overall work record. 
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An employee who does not call or report to work for three consecutive workdays will be considered 
to have voluntarily resigned employment with the Company, unless there are extenuating 
circumstances.   
 
Employees are expected to report to work as scheduled, on time and prepared to start work.  
Employees are expected to remain at work for their entire work schedule, except for meal periods 
or when required to leave on Company authorized business.  Late arrival, early departure or other 
absences from scheduled hours are disruptive and must be avoided. Employees should regularly 
update their supervisor and other team members of changes in schedule or when delays in arrival 
or starting work occur. Updates should be provided via text or instant messaging whenever 
possible. 
 
 
Personal appointments should be scheduled during non-work hours whenever possible unless 
approved in advance by your supervisor or ESS Administrator. Requests for an adjustment in the 
normal work schedule to accommodate personal appointments will be accepted. Otherwise, it is 
expected that PTO will be used for absences associated with personal appointments.  
 
If it is not possible to be at work at the scheduled time, an employee shall make contact with and 
receive a response from his or her supervisor or other appropriate person in the department before 
the start of his or her scheduled work time on each and every day of absence except when there 
are extenuating circumstances.   In all cases of absence or tardiness, employees must provide 
their supervisors with an honest reason or explanation.  Excessive absenteeism or tardiness 
(excused or unexcused) will not be tolerated.    
 
Part-time office staff and temporary office staff shall work according to the schedule designated by 
their immediate supervisor. 
 

Breaks for Nursing Mothers 

The Company supports the rights of nursing mothers who are returning to work following the birth 
of a child.  The Company will provide reasonable unpaid break time or permit an employee to use 
existing break time or mealtime each day to express milk for her nursing child for up to one year 
following childbirth.  The Company will make reasonable efforts to provide a room or other location 
where an employee can express milk in privacy in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations.  Employees shall provide their manager with notice of a need for such breaks.  Breaks 
will be scheduled to minimize disruption to normal business operations.  
 

Inclement Weather  

During severe weather, all reasonable considerations will be made when deciding whether to open 
or keep the Company open to the public.  In the event that heavy snow or severe weather occurs 
during non-working hours, supervisors or the ESS Administrator will notify employees via text or 
instant message before the beginning of their scheduled shifts if the Company will be closed for 
the day or a portion of the day. If road conditions in the area are unsafe for travel, employees 
should communicate their supervisor via phone, text or instant message before the beginning of 
their scheduled shift. If severe weather conditions occur during working hours, management will 
decide if it is necessary to close the facility. Except when remote work is authorized by the ESS 
Administrator hourly personnel will not earn pay when the Company closes due to weather 
conditions. Available paid time off must be used to cover the time lost. When severe weather is 
predicted and remote work may be authorized, employees are expected to secure the necessary 
materials and equipment so that remote work can be performed. 
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Remote Work 

ESS will support remote work in various circumstances. Remote work entails the performance of 
required job duties, but outside of the designated ESS business office. Remote work may be 
performed at home, in a coffee shop or other suitable public environment, or in a hotel or business 
center while traveling. Circumstances justifying Remote Work may include inclement weather, 
health advisories, natural disasters, school closures or other events. Other circumstances may 
relate more to the nature of the work being performed such as computer coding, research or 
writing, and in some cases employees in those circumstances may have regular Remote Work 
schedules. All Remote Work arrangements, regardless of reason, will be considered on a case-by-
case basis and is subject to the approval of the ESS Administrator. If Remote Work is authorized 
for an employee, it can be revoked or changed at any time based on business need and/or 
individual circumstances. Remote work must be accurately logged according to the practices 
described below in the Paydays and Time Records section. 
 

Team Collaboration 

Remote work is a practice supported by ESS. However, team collaboration, organic learning, and 
relationships are also important. All ESS employees, including any who have been authorized to 
primarily work in a remote location, may be required to conduct face-to-face meetings or to 
conduct work in the designated ESS business office. ESS employees may be required to engage 
in team activities such as planning meetings, paired programming, or other joint face-to-face 
activities. ESS employees may also be required to conduct work in the designated ESS business 
office for a minimum period of time each week. These activities will be determined by the ESS 
Administrator.  

Overtime Policy 

Overtime pay will be paid to hourly, non-exempt employees as required by applicable state law or 
federal law.  For purposes of determining which hours constitute overtime, only actual hours 
worked in a given workday or workweek will be counted unless otherwise required by law.  On 
occasion, you may be required to work overtime.  Refusal to work required overtime will result in 
disciplinary action.  OVERTIME MUST BE APPROVED BY MANAGEMENT, IN ADVANCE, IN 
WRITING.  Failure to obtain prior approval for overtime will result in disciplinary action. 
 

Paydays and Time Records 

It is Company policy and practice to accurately compensate employees in compliance with all 
applicable state and federal laws.  To ensure you are paid properly for all time worked and that no 
improper deductions are made, it is your responsibility to accurately record all time worked and 
review your paychecks promptly to identify and report any errors.  Company policy prohibits 
engaging in off-the-clock or unrecorded work. 
 
All ESS Employees are expected to timely log their work in the Company JIRA project and work 
management systems. Software developers and in some circumstances customer support staff 
are required to log time associated with work on specific issues (sometimes referred to as tickets) 
which may include coding, system maintenance, support issues which have been escalated to the 
development team or software testing. ESS administrative staff are expected to log time using the 
JIRA Work Management project hierarchy approved by the ESS administrator. Work shall be 
logged by the quarter hour to the extent possible. Time reporting is required for the purposes of 
compensation, time and project management, asset documentation, and performance 
accountability. 
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Employees required to submit time records must do so by the date set by their immediate 
supervisors.  The time record should show all hours worked and PTO or leave hours.   
 
By updating and submitting your time record through established Company procedures, you are 
affirming that all work and meal periods indicated on your time record are correct and that you 
have been given the opportunity and were expected to take your paid rest breaks.   
 
Deductions from Pay 
An employee’s pay will be subject to required deductions for state, federal or local taxes and social 
security.  Voluntary deductions agreed to in writing may be made, for example, for health, dental or 
life insurance premiums, or voluntary contributions to a retirement plan, if applicable. 
 
Exempt employees will receive their full salary for any workweek in which work is performed.  
However, under federal law, an exempt employee’s pay may be subject to deductions, absent 
state law to the contrary.  Examples of permissible deductions include: 
  

 Full day absences for personal reasons, including PTO; 
 Full day absences for sickness or disability if an employee’s PTO balance under the 

Company plan balance has been exhausted; 
 The first or last week of employment, in the event you work less than a full week. 

This list is not all inclusive. 
 
In a workweek in which work is performed, an exempt employee’s pay will not be reduced for any 
of the following reasons: 
 

 Partial day absences for personal reasons, sickness or disability; 
 An absence because the facility is closed on a scheduled work day; 
 Absences for jury duty, or attendance as a witness; 
 Any other deductions prohibited by state or federal law. 

 
Please note:  Employees will be required to use accrued PTO time for full or partial day absences 
for personal reasons, sickness or disability.  However, an exempt employee’s pay will not be 
reduced for partial day absences if they have exhausted their PTO.   
 
Time Records 
Completing another employee’s time record, allowing another employee to complete your time 
record, or altering a time record, is considered a falsification of Company documents and is 
grounds for disciplinary action.  If any manager or employee instructs you to: 1) incorrectly or 
falsely under- or over-report your hours worked; 2) alter another employee’s time records to 
inaccurately or falsely report that employee’s hours worked; or, 3) conceal any falsification of time 
records, do not do so but instead report it immediately to the ESS Administrator. 
 
Paydays 
There are 26 paydays every calendar year.  Employees are paid every other Friday for two weeks 
of work through the previous Saturday. The Company’s seven-day workweek is from 12:00 a.m. 
Sunday through 11:59 p.m. the following Saturday.   
 
If a payday falls on a holiday, paychecks will be available the prior business day unless the 
Company specifies otherwise. 
 
The Company makes every effort to ensure employees are paid correctly.  Occasionally, however, 
unintentional errors happen.  Mistakes brought to our attention will be promptly corrected.  Please 
review your pay stub upon receipt to ensure it is accurate and if you believe a mistake has 
happened you should report it as follows.  If you believe your wages have been subject to any 
improper deductions, your pay does not accurately reflect all hours worked, or you have 
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inadvertently been overpaid, you should report your concerns to your supervisor and/or human 
resources.  The Company will promptly investigate and make corrections, as appropriate.   

 
The Company will not allow any form of retaliation against individuals who report alleged violations 
of this policy or who cooperate in any investigation of such reports.   
 
Performance Reviews 
ESS employees will receive a periodic performance review generally corresponding with an 
employee’s anniversary date or the date of the last review. Compensation adjustments or other 
actions may result from a performance review as described under Employment At-Will. 
 
 

Paychex Online Access 

You may view your past and current paycheck stubs and W2 forms online through the Paychex My 
Employee Portal (https://portal.Paychexassistant.com). You can also access the Portal to make 
changes to your tax withholding information, update your direct deposit accounts, edit your 
address and emergency contact information, and access benefit enrollment options. New 
employees can click the ‘Register’ option on the login page and set a username and password. For 
assistance or questions regarding online Portal access, please contact the Paychex Employee 
Service Center at (800) 822-8704.  
 

Expense Reimbursement 

Expenses incurred in connection with the Company’s business will be reimbursed as set forth 
below.  Claims for reimbursement must be submitted on the Company Expense Reimbursement 
form.  Expense reports must (1) be prepared monthly, (2) contain the reimbursable expenses 
incurred during the prior monthly period along with supporting documentation (e.g. receipts for 
meals, mileage reports, etc.), (3) be signed by the employee, (4) be submitted during the first week 
of the month, and (5) be approved by the ESS Administrator.  Reimbursement rates for travel, 
meals and lodging may differ between in-state and out-of-state travel. The ESS mileage 
reimbursement rate is the optional standard mileage rates used to calculate the deductible costs of 
operating an automobile for business, charitable, medical or moving purposes as determined by 
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 
 
Prior written authorization by the ESS Administrator is required for all reimbursable expense 
activities. 
 

ESS Credit Card Use 

ESS may make payment for certain services and equipment using a Company credit card. Use of 
the Company credit card is subject to the approval of the ESS Administrator. All credit card 
transactions are documented and reported monthly. Receipts for credit card transactions must be 
uploaded to the Company financial reporting system (Right Networks) in PDF format. File names 
for receipts must include the vendor name, the invoice or transaction number and the date of the 
transaction. 
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Employee Separation Procedures 

While the decision to begin the employment relationship is consensual, the same is not always true 
when the time comes to terminate the employment relationship.  As an at-will employer, the 
Company may end the employment relationship at any time, with or without cause or notice.                                       
 
The Company requests that employees who choose to separate their employment provide written 
notice to their supervisors stating their last date of employment and the reason for leaving.  A two-
week notice of resignation is requested. It is management discretion to determine whether allowing 
the departing employee to work during the notice period will be beneficial or detrimental to 
business operations upon receipt of resignation notice. 
 
In the event that you’re no longer employed, you must return all property owned by the Company 
upon the earlier of the Company’s request or upon your departure. 
 
An employee must return all Company equipment before the last day of employment including but 
not limited to, all keys and/or access cards, Company telephones and/or radios, and charge card 
(if issued).   
 
Please refer to our Paid Time Off policy regarding payment of time off benefits upon separation 
from employment. 
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BENEFITS, TIME OFF, AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE POLICIES 
Employee Benefits  

An extensive benefits program, including medical, dental, vision, disability and life insurance, 
flexible spending accounts, and many other benefits, is available for full-time employees through 
Paychex. Part-time employees are also eligible for a voluntary benefits package through Paychex. 
You may become eligible for some or all of these benefits.  A more detailed description of these 
benefits will be provided by Paychex at the time you become eligible. More information is available 
at My Employee Single Sign On (https://portal.Paychexassistant.com).  
 
If you have any questions regarding our benefit plans, please contact the Paychex Employee 
Service Center at (800) 822-8704.  Benefit plans are subject to change from time to time at the 
discretion of management.  
 

Paid Time Off   

Full-time employees will accrue paid time off (PTO) each pay period based on years of service.   
 

Completed 
Years of Service 

Days Earned  
Per Year 

Hours Accrued Per 
Pay Period Worked 

0 – 3 Years 
(Less than 36 months) 15 days (120 hours) 4.62 

3 years (36 months) 20 days (160 hours) 6.15 
 
PTO will roll over from one anniversary year to the next. Employees may accumulate up to 30 
days of PTO (240 hours for full-time employees). Upon reaching this maximum amount, an 
employee will stop accruing PTO until he or she has used time and once again falls below the 240 
hour maximum. 
 
Time Off pay is based upon normal hours (40 hours per week, in most cases) and will be based on 
an employee’s regular rate of pay excluding overtime, commissions and discretionary bonuses, if 
any. The Company may pro-rate PTO hours for employees working 35-39 hours per week 
accordingly. 
 
Consistent with work requirements, every effort will be made to give you the time off you prefer.  In 
the event that you and another employee select the same time for your vacation and both of you 
cannot be off at the same time, length of service will be the determining factor.  Vacation 
scheduling is performed at least 30 days in advance and approval is at the sole discretion, and is 
the responsibility, of the Company.  You are encouraged to request time off early.  The Company 
reserves the right to schedule employees’ time off based on business necessity. 
 
In order to receive PTO, you must take your time off.  Payment in lieu of using PTO will not be 
made.  
 
Payment of PTO upon Separation From Employment 
Employees will be paid for up to 80 hours of accrued and available (unused) Paid Time Off (PTO) 
upon separation from employment, whether voluntary or involuntary, except in the case of 
termination for serious misconduct. Employees terminated for serious misconduct will not be paid 
for accrued and available PTO upon separation from employment. Serious misconduct includes, 
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but is not limited to: theft or embezzlement, unlawful acts, harassment, workplace violence or 
threats, and breaching Company or customer confidentiality.  
 

Holidays 

The Company observes 10 paid holidays per year: 
 
 New Year's Day 
 Memorial Day 
 Independence Day 
 Labor Day 
 Thanksgiving Day 
 Friday after Thanksgiving 
 Day before Christmas 
 Christmas 
 Two floating holidays  
 
Floating holidays will be designated by the ESS Administrator. However, an employee may 
request that they be allowed to utilize a floating holiday on another workday, or in conjunction with 
another day associated with a celebration of their culture or heritage. Use of a floating holiday is 
subject to the approval of the ESS Administrator. 
 
An employee who is a veteran will be permitted to take the Veterans Day Holiday off if they would 
normally be scheduled to work, provided they submit a request at least 30 days in advance.  The 
day will be granted without pay, or available PTO may be used. 
 
Regular full-time employees receive holiday pay based on their normally scheduled straight time 
hours.  Regular part-time employees receive holiday pay based on their normally scheduled part 
time hours. Persons in temporary assignments do not receive holiday pay. 
 
To the extent allowed by state and federal law, unexcused absences on the workday immediately 
preceding and following a holiday will result in ineligibility for holiday pay.  For the purpose of 
holiday pay, illness immediately preceding or following the holiday must be confirmed by a doctor’s 
note. 
 
When a holiday falls on Saturday, it is usually observed on the preceding Friday.  When a holiday 
falls on a Sunday, it is usually observed on the following Monday.  However, the Company may 
close on another day or grant a floating day off instead of closing as noted previously.  Holiday 
observances will be announced in advance. 
 

Time Off to Vote 

Employees are encouraged to participate in the political process by voting in public elections.  In 
general, an employee who wishes to vote is expected to do so before or after his or her scheduled 
shift.  However, the Company understands that there may be times when your work schedule 
might not leave you enough time outside of your shift to vote.  If, on the day of any election, you do 
not have three consecutive hours outside your scheduled shift during which the polls are open for 
voting, you will be granted such paid time off as will, when combined with your nonworking hours, 
provide you with three consecutive hours to vote.  Each employee who wishes to obtain time off to 
vote must provide advance written notice (prior to Election Day) to his or her supervisor.  The 
Company will designate the particular hours you may take off work to vote. Employees are 
encouraged to take advantage of any available early voting opportunities. 
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No employee will be penalized or retaliated against for requesting time off to vote. 
 
 

Pregnancy Disability Leave 

Pregnancy Disability Leave will be granted to an employee irrespective of her length of service. 
Leave for the birth of a child should be requested a minimum of 60 days in advance of the 
beginning of the leave.  An employee will be required to provide a doctor's certificate estimating the 
starting date and length of leave required by the employee.  A release from the employee’s 
physician will also be required upon returning to work. 
 
A female employee will be granted an unpaid leave of absence for the period of time she is 
disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, or for up to eight weeks, 
whichever is less. The duration of pregnancy disability leave will be determined by the employee’s 
doctor.  Additional leave beyond the period of disability may be requested and granted at the 
company’s discretion but will not be considered job-protected leave and reinstatement is not 
guaranteed. An employee will be required to use available Paid Time Off (PTO) and/or Short-Term 
Disability benefits for her otherwise unpaid pregnancy leave.  Use of PTO or short-term disability 
benefits will not extend an employee’s leave period.  Once available PTO time is exhausted, the 
leave will continue unpaid. 
 
 
An employee will be reinstated to her original job or to a position of comparable status and pay, 
without loss of accumulated seniority at the conclusion of approved leave of eight weeks or less in 
duration.  

Personal Leaves of Absence 

A personal leave of absence without pay may be granted at the discretion of the Company.  
Requests for personal leave should be limited to unusual circumstances requiring an absence of 
longer than two weeks. Employees are required to use any available PTO before beginning a 
Personal Leave of Absence. 

 
Unpaid personal leave for illness and injury is governed by Company policy and federal and state 
laws. 
 
The Company will not pay the Health Care premiums of any employee or if applicable an 
employee’s dependents during a leave of absence unless such payment is required by State or 
federal law.  Contact an Paychex representative or the Employee Service Center at (800) 822-8704 
for information on continuation benefits.  
 
Employees are required to use PTO for personal absences of duration shorter than two weeks. If 
an employee does not have sufficient accumulated PTO, a leave without pay may be granted at 
the Company’s discretion. However, unscheduled short term leave without pay is disruptive to the 
Company’s staffing goals and such leave, unless required by law, will be granted only under 
emergency circumstances. Excessive absenteeism will result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination.  
 
When an employee is ready to return to work following a leave of absence for illness or injury, a 
written release from the treating physician must be provided to the employee's supervisor or the 
ESS Administrator. 
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Bereavement Leave 

Bereavement leave is available to full-time employees in the unfortunate case of a death in the 
family. In the event of the death of a current spouse, child, parent, legal guardian, brother, sister, 
grandparent, grandchild, or, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law or daughter-in-law, you may 
take up to three consecutive scheduled workdays off with pay with the approval of the ESS 
Administrator.  Your supervisor may approve additional unpaid time off. 
 

Jury Duty or Witness Leave 

The Company encourages employees to serve on jury selection or jury duty when called.  Full-time 
employees who have completed at least one year of employment will receive up to five days of 
paid leave in any 12-month period while serving on jury duty, provided the proper documentation is 
submitted.  You should notify your supervisor of the need for time off for jury duty as soon as a 
notice or summons from the court is received.  You may be requested to provide written 
verification from the court clerk of having served.  If work time remains after any day of jury 
selection or jury duty, you will be expected to return to work for the remainder of your work 
schedule. 
 
Employees who receive a subpoena to be a witness at a hearing or trial will be granted Witness 
Leave according to the same requirements for Jury Duty above.  Witness Leave is not granted if 
you volunteer to be a witness.   
 
You may retain any mileage allowance, fees, etc., paid by the court for jury or witness service.  
 
 

Coverage Under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 

At this time, the Company is not considered a covered employer under the Family Medical Leave 
Act because we do not have 50 employees.  Employees are not currently afforded job protection 
for leaves of absence under this Act.  Please direct any questions to your supervisor or the 
Paychex Employee Service Center at (800) 822-8704. 

 

Military Leave 

Eligibility 
Generally, an employee returning from military leave (including temporary leave to perform service 
as a member of the National Guard or the U.S. Armed Forces reserves) is guaranteed 
reemployment and other rights as long as he or she complies with certain notification and other 
requirements. An employee is protected if he or she meets the following criteria: 

 
 The employee gave notice that (s)he was leaving the job for military service (unless 

military necessity or other extenuating circumstances precluded the notice): 
 The period of service was five years or less; 
 The employee was not discharged from service under dishonorable or other punitive 

conditions; and 
 The employee must have reported to his/her civilian job in a timely manner or submitted 

a timely application for reemployment. 
 In some cases, military leaves of absence beyond five years will be protected. 
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Return to Work 
The period of time within which an employee must return to work after the completion of service 
depends on the duration of the military service. Employees who serve less than 31 days are 
required to return to employment by the beginning of the first regularly scheduled work period after 
the completion of military service. Such employees, however, are excused for the amount of time 
required to return home safely and for an eight-hour rest period.  
 
If an employee served between 31 and 180 days, (s)he must file an application for reemployment 
within 14 days after the completion of military service.  
 
If an employee served more than 180 days, (s)he must file an application for reemployment no 
later than 90 days after the completion of military service.  
 
In all cases, if compliance with the time limits becomes impossible or unreasonable through no 
fault of the employee, he or she will be given additional time. Furthermore, reporting and 
application deadlines are extended for up to two years for persons who are hospitalized or 
convalescing from a service-related illness or injury. 
 
Employees returning from the armed services will be reemployed in the job that they would have 
attained if they had not been absent for military service, including any promotion, increase in pay 
and additional job responsibilities.  Further, a returning service member is entitled to all general 
across-the-board pay raises which he or she would have received but for the absence for 
uniformed service. With respect to pay, the term includes all elements of compensation for which 
they were eligible including an hourly rate, piece rate, salaries, commissions, bonuses and shift 
premiums. The Company will provide training or other assistance to returning service members to 
help them refresh or upgrade their skills to qualify for reemployment. 
 
Benefits 
Service members and their families will continue to receive health benefits if the employee’s 
absence is for 30 days or less.  If the service member’s absence will be longer than 30 days, 
eligible dependents may continue health care coverage under COBRA at their expense for up to 
24 months.  Employees returning from military leave will resume health plan coverage without a 
waiting period or other exclusion. 
 
The period of military duty will be counted as covered service for the purposes of retirement plan 
eligibility, vesting and benefit accrual.  The Company may not make plan contributions during a 
military leave.  However, upon reemployment, the Company will restart contributions, if applicable, 
and make up contributions that would have been made during your absence.  If you are required to 
contribute to the retirement plan, you will have up to three times the period of military duty or five 
years, whichever is first, to make the contributions. 
 
Contact a Paychex Representative for further information about military leave. 
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Employee Assistance Program (EAP)  

From time to time an employee may encounter difficulties that require outside assistance for 
personal, emotional, marital, legal, financial, or other related reasons.  Assistance will be provided 
by direct and confidential access to professionals at our Employee Assistance Program. Our EAP 
provider, Employee and Family Resources (EFR), provides confidential services in the following 
areas to employees and members of your household: 
 

 Counseling 
 Legal Consultation 
 Financial Consultation 
 Elder Care Resources and Information 
 Life Coaching 
 Substance Abuse and Treatment 
 Webinars and Videos on various personal health topics 
 Newsletters 
 Better Living Web Resource – Health, Wellness, Safety, Life Skills, Stress Management, 

and more 
 
Contacting the EAP is easy! Just call 1-800-327-4692.  EAP information can also be accessed 
online at Employee and Family Resources (efr.org). You will be able to access the Better Living 
Web Resource, newsletters, and webinars and videos as well as other online resources and 
information or email an EAP counselor from this page. 
 
For more information see: https://portal.oasisassistant.com. 
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PRIVACY, COMPUTER, EMAIL, AND INTERNET POLICIES 
Privacy  

The Company provides furniture, desks, storage areas (e.g., drawers, lockers, files and cabinets), 
work areas, vehicles, other Company-provided equipment/facilities and computers and 
communication systems (including land line and cellular telephones, electronic mail, instant 
messaging, text messaging and internet messaging systems, other licensed software, and other 
systems). These assets are referred to collectively as “Company assets.” These Company assets 
are provided to employees at the Company’s expense to assist you in carrying out Company 
business.   Unless otherwise authorized by management or by Company policy, employees may 
not use Company assets including using Company resources to access the internet at work for 
non-work purposes.  An employee may only use Company assets, including computers and the 
Company information accessible through their use, for purposes authorized by the Company in 
connection with the employee’s job duties. 
 

Use of Company Assets and Technology  

The Company assets belong to the Company and the Company reserves the right (at any time 
and without notice) to access, inspect, inventory, or search any Company asset. Items or 
information of a personal nature may be discovered in the course of any such exercise of the 
Company’s rights if you use the Company assets for personal purposes. There is no right to 
privacy and you consent to such access by accepting and using the Company assets. 
 
Company-issued cellular telephones and other Mobile Devices such as smart phones or tablets 
are issued for business-related purposes only and should not be used for other purposes except in 
an emergency or when otherwise necessary due to the circumstances.  To facilitate 
communication between the Company and its employees, any cell phone or Mobile Device issued 
to an employee must remain on during the employee’s scheduled working hours.  Except for 
designated technical support personnel, the Company does not have an expectation that 
employees will check their Mobile Devices or cell phones during non-work hours.  In the event a 
non-exempt employee uses their Mobile Device or cell phone for work purposes during non-work 
hours, all time must be reported per Company policy. 
 
The Company treats all voice mail and electronic messages received or stored in Company issued 
cell phones or Mobile Devices as business messages in which employees have no expectation of 
privacy. 
 
Information Technology Support 
We wish to ensure that the technology and computing equipment provided to you will facilitate the 
work assigned to you. To do this, we have elected to utilize the services of third-party service 
providers to support and maintain this equipment including computing devices, telephones, printing 
internet services. and anti-virus and malware software. Contact information for these services 
providers will be provided to you by the ESS Administrator.  
 
Company Access and Review 
The Company’s email, instant messaging, text messaging, internet messaging and electronic 
bulletin board systems are to be used for business related purposes and to transmit and receive 
business information.  The Company treats all messages sent, received or stored in its email, 
instant messaging, text messaging, internet messaging and electronic bulletin board systems as 
business messages.  
 
The Company has the capability to access, review, copy and delete any messages sent, received 
or stored on the email system, on other Company computers, electronic and internet resources, 
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and on the message recording and storage systems of Company-issued cell phones and Mobile 
Devices. The Company reserves the right to access, review, copy or delete all such messages or 
to search any Company Assets for any purpose and to disclose them to any party (inside or 
outside the Company) it deems appropriate.  By using the Company assets, you agree that you 
have no reasonable expectation of privacy in relation to such usage or any items or information 
stored in the Company assets. 
 
Should employees make incidental use of the email, instant messaging, text messaging, internet 
messaging or electronic bulletin board systems, or of Company-issued cell phones or Mobile 
Devices to transmit or receive personal messages, such messages will be treated no differently 
than other messages, i.e., the Company reserves the right to access, review, copy, delete or 
disclose them for any purpose. Accordingly, employees should not use the computer or the email 
system, or any other Company owned or a Company issued electronic device (including voice and 
text message storage and retrieval systems), to send, receive or store any messages that they 
wish to keep private. Users should treat the computer and the email, instant messaging, text 
messaging, internet messaging and electronic bulletin board systems, and the message storage 
and retrieval functions of the Company’s cell phones, voice mail systems and Mobile Devices, like 
a shared file system - with the expectation that messages sent, received or stored in the system 
(including individual hard disks, chips and other memory storage devices) will be available for 
review by any authorized representative of the Company for any purpose.  
 
Company issued cell phones and Mobile Devices likely contain GPS tracking devices that permit 
tracking of the location of our Company property and employees.  Employees are prohibited from 
disabling or interfering with any function (including the GPS tracking device) of a Company issued 
cell phone or Mobile Device.  During an employee’s scheduled working hours, the Company 
reserves the right to monitor the geographic location of any Company issued electronic device.  
Accordingly, any employee who is issued a Company provided cell phone or Mobile Device 
understands that GPS technology may be employed to track his or her whereabouts during his or 
her scheduled working hours.  Employees should have no expectation of privacy in their physical 
location during their scheduled working hours. 
 
Effective Use of Electronic Communications 
To use electronic communication tools effectively, employees should follow these guidelines: 
 

 Emails and other electronic messages are not a substitute for oral communication.  If you 
have a matter of importance to discuss, do so in person. 

 Emails and other electronic communications are to be limited to work related matters, and 
business etiquette is to be utilized in drafting messages. 

 Reports of late arrivals or early departures should be conveyed via electronic message. If 
a confirmation response is not received, then reports should be made in person or over 
the phone.  Please follow Company attendance policies. 

 Network security procedures are to be followed at all times.   
 Never open attachments from an unknown source. 
 Avoid sending confidential, proprietary, or trade secret information via text message, email 

or any other electronic means. 
 Do not send emails or electronic messages under another employee’s login ID. 
 Off-color humor, foul, inappropriate, offensive or discriminatory language and harassment 

of any kind are prohibited. 
 Software which is not a part of the Company’s standard software package shall not be 

installed on Company computer devices without the permission of the ESS Administrator 
and the engagement of the Company’s designated IT service provider. 

 
Improper use of email or electronic messaging may result in discipline up to and including 
termination. 
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Copyrighted Information 
Use of the email system, copy machines, fax machines or other Company assets or technology to 
copy and/or transmit any documents, software, or other information protected by copyright laws is 
prohibited and will result in disciplinary action. 
 
 
Other Prohibited Uses 
The Company prohibits use of the email system, the Company computer system, or other means 
of electronic communication to engage in any communications that are in violation of Company 
policies, including but not limited to transmission of defamatory, obscene, offensive or harassing 
messages, or messages that disclose personal information about other individuals without 
authorization.  
 

Online Activity Policy 

Introduction 
New technologies and online tools are emerging and evolving at an increasingly rapid pace.  
These fundamental shifts in technology and its uses have led to more and more connections 
between formerly separate parts of our lives, and connections to persons with whom we used to 
have limited or no contact.  Boundaries between personal and work lives sometimes become 
blurred or even forgotten with the widespread and instantaneous sharing of information, opinions, 
interests, and activities, and the widespread availability of electronic devices.  This can result in 
unintended consequences and risks for you and for the Company.   
 
Risks  
Your online activities may pose certain risks to you, to others, and to the Company, including but 
not limited to the potential for:  

 Decreased productivity, efficiency, and performance;  
 Reduction of, and threats to, the performance and capacity of Company networks and 

equipment; 
 Disclosure of confidential customer or business proprietary and/or trade secret 

information; 
 Breaches of other Company privacy or security rules; and  
 Other activities that might expose you, others, or The Company to legal liability. 

 
Many of these risks are present whether the use of electronic devices and online activities occur at 
work or when you are off-duty.   
 
Purpose 
Because of these risks, the Company has developed the following policy to help you navigate 
issues related to your online activities and use of electronic devices, and to clarify your 
responsibilities and the Company’s expectations regarding the same. ESS respects the privacy 
and confidentiality of its customers and employees, which is critical to maintaining a professional, 
respectful, efficient, and ethical environment.  
 
Definitions 
For purposes of this policy, “online activity” includes but is not limited to wired or wireless 
communications, access to, use of, or communications stored, sent, or received over the Internet, 
email, or any interactive online media, tool, or function (such as social or professional networking 
sites like Facebook or LinkedIn; microblogging services like Twitter; weblogs; chat rooms; listservs; 
and other online profiles or online forums), as well as text, photo, or data messaging. Online 
activity includes all such communications, access, use, storage, and messaging, whether over a 
fixed or mobile electronic device. 
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For purposes of this policy, “electronic device” includes but is not limited to desktop computers, 
laptops, landline phones, cell phones, smart phones, web-enabled handheld devices, networks, 
servers, technology systems, and other communications and computer equipment. 
 
 
 
Policy 
The Company takes no position on your decision to participate in personal online activities.  
However, what you do or say online has the potential to impact your employer.  To the extent you 
choose to engage in personal online activity, such activity must comply with these guidelines and 
all other Company policies.   
 
In your online activity, you may not represent that you are speaking on the Company’s behalf 
unless you have been given written authority from the ESS Administrator to engage in the activity 
or the activity is clearly required by your job duties and expressly authorized by the Company. 
 
In your online activity, you may not use or disclose Company confidential and/or proprietary 
information, Company marketing strategies, or other confidential information unrelated to the terms 
and conditions of your employment. Your online activity must comply with the Company’s 
Confidentiality and Trade Secret Information policy. 
 
In your online activity, you must not engage in communications that are vulgar, obscene, 
threatening, intimidating, harassing, or a violation of Company workplace policies against illegal 
discrimination, harassment, or hostility because of a person’s sex, race, color, religion, creed, 
national origin, age, pregnancy, disability, military service, genetic information, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, or any other characteristic protected by applicable federal or state law.   
 
In your online activity, your communications must not include maliciously false defamatory 
statements. 
 
You may not use the Company’s name or logo when you are engaged or depicted in online activity 
that violates Company policies, is illegal, or is otherwise unrelated to communications regarding 
the terms and conditions of your employment. 
 
All online responses to reference inquiries (via LinkedIn or other platform) must comply with the 
Company policy on reference checks.   
 
Employees may not pressure co-workers to connect or communicate with them through online 
activity, such as harassing conduct intended to induce a social network “friend” request. 
 
When using Company-provided electronic devices for online and other activity, you must enable 
and comply with the Company’s security procedures, including use of approved anti-virus software.   
 
Company-provided electronic devices, including those specially-designated for personal online 
activities, cannot be used to access online video services, streaming video or audio, Internet 
telephone services, peer-to-peer file sharing or other large files that may adversely impact the 
Company’s information technology system performance.  Generally, accessing and downloading 
large files may be blocked to protect the Company’s network performance. 
 
All communications and information transmitted by, transmitted to, received by, received from, 
shared by, shared with, or stored in Company-provided electronic devices (all such 
communications and information hereafter, “Communications”) are not considered private as to 
any individual employee, are the property of the Company, and are to be used only for legitimate 
business purposes.  All such electronic devices and Communications are subject to interception 
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and monitoring by the Company, including those Company-provided electronic devices specially-
designated for personal online activities.   
 
If employees have any work-related concerns, they are encouraged to attempt resolving those 
issues by raising them directly with Company management.   
 
 
 
Company Social Media Sites and Blogs 
LinkedIn Company pages and profiles and Company-sponsored blogs are the property of the 
Company. Twitter and Facebook accounts, or other social media or online accounts opened or 
designated for the purpose of marketing Company events or services or communicating with the 
general public or otherwise conducting Company business are considered the property of the 
Company. The content, profiles, followers/ connections, data, and access information for these 
sites belongs to the Company.  
 
System Administrators and Account Managers for these sites must ensure that a member of senior 
management has all passwords and usernames to these sites and must obtain permission from 
the ESS Administrator prior to changing passwords or making other changes which affect user 
accessibility. 
 
Scope 
Although this policy may touch upon specific technologies used today, the policy must be 
interpreted broadly, as changes to and uses of such technologies have been and will continue to 
grow so rapidly that no policy can keep pace with individual developments. 
 
This policy is not intended to interfere with or restrain employees’ rights to engage in protected 
concerted activity under the National Labor Relations Act, or any other activity protected under the 
law, and will not be applied to limit such protected activity. 
 
Disciplinary Action 
Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of 
employment. 
 
Questions   
If you have a question about this policy or how your online activity may impact or be impacted by 
the Company’s other business policies, you should notify management. 
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SAFETY AND SECURITY 
Privacy 

Company assets belong to the Company and the Company reserves the right (at any time and 
without notice) to access, inspect, inventory, or search any asset. Items or information of a 
personal nature may be discovered in the course of any such activity if you use the Company 
assets for personal purposes. The Company reserves the right to access, review, copy, or delete 
all files and messages or to search any assets for any purpose and to disclose them to any party 
(inside or outside the Company) it deems appropriate. There is no right to privacy and you consent 
to such access by accepting and using Company assets.  
 
The Company treats all voice mail and electronic messages/mail received or stored in Company-
issued computers, phones, cell phones, or Mobile Devices as business messages in which 
employees have no expectation of privacy. The Company reserves the right to inspect, monitor 
and have access to company computers, electronic mail, voice mail messages and Internet 
communications. 
 
It is the policy of the Company, when deemed necessary by management, for authorized persons 
to search and inspect both Company property and personal items, including vehicles, brought onto 
Company property. All inspection will occur with the knowledge of the ESS Administrator. An 
employee’s refusal to cooperate in a search, inspection or investigation will result in disciplinary 
action up to and including termination. 
 
The Company assumes no liability whatsoever for the damage, loss or theft caused by third parties 
to the personal property of staff members. 

Security 

In simplest terms, security is for the purpose of protecting people, Company property and 
information.  
 
The security of our facility as well as the welfare of our employees requires that every individual be 
constantly aware of potential security risks.  You should immediately notify your supervisor when 
unknown persons are acting in a suspicious manner, in or around the facility, or when keys, 
security passes or identification badges are lost or misplaced. 
 
Employees entrusted with keys or security codes to the office or other Company facilities are 
responsible for the safekeeping of the keys and/or access cards or codes, the security and 
protection of Company property, as well as any activity taking place while the employee is present 
and the office is closed. 
 

Injury Reporting Procedure 

Employees are required to report any work-related injury or illness, no matter how small, to their 
immediate supervisor. The supervisor will supply, and the employee shall help the supervisor 
complete the required injury and illness incident report.  In addition, all employees who have 
experienced a work-related injury or illness shall refer to and observe the Company policy or 
procedure in regard to submitting a claim for workers’ compensation. An employee who needs 
assistance with filing a claim for workers' compensation should contact Paychex, a supervisor or 
the ESS Administrator as soon as possible.  Failure to submit a timely claim can adversely 
affect workers' compensation benefits.  
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Prevention of Violence in the Workplace  

The Company has a no tolerance policy for workplace violence, verbal and nonverbal threats and 
related actions. 
 
 
Employees should immediately report to their supervisor such incidents or threats.  We encourage 
employees to promptly report such incidents and to suggest ways to reduce or eliminate risks.  The 
Company will not retaliate against any employee for reporting such an incident, and will not 
knowingly permit any retaliation by management or non-management employees. 
 

Vehicle Safety and Usage Policy 

ESS has made a commitment of safety, service, and quality to our employees, customers, and the 
general public.  The Company mandates that our employees operate all vehicles owned by or in 
the care of the Company, or personal vehicles used for business purposes, in a safe, lawful and 
economical manner. 
 
Vehicles may not be operated unless both the driver and vehicle are in a safe operating condition.  
Drivers must be physically and mentally able to drive safely.  Drivers must conform to all traffic 
laws as well as respect the rights of other drivers and pedestrians.  Drivers may not use or be 
under the influence of drugs or alcohol while operating a vehicle owned by or under the care of the 
Company. Smoking is not permitted in or around Company vehicles. Any damage to a Company 
vehicle, accident, or traffic violation received while operating a Company vehicle must be reported 
to your supervisor immediately. 
 
Employees who are asked to operate a vehicle belonging to the Company or who may be asked to 
use their personal vehicle to conduct Company business are required to have a valid drivers’ 
license. Employees without a valid drivers’ license have a responsibility to notify their supervisor 
that they are not able to drive if asked to drive for business purposes. Failure to do so may result in 
a violation of the law and will be grounds for disciplinary action, including termination.  
 
If a Company vehicle is not available when needed for a business purpose, employees will be 
reimbursed for approved mileage in accordance with the normal expense reimbursement 
procedure. Employees using personal cars on Company business are required to carry, at their 
own expense, insurance for the minimum limits of liability required by his or her state of residence. 
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ADVERSE POLICY IMPACT 
The Company has implemented numerous policies that are designed to achieve important 
business objectives.  We recognize, however, that an otherwise legitimate workplace policy can 
have unintended consequences to individuals in a particular group or class.  If you feel that one of 
our policies adversely impacts you due to your unique circumstances (e.g. your membership in 
one of the “protected classes”), you may seek accommodation regarding such policy.  The 
procedure to seek this accommodation is as follows:  Deliver to your supervisor (or your 
supervisor’s supervisor) a memorandum, in writing, which identifies (1) the policy at issue; (2) the 
reason why the policy, as it applies to you, creates an adverse impact on you; and (3) the 
accommodation that you request to avoid this adverse impact. 
 
Examples of “protected classes” include, but may not be limited to, race, color, creed, sex 
(including pregnancy), religion, marital status, age, national origin or ancestry, physical or mental 
disability, medical condition, genetic information, gender identity, sexual orientation, or military 
status. 
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EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

 
 

 I hereby acknowledge receipt of the ESS Employee Handbook. I have read, understand and agree 
to follow the policies and procedures contained therein.  I understand that, except for the employment at-will 
policy, the Company can change any and all policies or practices at any time.   
 
 In consideration of my employment, I agree to conform to the rules and regulations of the Company 
and agree that my employment and compensation can be terminated, with or without cause, and with or 
without notice, at any time, at the option of either the Company or me.  I understand that no manager or 
representative of the Company other than the ESS Administrator has any authority to enter into any 
agreement for employment for any specified period of time, or to make any agreement contrary to the 
foregoing, and that such changes must be in writing.   
 
 My signature below certifies that I understand that the foregoing agreement on employment at-will 
status is the sole and entire agreement between the Company and me concerning the duration of my 
employment and the circumstances under which my employment may be terminated.  This Agreement 
supersedes all prior agreements, understandings and representations concerning my employment. 
 
If I have any questions about the content or interpretation of this handbook, I will contact the ESS 
Administrator. 
 
 
 
 
 
Date  Employee Signature 
 
 
 
 
       Print Name 
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Chapter 8 
Policy and Procedures Compliance 

 
Chapter 8 of the Electronic Services System (ESS) Policies and Procedures is 
amended to clarify that the ESS Coordinating Committee is the governing body 
which is responsible for implementing this Chapter. This reflects the change in 
the ESS governance structure with the adoption of an amendment to the 28E 
agreement as filed with the Iowa Secretary of State on December 16, 2021 (Filing 
Number M514302). 
 
1. Section 8.1 of the ESS Policies and Procedures is amended by adding the 

following new definition. 
 

ESS – 8.1 Definitions. 
(Iowa Code Section 331.604, 3(a)) 

 
As used in this Chapter: 
 
County – A political subdivision of the State of Iowa as defined in Chapter 331 of 
the Iowa Code. 
 
County Official – An official defined in Section 331.101 of the Iowa Code 
including an Auditor, Board, Clerk, County Attorney, Recorder, Sheriff, 
Supervisor or Treasurer. 
 
ESS Coordinating Committee –The committee established under the Electronic 
Services System 28E Agreement to coordinate efforts to deliver services and 
information through ESS, and to make policy regarding the operations of ESS. 
 
 
2. Section 8.2 of the ESS Policies and Procedures is amended as follows. 
 
ESS – 8.2 Authority and Purpose. 
(Iowa Code Section 331.604, 3(a)) 

 
8.2(1) As specified in Chapter 1.2 (2), each county shall participate in the county 
land record information system, and shall comply with the policies and 
procedures established by the ICRA Executive Board or the ESS Coordinating 
Committee.  All policies and procedures adopted herein shall apply to all 
Counties, County officials and staff, and to any third party service providers 
engaged in activities affecting the operations of the Electronic Services System 
and the county land record information system. 
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3. Section 8.3 of the ESS Policies and Procedures is amended as follows. 
 
ESS – 8.3 County Notification. 
(Iowa Code Section 331.604, 3(a)) 

 
8.3(1) It is the intent of the ICRA Executive Board and the ESS Coordinating 
Committee to secure the voluntary participation of each County in the Electronic 
Services System and the county land record information.  To the extent possible 
the ICRA Executive Board and the ESS Coordinating Committee shall seek ways 
to cooperate and collaborate with a County or County Official to address any 
issues which may be preventing or inhibiting compliance with any policy or 
procedure.  However, if a County or County Official is purposefully or willfully 
failing to comply with a policy or procedure, then the Electronic Services System 
and the county land record information shall take appropriate progressive action 
to secure compliance by the County or County Official. 
 
8.3(2) When there is an indication that a County or County Official is not in 
compliance with a policy or procedure established by the ICRA Executive Board 
or the ESS Coordinating Committee as published herein, then the ICRA 
Executive Board or the ESS Coordinating Committee shall initiate 
communications with the County or County official to review the issue and to 
explore ways to secure voluntary and timely compliance.  Any efforts to secure 
voluntary compliance shall be documented. 
 
8.3(3) If a County or County Official is not compliant with a policy or procedure 
following efforts to secure voluntary compliance, then the ICRA Executive Board 
or the ESS Coordinating Committee shall provide written notice to the County 
including the County Official, the Board of Supervisors, and the County Attorney.  
The County or County Official shall within thirty days either comply with the 
policy or provide a plan for compliance with a specific schedule of action steps. 
 
8.3(4) If a County or County Official fails to comply with a policy or procedure 
within thirty days of the written notice, or if a County or County Official does not 
respond to a written notice within the thirty day period, then the ICRA Executive 
Board or the ESS Coordinating Committee may take one or more of the following 
actions at their discretion. 
 

 File action in District Court seeking a judicial declaratory ruling to require 
compliance with the policy or procedure. 

 File a Report of Nonfelonious Misconduct in Office with the County 
Attorney under Section 721.2 of the Iowa Code, or with the Attorney 
General if applicable. 

 Notify the public of the willful or habitual neglect or refusal to perform 
the duties of the office on the part of the County or County Official, and 
advise the public of their right to petition under Sections 66.1A and 66.3 
of the Iowa Code. 
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 File an action in mandamus against officials for failing to comply with 
policies, procedures or state law. 
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ADAIR

Janelle Schneider (R)
400 Public Square, Ste. 6  

Greenfield, IA 50849  
 

Phone: 641-743-2411  
Fax: 641-343-0121  

Office Hours: 8:00 a.m.– 4:30 p.m.  
Email: recorder@adaircountyiowa.org  

Date Entered Office: January 2003  

District 4  
County Population: 7,682  

 
Cell Phone: 641-431-0676  

Birthday: April 21

Service Provider: Tyler-EagleESS Committee - Page 148



ADAMS

Jamie Stargell (R)
500 9th Street, PO Box 28 

Corning, IA 50841 

Phone: 641-322-3744
Fax: 641-322-3747 

Office Hours: 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m.
E-mail: adamsrecorder@adamscountyia.com

Date Entered Office: January 2015
 

District 4
County Population: 3,686

Cell Phone: 712-621-0893
Birthday: February 2

Service Provider: Solutions
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Iowa County 

Recorders  
Association

Contact Your Local 
COUNTY RECORDER

Our  
SERVICES

Vital Records
Birth, Death & Marriage Records 

Marriage Licenses

ATV, Boat &  
Snowmobile Registration

Military Records 

Hunting & Fishing Licenses  
Service Provided by Select Counties

Passports 
Service Provided by Select Counties

Real Estate Records

ESS  
COMMITTEES

ICRA 
COMMITTEES

The Iowa County Recorders Association has 
several committees in place to assist with 
various aspects of the association: 

• Vital Records Committee
• DNR Liaison Committee 
• Certification Committee
• Records Retention Manual Committee
• Recorders Manual Committee

In addition to serving on committees for the Iowa 
County Recorders Association, county recorders 
also serve on various committees relating to the 
Electronic Services System (ESS), also known 
as Iowa Land Records. The committees and 
subcommittees make a variety of decisions in 
relation to the state-wide land records system. Iowa 
county recorders are represented on the following 
ESS committees and subcommittees:

• ESS Coordinating Committee
• ESS Finance Subcommittee
• ESS Standards Subcommittee
• ESS Marketing and Communications 

Subcommittee
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Iowa Land Records  
A STATEWIDE SYSTEM

The Office of  
COUNTY RECORDER

Iowa’s 
ECONOMIC SYSTEM

Recorder 
Responsibilities

The Office of County Recorder was created by the 
first Legislative Assembly of the Territory of Iowa 
in 1839. The basic duty of a county recorder was to 
maintain official records of real estate documents in 
order to preserve property rights. Since 1839, county 
recorders have acquired more responsibilities, 
serving as Registrar of Vital Records, passport 
agents, and issuer of recreational vehicle 
registrations and hunting and fishing licenses. 

Recorders attend several annual meetings, 
trainings and conferences including spring and 
fall school with the Iowa State Association 
of Counties and the Iowa County Recorders 
Association summer school. 

These meetings include training with state 
departments and the Iowa Land Records team. 
Legislative, policy and recording standards are 
discussed in district meetings  and presented 
to the entire association at least twice a year.  
Software user meetings also meet regularly to 
discuss issues and recommend improvements.

Every parcel, building, and piece of property in 
Iowa is represented in a document that has been 
recorded in a county recorder’s office. These 
documents are a visable sign of a complex process 
that is foundational for the economy.  

Many transactions within a county depend on the 
process carried out in the office of the county 
recorder. On a daily basis, a county recorder 
assists at least four (4) state departments: The 
Iowa Secretary of State, Iowa Department of Public 
Health, Iowa Department of Revenue and Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources. Recorders that 
provide passport services work with a federal 
agency, the U.S. Department of State. 

Educational  
TRAININGS & MEETINGS

ICRA  
CERTIFICATION PROGRAM
In 2010 the Iowa County Recorders Association 
Executive Board appointed a task force to research 
and develop a formalized continuing education 
program to help county recorders and deputies 
more effectively fulfill their managerial duties and 
professional responsibilities.  

From this process, the Iowa County Recorders 
Association Certification Program was established. 
Designed as a two year program, it consists of 12 
core credit hours that must be earned to obtain 
certified recorder status or certified deputy status.  

Iowa Land Records and the Electronic Services 
System (ESS) emerged from SF453, an 
appropriations bill describing the purpose for 
ESS was to “implement electronic recording 
and electronic transactions in each county and 
developing a county and statewide internet website 
to provide prowvide electronic access to records 
and information.”  
 
Iowa Land Records was the first statewide land 
records and electronic submission system in the 
nation.

With the creation of the Iowa Land Records 
system, county recorders were able to integrate 
and maintain a state-wide database for county 
records that can be accessed 24/7, and while 
doing so, a disaster recovery system that all 
county recorders can access was created. Nearly 
22 million documents are accessible to the public 
through Iowa Land Records. 

Iowa Land Records is much more than just a 
website for researching real estate records. It is 
also the first statewide interface for electronic 
recording. Since 2007, Iowa County Recorders 
have recorded more than one million documents 
online. On average 56% of all documents are now 
electronically recorded. 

www.iowalandrecords.org 
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People, Process & Performance 

An Iowa Land Records Guide to Success 

September 22, 2022 
West Des Moines, IA 

8:00 AM - 4:00 PM 
$100/person 

Includes: Breakfast, Lunch and Snack

RSVP By:  
September 8th

 
Register Online At:  

https://iowalandrecords.org/event/2022-conference-registration/

Send Payment To: 
8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2 

Johnston, IA 50131

Staff Conference

Event Details

Members of County Recorder office staff are invited to attend a day-long Iowa Land Records 
Fall Conference. The agenda will focus on skills for Deputy Recorders and other office staff. This 
content would also be suitable for new county recorders or anyone looking for a refresher on Iowa 
Land Records basics. The conference agenda will be published soon, but you can expect topics to 
include leadership and customer service skills, e-submission basics, portal basics and more!
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Event Venue 

Lodging 

Networking Event

West 48 Conference Center 
1601 48th Street, Suite 100 
West Des Moines, IA 50266 

www.bluecompass.com/west48

Sheraton West Des Moines Hotel 
1800 50th Street  

West Des Moines, IA 50266
(Seconds from I-35/80 on University Avenue)

A block of rooms has been reserved under Iowa 
Land Records. The room rate is $139.00, plus 12% 
occupancy tax ($155.68)per night. The hotel is 
certified in human trafficking requirements and is a 
short walk to the networking event. The conference 
venue is only a few blocks away.  

Wednesday, September 21st 
5:00 PM - 7 PM

Tavern Pizza 
1755 50th St 

West Des Moines, IA 50266

Restaurant is a short walk from the hotel. Appetizers, 
food and non-alcoholic beverages will be provided. 
Other beverages will be available for purchase on an 
individual basis.

More information regarding keynote speaker and agenda topics coming soon! 
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Registration Slip
Please register online at: 
 
In addition, please fill in basic information below to provide to your county for payment purposes. Please 
ask them to enclose this page of the form with your registration fees so we can verify this form against 
your online registration.  
 
Send payment to: Iowa Land Records: 8711 Windsor Parkway, Ste 2 , Johnston, IA 50131.  
PLEASE MAKE CHECKS PAYABLE TO : Electronic Services System

Attendee #1 
 
Name:  
 
Role:  
 
County: 

Attendee #2
 
Name:  
 
Role:  
 
County: 

Attendee #3
 
Name:  
 
Role:  
 
County: 

Attendee #4
 
Name:  
 
Role:  
 
County: 

______________________________ County is sending a total of _______ staff members to the Iowa Land 

Records conference. The registration fee is $100 per attendee. The total amount due to Iowa Land 

Records is $____________. 
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2022 Conference Agenda

People, Process & Performance:  
An Iowa Land Records Guide to Success

West 48 Conference Center - 1601 48th Street, Suite 100 | West Des Moines, IA 50266

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2021
Welcome / Networking Event
Tavern Pizza Restaurant 

5:00 PM - 7:00 PM

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 22, 2021

Registration & Breakfast/Coffee Service7:30 AM - 8:30 AM

Welcome and Opening Remarks
Nancy Booten, ESS Coordinating Committee Chair

8:30 AM - 8:35 AM

You are the TEAM: How Everyone Succeeds Together
Mike Wagner | White Rabbit Group, Keynote Speaker 

8:35 AM - 9:35 AM

E-Submission Staples for Success
Lisa Long, Customer Service & Account Manager

9:40 AM - 10:25 AM

Refreshment Break10:25 AM - 10:40 AM

Grief at the Counter  
Brecka Putnam, Social Worker & Bereavement Coordinator

10:45 AM - 11:45 AM

Luncheon11:45 AM - 12:30 PM

ILR Portal- Searching for Excellence 
Phil Dunshee, ILR Project Manager
 

ISBA & DNR Panel Discussion 
Groundwater Hazard Update 

12:35 PM - 1:30 PM

Roundtable Discussion 
Facilitated by Iowa Land Records Staff

2:00 PM - 2:30 PM

1:30 PM - 2:00 PM

Refreshment Break2:30 PM - 2:45 PM

ILR Policies & Procedures Highlights
Census Lo-Liyong

2:50 PM - 3:30 PM
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DRAFT DOCUMENT – NOT PROPOSED OR FINAL RULEMAKING 

5 

 

The following rule-making action proposed: 

 

ITEM 1.  Amend subrule 9.1(4) as follows: 

9.1(4) When groundwater hazard statement is required. A groundwater hazard statement 

shall be presented to the county recorder along with the real estate transaction documents only 

when required by Iowa Code section 558.69 or when otherwise required by Iowa law. for any real 

estate transaction in which either of the following circumstances exists: 

a.     A declaration of value is required to be submitted pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 

428A. 

b.     A private sewage disposal system inspection is required pursuant to 2008 Iowa 

Acts, chapter 1033, section 1. It shall be the duty of the transferor to determine whether an 

inspection is required and to include the groundwater hazard statement and certified inspector’s 

report when filing transfer documents that do not require a declaration of value. 

 

ITEM 2.  Amend subrule 9.2(1) as follows: 

9.2(1) a. The department hereby adopts by reference Form 542-0960, “Groundwater 

Hazard Statement,” as amended through date of rule, which may be obtained from the department 

or local county recorder. When a groundwater hazard statement is required to be presented to a 

county recorder pursuant to subrule 9.1(2), Tthe transferor or the transferor’s agent or attorney 

shall complete and sign department complete and present Form 542-0960, “Groundwater Hazard 

Statement,” which may be obtained from the department or local county recorder. AnThe 

transferor’s agent or attorney may sign the form for on behalf of the transferor, but in doing so the 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT – NOT PROPOSED OR FINAL RULEMAKING 

6 

agent or attorney represents that a good-faith inquiry of the transferor has been made regarding the 

information contained in the form and that the information is correct. The department hereby 

adopts by reference Form 542-0960, “Groundwater Hazard Statement,” as amended through July 

18, 2012.  

b. For all real estate transactions where a groundwater hazard statement is required to be 

submitted to a county recorder pursuant to subrule 9.1(4) and where the real estate transaction is 

dated July 18, 2012after enactment of these rules, or later, a county recorder shall accept only the 

currently adopted form. The department authorizes the reproduction of Form 542-0960 by any 

person through photocopying or electronic means so long as the general format and wording are 

not altered in the reproduction thereof. 

 

ITEM 3.  Amend subrule 9.2(3) as follows: 

9.2(3) In all cases, the county recorder shall return the original of or present the statement 

to the transferee when with the recorded instrument when the instrument is returned or presented 

to the transferee or their designee. If the statement submitted reveals that there is a well, a disposal 

site, an underground storage tank, or hazardous waste on the property, a copy of the form shall be 

submitted to the department within 15 days after the close of each month. If a standardized 

electronic format is established by agreement between the Iowa County Recorders Association 

and the department, then the department’s copy may be submitted electronically in the manner 

established by the agreement. Forms on which a private burial site is the sole matter disclosed and 

which do not reveal the existence of a well, disposal site, underground storage tank, or hazardous 

waste on the property shall not be submitted to the department. Forms shall be retained by the 

department for a period of five years. 
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DRAFT DOCUMENT – NOT PROPOSED OR FINAL RULEMAKING 
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ITEM 4.  Rescind subrule 9.2(4) and adopt the following new subrule in lieu thereof: 

9.2(4)  Submission of forms to the department.  When a county recorder accepts a groundwater 

hazard statement for recording, the county recorder shall transmit the groundwater hazard 

statement form to the department through one of the following methods:  

a. Upon written agreement between the department and the custodian of the county land 

record information system, recorded groundwater hazard statement forms shall be presented to the 

department through a browser interface provided through the county land record information 

system, for so long as such an agreement remains in place.  Any agreement shall include, but not 

be limited to, a requirement that each form be posted to the system within 15 days of recording 

and a requirement that each form remain on the system for at least five years.   

b. In the absence of such an agreement, or if the county land record system is inoperable, 

a county recorder shall submit to the department via email a scanned or digital copy of each 

groundwater hazard statement form within 15 days of its recording. All emails shall be directed to 

the department’s records division. Forms in the custody of the department shall be retained for a 

period of at least five years. 

 

 

ITEM 5.  Adopt the following new subrule 9.2(5): 

9.2(5) Nothing in these rules shall be construed as requiring any party to submit to the 

department the first page of any document that transfers a property on which no conditions are 

present.  
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December 21, 2022 FILE WITH RECORDER DNR Form 542-0960 

 

 
 
If the transaction is exempt from filing a declaration of value pursuant to Iowa Code 428A.1(2), STOP HERE.  Pursuant to Iowa 
Code section 558.69(1), when no declaration of value is submitted during a transaction, you are not required to submit a 
groundwater hazard statement or include the statutory language in Iowa Code section 558.69(8A).  Please consult your 
realtor or legal counsel for further advice on whether a declaration of value is required.  The Department provides this 
information for statutory reference only.   
 
Instructions for this document can be found at: 
https://www.iowadnr.gov/Portals/idnr/uploads/forms/5420960%20Instructions.pdf 
 
 
Attachment 1, if required, can be found at https://www.iowadnr.gov/API/Evotiva-
UserFiles/FileActionsServices/DownloadFile?ItemId=16295&ModuleId=16343&TabId=1494 
 
 

TRANSFEROR: 

Name       

Address                         
 Number and Street or RR City, Town or PO State Zip 

TRANSFEREE: 

Name       

Address                         
 Number and Street or RR City, Town or PO State Zip 

Address of Property Transferred: 

                        
Number and Street or RR City, Town or PO State Zip 

Legal Description of Property: (Attach if necessary) 

      

      

 
1. Wells (check one) 

 No Condition - There are no known wells situated on this property. 
 Condition Present - There is a well or wells situated on this property. The type(s), location(s) and legal status are 

stated below or set forth on an attached separate sheet, as necessary. 
 

2. Solid Waste Disposal (check one) 
 No Condition - There is no known solid waste disposal site on this property. 
 Condition Present - There is a solid waste disposal site on this property and information related thereto is provided 

in Attachment #1, attached to this document. 
 

3. Hazardous Wastes (check one) 
 No Condition - There is no known hazardous waste on this property. 
 Condition Present - There is hazardous waste on this property and information related thereto is provided in 

Attachment #1, attached to this document. 
 

4. Underground Storage Tanks (check one) 

REAL ESTATE TRANSFER - GROUNDWATER HAZARD STATEMENT 
TO BE COMPLETED IN FULL BY TRANSFEROR 
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December 21, 2022 FILE WITH RECORDER DNR Form 542-0960 

 No Condition - There are no known underground storage tanks on this property. (Note exclusions such as small farm 
and residential motor fuel tanks, most heating oil tanks, cisterns and septic tanks, in instructions.) 

 Condition Present - There is an underground storage tank on this property. The type(s), size(s) and any known 
substance(s) contained are listed below or on an attached separate sheet, as necessary. 

5. Private Burial Site (check one) 
 No Condition - There are no known private burial sites on this property. 
 Condition Present - There is a private burial site on this property. The location(s) of the site(s) and known identifying 

information of the decedent(s) is stated below or on an attached separate sheet, as necessary. 
 

6. Private Sewage Disposal System (check one) 
 No Condition - All buildings on this property are served by a public or semi-public sewage disposal system. 
 No Condition - This transaction does not involve the transfer of any building which has or is required by law to have 

a sewage disposal system.  
 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property or a building 

without any lawful sewage disposal system. A certified inspector’s report is attached which documents the condition 
of the private sewage disposal system and whether any modifications are required to conform to standards adopted 
by the Department of Natural Resources. A certified inspection report must be accompanied by this form when 
recording.  

 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property. Weather or other 
temporary physical conditions prevent the certified inspection of the private sewage disposal system from being 
conducted. The buyer has executed a binding acknowledgment with the county board of health to conduct a 
certified inspection of the private sewage disposal system at the earliest practicable time and to be responsible for 
any required modifications to the private sewage disposal system as identified by the certified inspection. A copy of 
the binding acknowledgment is attached to this form.  

 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property. The system is 
failing to ensure effective wastewater treatment or is otherwise improperly functioning, and the buyer has executed 
a binding acknowledgment with the county board of health to install a new private sewage disposal system on this 
property within an agreed upon time period. A copy of the binding acknowledgment is provided with this form.  

 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property. The building to 
which the sewage disposal system is connected will be demolished without being occupied. The buyer has executed 
a binding acknowledgment with the county board of health to demolish the building within an agreed upon time 
period. A copy of the binding acknowledgment is provided with this form. [Exemption #7] 

 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property. This property is 
exempt from the private sewage disposal inspection requirements pursuant to the following 

Exemption [Note: for exemption #7 use prior check 
box]:        

 Condition Present - There is a building served by private sewage disposal system on this property.  The private 
sewage disposal system has been installed within the past two years pursuant to permit number:  
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December 21, 2022 FILE WITH RECORDER DNR Form 542-0960 

Review the following two directions carefully: 
 
A. If you selected a box stating “No Condition” for every numbered section above, STOP HERE.  Do not submit this form.  

Instead, pursuant to Iowa Code section 558.69(8A), you must include the following language on the first page of the 
recorded deed, instrument, or other writing: 

 
“There is no known private burial site, well, solid waste disposal site, underground storage tank, hazardous waste, or 
private sewage disposal system on the property as described in Iowa Code section 558.69, and therefore the 
transaction is exempt from the requirement to submit a groundwater hazard statement.” 

 
Please consult your realtor or legal counsel for further advice on this exemption.  By law, the owner of the property is 
responsible for the accuracy of this statement, and the Department provides this information for statutory reference only.   

 
B. If you checked any box stating “Condition Present” for any of the numbered sections above, continue below.  You 

must complete this form, including providing all required information, and you must submit this form to the county 
recorder’s office with declaration of value.  

 
Information required by statements checked above should be provided here or on separate sheets attached hereto: 

      

      

      

      

      

 
 
I HEREBY DECLARE THAT I HAVE REVIEWED THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR THIS FORM AND THAT THE INFORMATION STATED 
ABOVE IS TRUE AND CORRECT. 
 

Signature:  Telephone No.:  
 (Transferor or Agent)   
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  ELECTRONIC SERVICES SYSTEM 
  8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2 
  Johnston, Iowa  50131 
   
 
July 15, 2022 
 
 
To: Jerry Lewallen, President 
 Members of the PRIA Board of Directors 
 
From: Phil Dunshee, ILR Project Manager 
 
Re: PRIA Operating Rules 
 Public Land Registry 
 
 
We have received your June 2, 2022, letter responding to a request that PRIA develop and adopt a clear 
and firm policy statement to preserve and improve the public land registry, and to oppose efforts to privatize 
or nationalize these important functions. Plainly stated, you reported that “PRIA has decided not to create 
a specific policy statement at this time …” 
 
No explanation was presented for this decision. As a constructive and active participant in the governance 
working group that is updating the PRIA operating rules and value statements, we are very aware of the 
pending changes in the operating policies as we highlighted in our February 11, 2022, memo. Allow us to 
point out some other provisions of the pending operating rules. The updated Transparency Policy, if 
adopted, will state that PRIA will “maintain openness and transparency in actions … and to communicate 
approved Board actions directly to the Membership. It will state that PRIA will “make information available 
about plans, decisions, policies, and operating practices.” Further, it will state that PRIA will “provide any 
member in good standing additional background and detail regarding Board decisions …” 
 
The decision and message communicated in the June 2 letter is anything but transparent and it would better 
be described as exercise in obfuscation. This intent is reflected in the “plan to craft a response” referenced 
in the Minutes of the May 18, 2022, meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 
In numerous PRIA conferences over the years presentations have been made extolling the virtues of the 
public land registration system in America, the bedrock of the economy. In subsequent years, PRIA 
meetings highlighted the coming of Blockchain. There was a lot of talk about what Blockchain is, and that 
everyone should pay attention to it. But there has never been a serious discussion in a PRIA forum about 
the implications of Blockchain, its implications for the public land registry, or solutions that would allow the 
private sector to seek efficiencies without abandoning the public land registry or the role of government, 
recorders, and registrars. 
 
How does the position to not “create a specific policy statement at this time” serve the goal of aligning the 
interests of government (the public interest) with the interests of business? Any serious observer knows 
that business is racing to develop and implement new technologies including distributed ledger technology. 
As we previously stated, advocates for the use of distributed ledger technology have made no secret of the 
potential for using blockchain as a platform for immutably establishing the rights associated with property 
ownership in place of the public land registry. 
 
We ask you plainly - does PRIA support the preservation of a public land registry? Yes, or no? 
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If yes, what is PRIA willing to do to declare its commitment to the public land registry and the public 
interest, and to support policies that will maintain the role of local governments as the custodian of this 
vital information and the performance of these important duties? 
 
We ask again. Is this not what PRIA is all about? Is this not why PRIA exists? As stated on the PRIA 
website landing page – “The future of property records is here …”. What is that future? 
 
We look forward to your future discussion and action, and we look forward to being constructive and 
active participants. 
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June 2, 2022 
 
 
 
Dear Phil, 
 
Thank you for your active involvement in PRIA.  In response to your letter dated February 11, 
2022, the PRIA Board of Directors has had multiple discussions and the PRIA officers in conjunction 
with a couple of Council of Advisors have met to specifically review your request.   As a result of 
these discussions, PRIA has decided not to create a specific policy statement at this time on the 
two items you requested.  
 
As you are aware from your participation, the PRIA Operating Rules are being reviewed and we are 
nearing completion on a variety of updates.   As a part of that update, there are proposed changes 
to the “values” PRIA promotes.  We believe the proposed changes provide a framework for the 
discussion and review of topics such as the improvement of the land registry and privatization.  
While there is no certainty regarding what the future holds, I am confident there will be change. 
 
In particular, the proposed PRIA Value item (3) addresses technology and how we can learn and 
understand the impact of emerging technology on the recording process.  Also, proposed PRIA 
Value item (4) allows for the continued discussion of the balance between the government and 
business sectors in terms of how services are provided.  The current plan is for the proposed 
Operating Rules changes to be presented to the Board at the August meeting.  We look forward to 
the Board of Directors approving the proposed changes. 
 
Thank you again for your commitment and dedication to PRIA.  You have provided valuable input 
over the years. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Jerry Lewallen 
PRIA 
President 

 
 

 

Property Records Industry Association 
110 Horizon Drive, Suite 210 ∙ Raleigh, NC 27615 

Phone 919.459.2081  Fax 919.459.2075 
www.pria.us 

ESS Committee - Page 165



  ELECTRONIC SERVICES SYSTEM 
  8711 Windsor Parkway, Suite 2 
  Johnston, Iowa  50131 
   
 
February 11, 2022 
 
 
To: Jerry Lewallen, President 
 Members of the PRIA Board of Directors 
 
From: Phil Dunshee, ILR Project Manager 
 
Re: PRIA Operating Rules 
 Public Land Registry 
 
 
On behalf of the Electronic Services System and Iowa Land Records, I wish to express our thanks and 
appreciation to the leadership and working group members who have toiled over the update to the 
operating rules for many, many months. Their work has been thoughtful, thorough, and generally open to 
some new ideas. The work is nearly complete and soon will be before you for approval. 
 
There are some specific elements that merit attention and praise. 
 

 Modifications to the Transparency Policy which make it clear that PRIA is committed to informing 
the membership of its policies and actions. 

o PRIA staff and leadership should be proactive in providing advance notice to the 
members of pending policies and actions. 

 The Advocacy Policy provides that the officers and board will apprise the membership of 
advocacy actions. 

o Any pending actions should be proactively communicated to the membership, and when 
actions must be taken due to time-sensitivity, PRIA staff and leadership should timely 
notify the membership and provide justification for any urgent action. 

 The Communications Policy affirms PRIA’s commitment to providing a culture for inclusiveness, 
transparency, and participation. 

o The creation of the online forums and the posting of monthly board packets have been a 
welcome contribution to this goal as are other tools that help facilitate communication 
among the members. 

 The Work Products Policy which may affirm PRIA’s commitment to publish draft versions of Work 
Products 30 days in advance of formal adoption by the Board. 

o Any pending Work Product should be subject to review by the membership prior to final 
action. 

 The operating policies relating to committees and committee meetings which affirm the position 
that these groups are expected to conduct their work in an open and transparent manner and to 
include and engage all members. 

o Meeting notices, meeting summaries, and periodic working group or committee updates 
should be easily accessible to the membership 

 
We look forward to the future with PRIA, and we will work to further the principles outlined in the updated 
mission statement. 
 

“PRIA promotes (1) respect and open-mindedness amongst its members; (2) attentiveness to 
members and industry needs; (3) understanding of emerging business innovation; (4) aligning the 
interests of government and business; (5) collaboration by providing a culture for inclusiveness, 
transparency and participation; and (6) commitment to creating and publishing consensus-based 
results.” 
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As we have stated throughout the process of reviewing and updating the operating rules, we believe that 
PRIA should proactively engage with the membership, and we also believe that the membership must 
engage with PRIA. We will continue to advocate for the interests of recorders and registrars and for the 
industry as a whole. 
 
POLICY REQUEST 
With this spirit we request that the PRIA Board of Directors consider the adoption of a clear policy 
statement regarding the public land registry. For several years we have been informed of various efforts 
to use technology such as blockchain or private registry systems to gain efficiencies in the property 
industry. Advocates for the use of distributed ledger technology have made no secret of the potential for 
using blockchain as a platform for immutably establishing the rights associated with property ownership in 
place of the public land registry. There have been policy discussions about establishing a national land 
registry system to replace the community and county systems for recording land record information. 
There are active efforts to override state laws governing remote notarization with federal legislation. 
 
It should be apparent that these advocacy efforts will continue unless the property industry, public and 
private, strongly asserts that the public land registry should continue, and should not be undermined with 
these private or federalized efforts. The members of PRIA should in turn recognize that further 
improvements to the public land registry systems must also continue to be made. Is this not what PRIA is 
all about? 
 
As a long-standing group of PRIA members from the state of Iowa, members who have fully embraced a 
commitment to standards and best practices, we respectfully request the PRIA Board of Directors and the 
entire membership of PRIA to develop and adopt a clear and firm policy statement to preserve and 
improve the public land registry, and to oppose efforts to privatize or nationalize these important 
functions. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this request. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Approved by the Electronic Services Coordinating Committee, d.b.a. Iowa Land Records – February 10, 2022] 
 
Endorsed By: 
Nancy Booten – ESS Chair and Lee County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Julie Haggerty – ESS Vice Chair, ESS Committee member and Polk County Recorder 
Melissa Bahnsen – ESS Sec./Treas., ESS Committee member and Cedar County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Sheri Jones – President – Iowa County Recorders Association and Jones County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Denise Baker – ESS Committee member and Wright County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Jolynn Goodchild – ESS Committee member and Plymouth County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Natalie Steffener – ESS Committee member and Des Moines County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Kim Painter – Johnson County Recorder; PRIA Member 
Stacie Herridge – Story County Recorder; PRIA Member 
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